
Annual Meeting of the Council of the
London Borough of Barnet

TO BE HELD ON

TUESDAY 22ND MAY, 2018 AT 7.00 PM

VENUE

HENDON TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, LONDON NW4 4BG

A G E N D A

ASSURANCE GROUP

To view agenda papers go to: http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=162 

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=162


Agenda and Timetable
Tuesday 22nd May, 2018

Item Subject Timing Page
Nos

1.  Prayer 

2.  Apologies for Absence 

3.  Election of Mayor 

4.  Minutes 5 - 20

5.  Declarations of Interest 

6.  Official Announcements 

7.  Report of the Chief Executive - Results of the 
Local Government Elections on 3 May 2018 

21 - 36

8.  Appointment of the Leader 37 - 38

9.  Noting the Appointment of the Deputy Leader 

10.  Noting the Appointment of the Leader of the 
Opposition 

11.  Report of the Leader To 
Follow

12.  Report of the Monitoring Officer - Political 
Proportionality 

To 
Follow

13.  Report of the Head of Governance - Appointments 
to Committees 

To 
Follow

14.  Report of Head of Governance - Appointments to 
Outside Bodies 

To 
Follow

15.  Report of Head of Governance - Appointment of 
Political Assistants 

39 - 42

16.  Report of Constitution Ethics and Probity 43 - 174



Committee 

Andrew Charlwood, Head of Governance
Building 4, North London Business Park, Oakleigh Road South, N11 1NP  

FACILITIES FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Hendon Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets.  The Council 
Chamber has an induction loop so that those who have hearing difficulties can hear the 
debate. If you wish to let us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting, 
please telephone Kirstin Lambert on 020 8359 2177 (direct line).  

People with hearing difficulties who have a text phone, may telephone our Minicom 
number on 020 8203 8942.  

FIRE/EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by Committee 
staff or by uniformed custodians.  It is vital you follow their instructions.

You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts.

Do not stop to collect personal belongings

Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some 
distance away and await further instructions.

Do not re-enter the building until told to do so.



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes

OF THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF BARNET
held at Hendon Town Hall, The Burroughs, London NW4 4BG, on 6 March 2018

PRESENT:-

The Worshipful the Mayor (Councillor Brian Salinger)
The Deputy Mayor (Councillor Val Duschinsky)

Councillors:

Maureen Braun
Jess Brayne
Rebecca Challice
Pauline Coakley Webb
Dean Cohen
Jack Cohen
Melvin Cohen
Philip Cohen
Geof Cooke
Alison Cornelius
Richard Cornelius
Tom Davey
Paul Edwards
Claire Farrier
Anthony Finn
Brian Gordon
Eva Greenspan
Rohit Grover
Helena Hart
John Hart

Ross Houston
Anne Hutton
Andreas Ioannidis
Dr Devra Kay
Sury Khatri
Adam Langleben
Kathy Levine
David Longstaff
Kitty Lyons
John Marshall
Kath McGuirk
Arjun Mittra
Alison Moore
Ammar Naqvi
Nagus Narenthira
Graham Old
Alon Or-Bach
Bridget Perry
Wendy Prentice
Sachin Rajput
Barry Rawlings

Hugh Rayner
Tim Roberts
Gabriel Rozenberg
Lisa Rutter
Shimon Ryde
Gill Sargeant
Joan Scannell
Alan Schneiderman
Mark Shooter
Agnes Slocombe
Stephen Sowerby
Caroline Stock
Daniel Thomas
Reuben Thompstone
Jim Tierney
Laurie Williams
Peter Zinkin
Zakia Zubairi

Apologies for Absence

Councillor Charlie O-
Macauley

Councillor Reema Patel

1.   ELECT A MEMBER TO PRESIDE IF THE MAYOR IS ABSENT 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Reema Patel and Councillor 
Charlie O’Macauley.

2.   ELECT A MEMBER TO PRESIDE IF THE MAYOR IS ABSENT 

The Worshipful the Mayor was present.

5

AGENDA ITEM 4



2

3.   PRAYER 

Ms Rosette Heidarieh of the B’hai faith was called upon by the Worshipful the Mayor to 
speak to Council and say prayers.

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The Worshipful the Mayor noted that Members did not need to declare an interest in 
respect of any matter within the Budget Report which may only affect them in general 
terms. No interests were declared.

5.   MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting of 30 January 2018 were agreed as a correct record, subject 
to the correction of Councillor Brian Salinger’s name.

6.   OFFICIAL ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Worshipful the Mayor wished a speedy recovery to chief executive John Hooton 
following the removal of his appendix. He then thanked all staff involved in the snow 
clearance following the previous week’s bout of extreme weather. 

The Worshipful the Mayor announced he was very sad to announce the recent passing 
of several figures well known to the Barnet community.

Firstly he noted he was sad to announce the death of Chris Harmanda who was the 
husband of former councillor Katia David, at the age of 59.

He noted he was also sad to announce that the widow of former Hendon North MP John 
Gorst had passed away a few weeks ago.

The Worshipful the Mayor noted that Councillors had been advised of the passing of 
former Councillor Wayne Casey on 16 February at the age of only 54. He noted that 
some councillors wished to pay tribute. Councillor Jack Cohen, the Leader Councillor 
Richard Cornelius and Councillor Kath McGuirk then spoke in tribute to former Councillor 
Wayne Casey.

Council then observed a minute’s silence.

The Worshipful the Mayor noted that it was the final meeting before the local elections on 
3 May and that those councillors who would be standing down this year were invited to 
address council. The following councillors gave farewell speeches:

Councillor Alon Or-bach 
Councillor Devra Kay
Councillor Rebecca Challice 
Councillor Tom Davey 
Councillor Jim Tierney 
Councillor Graham Old

6



3

The Worshipful the Mayor noted that the Council would be holding a Civic Awards 
ceremony on 25 April to recognise exceptional people in the borough and that councillors 
were very welcome to attend this event. 

The Worshipful the Mayor noted there were several upcoming Mayoral charity events for 
which flyers had been distributed, and he hoped that some councillors would be able to 
attend some of these events.

7.   ANY BUSINESS REMAINING FROM LAST MEETING 

There was none.

8.   RESOLUTION OF APPRECIATION 

The Deputy Mayor moved the following resolution:

“At a meeting of the Council held at Hendon Town Hall on Tuesday 6 March 2018 it was 
resolved that we, the Members of the Council of the London Borough of Barnet, hereby 
express to The Worshipful the Mayor Councillor Brian Salinger our appreciation of the 
excellent service he has rendered to the London Borough of Barnet as its Mayor during 
the period May 2017 to May 2018, and for the friendly and conscientious way in which he 
has performed the duties of that office.

We offer him our sincere gratitude for the concern that he has shown at all times in 
promoting the welfare of the Borough and its residents, particularly for his willingness to 
support the many organisations and individuals who called on his time and services 
during his Mayoralty. 

We congratulate him on the success of his appeals for his charity – Homeless Action in 
Barnet.”

This was duly agreed, with the foregoing resolution to be engrossed over the common 
seal of the corporation and presented to The Worshipful Mayor at the Annual Meeting.

9.   THE MAYORALTY FOR THE MUNICIPAL YEAR 2018-2019 

The Worshipful the Mayor called for nominations for election of Mayor of the London 
Borough of Barnet for 2018/19. He noted that there were two nominations for Mayor 
Designate. It was noted that the election of the approved Mayor Designate at Annual 
Council will be subject to the result of the local election on 3 May. It was noted that a 
vote for Mayor Designate must either be in favour of the Conservative Nomination, or in 
favour of the Labour Nomination and that votes would be taken on each.
 
Conservative Group Nomination
Councillor Melvin Cohen, duly seconded by Councillor Dean Cohen moved that 
Councillor Reuben Thompstone be proposed for the appointment of Mayor of the London 
Borough of Barnet at the Annual meeting of the Council on 22 May 2018.
 
Labour Group Nomination
Councillor Arjun Mittra, duly seconded by Councillor Alon Or-bach moved that the 
Councillor Alison Moore be proposed for the appointment of Mayor of the London 
Borough of Barnet at the annual meeting of the Council on 22 May 2018.
 

7



4

The Worshipful the Mayor advised Council that a vote was either in favour of the 
Conservative Nomination, Councillor Reuben Thompstone, or in favour of the Labour 
Nomination, Councillor Alison Moore. Upon the nominations being put to the vote, the 
Conservative nomination was declared carried.
 
Councillor Reuben Thompstone was nominated as Mayor Designate.
 
RESOLVED – That Councillor Reuben Thompstone was nominated as Mayor 
Designate 
 
Councillor Reuben Thompstone thanked those present for his nomination and nominated 
Councillor Caroline Stock to be his Deputy Mayor Designate.

10.   REPORTS FROM THE LEADER 

The Leader, Councillor Richard Cornelius moved reception and adoption of the report. 

The Leader noted the Electoral Commission had advised it was conducting a review of 
the wards in Barnet, and that the Council was required to give its view by the end of the 
month as to how many councillors the Council views it needs, how many wards they 
should be distributed in and whether they should be evenly distributed. The Leader noted 
the Administration would prefer to respond on behalf of all Members, and sought the 
support of the Opposition to note Council’s preference is to have 21 wards of 3 Members 
each distributed evenly around the borough. The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor 
Barry Rawlings, confirmed that the Opposition Group supported this proposal. 

The Leader then noted a proposed response to the Department of Communities and 
Local Government (DCLG) consultation on the Fair Funding Review had been tabled 
around the Chamber. He sought the support of the Opposition for the Chief Executive to 
provide a written response to the DCLG on behalf of Council, by the end of the week. 
The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Barry Rawlings confirmed the Opposition’s 
support for the proposed response. Debate ensued.

Councillor Richard Cornelius then moved a motion for council to agree the proposed 
response as tabled. The motion was seconded and unanimously agreed.

RESOLVED, 

That Council notes:

1. Government is currently consulting on their proposals for revision to the 
way local government is funded; the consultation is known as the Fair 
Funding review. 

2. In the summer of 2017, the Outer London Boroughs jointly commissioned 
an independent piece of research into their funding position under the 
current system of revenue support grant funding and their budget 
pressures.  This showed that:
 Relative to Inner London, spending power for Outer London will be 19% 

lower in 2019/20, or lower by £161 per resident.
 Relative to the rest of England, Outer London’s spending power will be 

9% lower, or lower by £63 per resident. 

8



5

 The difference from Inner London is mostly due to the Outer London 
Boroughs’ lower levels of funding in the form of grants and retained 
business rates, though this is partly offset by higher council tax revenue.

That Council instructs the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council and the Leader of the Opposition, to respond to the Fair Funding 
review making the following points:

1.  Barnet, and other similar London Boroughs, are unfairly funded and 
therefore the council welcomes the review. 

2. That plans to simplify the formula, focussing on the most important cost 
drivers are welcome

3. That the formula should be based on refreshed population estimates, taking 
account of transience and population movement

4. That journey times are a more appropriate proxy of additional costs than 
rurality, as this allows impacts of urbanity such as congestion and lower 
speed limits to be considered consistently

5. That deprivation, taking account of housing costs, should be a common 
cost driver.

6. That area cost adjustments should take account of property and land prices, 
general labour market approach, private sector pay levels; and that levels 
of homelessness, people with No Recourse to Public Funds and 
unaccompanied asylum seekers should also be included within the formula 
as these present significant costs to local authorities.

Council further instructs that the reply should also set out the relevant factors 
for assessing social care, waste management and other costs in accordance 
with those identified in the research commissioned by Outer London 
Boroughs.

11.   PETITIONS FOR DEBATE (20 MINUTES) 

There were none.

12.   REPORT OF POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE - BUSINESS PLANNING 
2018-20 

Councillor Richard Cornelius, Chairman of the Policy and Resources Committee, moved 
reception and adoption of the recommendations in the report. Councillor Barry Rawlings 
moved his amendment. Councillor Jack Cohen moved his amendment. Debate ensued.

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and 
Council Procedure Rule 12.4 requires that voting relating to the budget and Council tax 
be recorded. In accordance with this requirement, voting on the budget decisions was as 
follows:
 
Upon being put to the vote, the Labour Alternative Budget was declared lost. Voting on 
the Labour Alternative Budget:

9



6

For Against Not Voting Absent
Maureen Braun 
Jess Brayne 
Rebecca Butler 
Pauline Coakley Webb 
Dean Cohen  
Jack Cohen 
Melvin Cohen 
Philip Cohen 
Geof Cooke 
Alison Cornelius 
Richard Cornelius 
Tom Davey 
Val Duschinsky 
Paul Edwards 
Claire Farrier 
Anthony Finn 
Brian Gordon 
Eva Greenspan 
Rohit Grover 
Helena Hart 
John Hart 
Ross Houston 
Anne Hutton 
Andreas Ioannidis 
Devra Kay 
Sury Khatri 
Adam Langleben 
Kathy Levine 
David Longstaff 
Kitty Lyons 
John Marshall 
Kath McGuirk 
Arjun Mittra 
Alison Moore 
Ammar Naqvi 
Nagas Narenthira 
Charlie O’Macauley 
Graham Old 

10



7

For Against Not Voting Absent
Alon Or-Bach 
Reema Patel 
Bridget Perry 
Wendy Prentice 
Sachin Rajput 
Barry Rawlings 
Hugh Rayner 
Tim Roberts 
Gabriel Rozenberg 
Lisa Rutter 
Shimon Ryde 
Brian Salinger 
Gill Sargeant 
Joan Scannell 
Alan Schneiderman 
Mark Shooter 
Agnes Slocombe 
Stephen Sowerby 
Caroline Stock 
Daniel Thomas 
Reuben Thompstone 
Jim Tierney 
Laurie Williams 
Peter Zinkin 
Zakia Zubairi 

For:           28
Against:    32
Abstain:      1
Absent:        2
TOTAL:    63

Upon being put to the vote, the Liberal Democrat Alternative Budget was declared lost. 
Voting on the Liberal Democrat Alternative Budget:

For Against Not Voting Absent
Maureen Braun 
Jess Brayne 
Rebecca Butler 
Pauline Coakley Webb 
Dean Cohen 

11



8

For Against Not Voting Absent
Jack Cohen 
Melvin Cohen 
Philip Cohen 
Geof Cooke 
Alison Cornelius 
Richard Cornelius 
Tom Davey 
Val Duschinsky 
Paul Edwards 
Claire Farrier 
Anthony Finn 
Brian Gordon 
Eva Greenspan 
Rohit Grover 
Helena Hart 
John Hart 
Ross Houston 
Anne Hutton 
Andreas Ioannidis 
Devra Kay 
Sury Khatri 
Adam Langleben 
Kathy Levine 
David Longstaff 
Kitty Lyons 
John Marshall 
Kath McGuirk 
Arjun Mittra 
Alison Moore 
Ammar Naqvi 
Nagas Narenthira 
Charlie O’Macauley 
Graham Old 
Alon Or-Bach 
Reema Patel 
Bridget Perry 
Wendy Prentice 
Sachin Rajput 
Barry Rawlings 

12



9

For Against Not Voting Absent
Hugh Rayner 
Tim Roberts 
Gabriel Rozenberg 
Lisa Rutter 
Shimon Ryde 
Brian Salinger 
Gill Sargeant 
Joan Scannell 
Alan Schneiderman 
Mark Shooter 
Agnes Slocombe 
Stephen Sowerby 
Caroline Stock 
Daniel Thomas 
Reuben Thompstone 
Jim Tierney 
Amy Trevethan 
Laurie Williams 
Peter Zinkin 
Zakia Zubairi 

For:           1
Against:    32
Abstain:     28
Absent:        2
TOTAL:    63

Upon being put to the vote the recommendations in the report of the Policy and 
Resources Committee were declared carried, with voting being declared as follows:

For Against Not Voting Absent
Maureen Braun 
Jess Brayne 
Rebecca Butler 
Pauline Coakley Webb 
Dean Cohen 
Jack Cohen 
Melvin Cohen 
Philip Cohen 
Geof Cooke 

13



10

For Against Not Voting Absent
Alison Cornelius 
Richard Cornelius 
Tom Davey 
Val Duschinsky 
Paul Edwards 
Claire Farrier 
Anthony Finn 
Brian Gordon 
Eva Greenspan 
Rohit Grover 
Helena Hart 
John Hart 
Ross Houston 
Anne Hutton 
Andreas Ioannidis 
Devra Kay 
Sury Khatri 
Adam Langleben 
Kathy Levine 
David Longstaff 
Kitty Lyons 
John Marshall 
Kath McGuirk 
Arjun Mittra 
Alison Moore 
Ammar Naqvi 
Nagas Narenthira 
Charlie O’Macauley  
Graham Old 
Alon Or-Bach 
Reema Patel 
Bridget Perry 
Wendy Prentice 
Sachin Rajput 
Barry Rawlings 
Hugh Rayner 
Tim Roberts 
Gabriel Rozenberg 
Lisa Rutter 

14



11

For Against Not Voting Absent
Shimon Ryde 
Brian Salinger 
Gill Sargeant 
Joan Scannell 
Alan Schneiderman 
Mark Shooter 
Agnes Slocombe 
Stephen Sowerby 
Caroline Stock 
Daniel Thomas 
Reuben Thompstone 
Jim Tierney 
Laurie Williams 
Peter Zinkin 
Zakia Zubairi 

For:           32
Against:    29
Abstain:     0
Absent:       2
TOTAL:    63

RESOLVED – That Council:

1. Consider the issues that have emerged from the consultation when making 
their decisions. Council will make the decisions below also being mindful of 
the equalities impact assessments including the cumulative equalities 
impact assessments;

2. Approve the MTFS attached as Appendix A and the detailed revenue 
budgets in Appendices C1 and C2. The MTFS sets out all of the budget 
changes over the period 2017-20, including assumptions around inflation, 
changes to levies, pressures, savings and grant funding. It is the model 
around which the council’s financial strategy is based;

3. Approve that the budget for 2018/19 is prepared on the basis of no increase 
to general council tax in 2018/19, other than for the increase set out below 
on recommendation 4; 

4. Approve the applying of a social care precept at 3% in 2018/19 – to help fund 
care for vulnerable adults and the elderly;

5. Approve the resolutions relating to Council Tax contained within Appendix 
B – Council Tax Resolutions;

 

15



12

6. Approve, on the advice of the Chief Finance Officer, that it determines that 
the council’s basic amount of Council Tax for 2018/19 as set out in Council 
Tax resolution (Appendix B) 2(iv) is not excessive in accordance with the 
principles approved under section 52ZB and 52ZC of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, set out in the Referendums relating to Council Tax 
increases (Principles)(England) Report 2018/19;

7. Approve that the Barnet Council Tax Support Scheme, adopted in January 
2015, remains unchanged except for uprating in line with Department for 
Work and Pension changes for housing benefit (see 1.7.12 within Appendix 
1;

8. Notes that the working age non-dependent (ND) charges be uprated as set 
out in paragraph 1.7.13 within Appendix 1;

9. Approve that in accordance with Section 38(2) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 the Chief Executive be instructed to place a notice in the 
local press of the amounts set under recommendation 5 above within a 
period of 21 days following the Council’s decision;

10.Approve the capital programme as set out in Appendix E1 and E2, and that 
the Chief Officers be authorised to take all necessary actions for 
implementation;

11.Note that the addition to the capital programme in relation to the Barnet 
Trees Policy (as per paragraph 1.8.16 in the 13th February 2018 P&R report) 
was approved in addition to the capital programme referred to in 
recommendation 10;

12.Note that the addition to the capital programme in relation to the Gaelic 
Playing pitch relocation (as per paragraph 1.8.20 in the 13th February 2018 
P&R report) was approved in addition to the capital programme referred to 
in recommendation 10;

13.Note that the addition to the capital programme in relation to the Tranche 3 
Affordable Homes Programme (as per paragraph 1.8.25 in the 13th February 
2018 P&R report) was approved in addition to the capital programme 
referred to in recommendation 10;

14.Note that the addition to the capital programme in relation to the Housing 
Acquisition Programme (as per paragraph 1.8.29 in the 13th February 2018 
P&R report) was approved in addition to the capital programme referred to 
in recommendation 10;

15.Delegate authority to the Chief Finance Officer to adjust capital project 
budgets and financing in 2018/19 throughout the capital programme after 

16



13

the 2017/18 accounts are closed and the amount of slippage and budget 
carry forward required are known;

16.Note that the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix J) is a live 
document and that the version recommended by Policy and Resources has 
been updated to reflect the proposed capital programme and the inclusion 
of lease financed capital expenditure;

17.Approve of the Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 as set out in 
Appendix J;

18.Approval of the following in relation to the Housing Revenue Account:

a) The proposed rent decrease by 1% for council dwellings as set out in 
Appendix 1 paragraph 1.10.3 to take effect from 1 April 2018;

b) The proposed increase to service charges for council dwellings as set 
out in Appendix 1 paragraph 1.10.9 to take effect from 1 April 2018; 
and,

c) The proposed rent increase of 3.1% for council garages as set out in 
Appendix 1 paragraph 1.10.9 to take effect from 1 April 2018.

19.Approval of the draft Schools Budget of £327.313m as per paragraph 1.6.8 in 
Appendix 1;

20.Note the draft Post-16 budget of £5.417m as per paragraph 1.6.8 in Appendix 
1;

21.Approve that any changes to the Schools Budget reasonably required as a 
result of the final 2018/19 DSG and Post-16 settlement are delegated for 
decision to the Strategic Director - Children & Young People in consultation 
with the Director of Finance;

22.Note the Adults, Children’s and Environment fees and charges that were 
approved at their relevant Theme Committee as detailed in Appendix G;

23.Note the summary equality impact assessment (EIA) and cumulative 
assessment set out in section 5.6. of Appendix I provides the cumulative 
impact and individual Delivery Unit assessments where significant changes 
to service delivery are proposed;

24.Approve the reserves and balances policy as set out in Appendix K and 
indicative amounts as set out in para 1.12 in Appendix 1 and the Chief 
Finance Officer’s assessment of adequacy of reserves in section 1.12 in 
Appendix 1. That Council delegate authority to the CFO to adjust balances 
in 2018/19 after 2017/18 accounts are closed and the amount of balances 
carry forward required are known;

17



14

25.Note the changes to the underlying financial strategy of the Council as set 
out in paragraph 1.4.20 within Appendix 1 and approved by Policy and 
Resources Committee;

26.Note the budget movements as set out in paragraph 1.15 in Appendix 1 and 
approved by Policy and Resources Committee;

27.Approve the write offs as detailed in paragraph 1.16 in Appendix 1;

28.Approve the corporate risk register as set out in Appendix M; 

29.Approve the Corporate Plan – 2018/19 addendum attached as Appendix N, 
subject to any changes to the relevant appendices by Assets, Regeneration 
and Growth Committee on 12 March or Community Leadership Committee 
on 15 March; and

30.Note the establishment of a Collection Fund Smoothing Reserve as set out 
in paragraph 1.12.10 of Appendix 1 and approved by Policy and Resources 
Committee.

13.   REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER - MEMBERS ALLOWANCE SCHEME 
2018-19 

The Worshipful the Mayor introduced the report. Following consideration of the report the 
recommendations in the report were put to the vote and the votes were declared as 
follows:

For:           32
Against:    29
Abstain:     0
Absent:       2
TOTAL:    63

RESOLVED:

1. That Council have regard to the recommendations of the Independent Panel 
on the Remuneration of Councillors in London as attached as Appendix A.

2. That Council approve the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2018/19 attached 
as Appendix B with effect from 1 April 2018.

14.   REPORT OF THE HEAD OF GOVERNANCE 

The Head of Governance introduced the report. He noted the item set out at agenda item 
13.2 detailed changes to the calendar of meetings for the municipal year 2017-18. He 

18



15

noted two further changes since agenda publication: the Adults and Safeguarding 
Committee scheduled for 5 March was cancelled, and the Hendon Area Committee of 28 
February was re-scheduled to 8 March.

The recommendations as set out in Appendix A were put to the vote and were 
unanimously agreed.

RESOLVED - That the Council note the change to the Calendar of Meetings.

15.   REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR FOR CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE - 
CORPORATE PARENTING ADVISORY PANEL 

The Chairman of the Children Education Libraries and Safeguarding Committee, Cllr 
Reuben Thompstone moved reception and adoption of the report. Debate ensued.

On the recommendations in the report being put to the vote they were unanimously 
carried.

RESOLVED – That Council:

1. Agrees that the Corporate Parenting Advisory Panel becomes an informal 
working group.  

2. Agrees that, subject to recommendation 1 being agreed, that Council 
nominates Members to be appointed to the Panel in accordance with the 
membership requirements in the Panel’s revised terms of reference.

3. Notes the proposed Terms of Reference as set out in Appendix 2 of the 
report.

16.   QUESTIONS TO COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE BODIES 

There were none.

The meeting finished at 9.17 pm

19



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary
This report sets out details and number of votes recorded for each candidate and the 
names of the persons elected as Councillor at the elections held on 3 May 2018 

Officers Recommendation 
That the return of Councillors elected at the Borough Council elections held on 
Thursday 3 May 2018 as set out in Appendix 1 be noted.

Annual Council

22 May 2018
 

Title Results of the Local Government 
Elections on 3 May 2018

Report of Chief Executive and Returning Officer

Wards All

Status Public

Urgent No

Key No

Enclosures                         Appendix 1 – Results of Borough Elections – 3 May 2018

Officer Contact Details John Bailey – Head of Electoral Services
john.e.bailey@barnet.gov.uk, 0208 359 3008

21

AGENDA ITEM 7

mailto:clair.green@barnet.gov.uk


1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

1.1 The Returning Officer for the Authority reports the names of those persons who 
have been elected to the London Borough of Barnet at the Local Government 
Elections held on 3 May 2018.

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 Following the Local Government Elections on 3 May 2018 the Returning Officer 
reports the final results to Full Council.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

3.1 None in the context of this report.

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1 None in the context of this report.

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance

5.1.1 None in the context of this report.

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability)

5.2.1 None in the context of this report

5.3 Social Value 

5.3.1 None in the context of this report

5.4 Legal and Constitutional References

5.4.1 None in the context of this report.

5.5 Risk Management

5.5.1  None in the context of this report.

5.6 Equalities and Diversity 

5.6.1 None in the context of this report.

22



5.7 Corporate Parenting

5.7.1 None in the context of this report.

5.8 Consultation and Engagement

5.8.1 None in the context of this report

5.8 Insight

5.8.1 None in the context of this report

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 None.

23



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1   

London Borough of Barnet
Results of Borough Council Elections: 3 May 2018

BRUNSWICK PARK

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

DEPALA MUKESH HARILAL Cons 2362
ENDERBY CLAREINE Lib Dem 321
FARBEY DAVID SAMUEL Green 443
HUGHES MICHAEL JAMES Lib Dem 263
LEVINE KATHY Labour 2369 ELECTED
MAGOBA CLEMENT Labour 2184
PALMER ANDY Labour 2293
RUTTER LISA Cons 2517 ELECTED
SEGER ROY Lib Dem 221
WEEDEN-SANZ ROBERTO Cons 2586 ELECTED

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
12,116 5,511 45.5%

BURNT OAK

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

AARON JACK OLIVER Cons 985
CONWAY SARA TRACEY Lab 2440 ELECTED
DRAGOMIROVA EKATERINA TSENKOVA Cons 755
MARKS ROBIN CHRISTOPHER Lib Dem 253
NAQVI AMMAR Lab 2320 ELECTED
O-MACAULEY CHARLIE Lab 2321 ELECTED
RICHER NICOLE ALISON Cons 892
SAMUEL BEN Green 364
WATKINS MILLICENT Lib Dem 187
ZAHED MOSA Lib Dem 129

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,817 3,854 32.6%

25



CHILDS HILL

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

CLARKE ANNE MARIE BATES Lab 2224 ELECTED
COHEN JACK BERNARD Lib Dem 1279
FERGUSON JEMMA LOUISE Green 406
GEARSON VANESSA ROSA Cons 2222
PALMER SUSETTE SANDRA Lib Dem 1126
PATE LISA MARIE Lab 2080
PATEL SACHIN Lib Dem 876
RYDE SHIMON Cons 2262 ELECTED
YOUNG NIGEL HERBERT Lab 1877
ZINKIN PETER JOHN LOUIS Cons 2243 ELECTED

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
12,839 5,744 44.7%

COLINDALE

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

EZIMAKO JETHRO Cons 1005
GUPTA ANSHUL Cons 879
HARGREAVES NICOLA LOUISE Lib Dem 415
MATENAERS CHRISTIAN ALEXANDER Lib Dem 375
MNILI SABAH Cons 818
MUKADAM MUBIN Lib Dem 222
NARENTHIRA NAGUS Lab 3121 ELECTED
SARGEANT GILL Lab 2912 ELECTED
ZUBAIRI ZAKIA Lab 2831 ELECTED

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
14,457 4,534 31.4%

26



COPPETTS

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

COAKLEY WEBB PAULINE VERONICA 
MARY

Lab 2767 ELECTED

COHEN DANIEL BENJAMIN Cons 1358
HUGHES JULIA KATE Lib Dem 493
OLLIER ALEXANDER TIMOTHY Lib Dem 401
PATEL REEMA Lab 2793 ELECTED
RAWLINGS BARRY JOHN Lab 2778 ELECTED
REES MELVYN KURT Lib Dem 381
SKEJA ANILA Cons 1247
STEWART LUKE KIERAN Cons 1300

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,914 4,765 40.0%

EAST BARNET

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BULLEN DAVID LEWIS Lib 323
BYERS FELIX ALEXANDER Cons 2429 ELECTED
COHEN PHILIP JOHN Lab 2399
COOPER JO Lab 2509 ELECTED
CURATI MARGARET Green 498
FINLAYSON JON Lib Dem 339
HOOKER SEAN JAMES Lib Dem 302
PAVANAKUMAR PAVAN Cons 2310
PEARCE ANNE MARIE DENISE Cons 2365
WILLIAMS LAURIE Lab 2509 ELECTED

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,793 5,552 47.1%

27



EAST FINCHLEY

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

ARRAM JOYCE MURIEL Lib Dem 545
FARRIER CLAIRE Lab 3151 ELECTED
GHEASUDDIN ADAM Cons 1073
IWI DIANA CECILY Lib Dem 377
LYNCH NOEL THOMAS Green 416
MARKS LUCY Cons 1176
MCKINLEY JAMES DAVID Cons 1123
MELLOWS DAVID HAROLD Green 287
MITTRA ARJUN KUMAR Lab 3158 ELECTED
MOORE ALISON Lab 3094 ELECTED
NORMAN STEPHEN PAUL 

HOWARD
Green 313

STERN JONATHON ABNER Lib Dem 351
    
Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,514 5,224 45.4%

     
                               
EDGWARE

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BARBER STEPHEN DAVID Lib Dem 273
BILBOW ANDREA LESLEY Lab 1311
DHANANI-SUMARIA KUNAL Green 407
FERRERO TIJERA JOSE-ANGEL Lib Dem 252
FREEDMAN LINDA MARGOT Cons 3370 ELECTED
GORDON BRIAN COLIN Cons 3567 ELECTED
KHNIFESS AMIR Lab 1077
MANALO MARIA Lib Dem 268
SCAMMELL JORDAN CAILEIGH Lab 1019
WARDLE SARAH JANE Cons  3289 ELECTED

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,826 5,219 44.1%

28



FINCHLEY CHURCH END

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

GREENSPAN EVA Cons 3429 ELECTED
GROCOCK JENNIFER ANNE Cons 3192 ELECTED
HENEGHAN DEBS Lab 1161
JACKMAN FRANK JOHN Lib Dem 580
LANDERYOU RITA IRIS Lib Dem 636
SALMON JOEL DANIEL Lab 1141
THOMAS DANIEL CLIVE Cons 3050 ELECTED
WAKEFIELD CHARLES PETER Lib Dem 517
WALKDEN KAREN SARAH Lab 1200

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,268 5,280 46.9%

GARDEN SUBURB

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

DAVIES JONATHAN MAURICE Lib Dem 578
DEARDEN JAMES OLIVER Lib Dem 636
GOSTYN PENELOPE RUTH Lib Dem 583
GROVER ROHIT ROSHYAN Cons 3376 ELECTED
LEVIN RUTH TANYA Lab 880
MACKAY BEN Lab 815
MARSHALL JOHN LESLIE Cons 3481 ELECTED
MCGUIRK MARY PATRICIA Lab 854
ROZENBERG GABRIEL SIMON Cons 3442 ELECTED
SCOTT HALLS RACHEL Green 460

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
10,822 5,201 48.1%

29



GOLDERS GREEN

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

AKBIYIK ALTAN RICHARD Lib Dem 258
COHEN DEAN SIMON BENJAMIN Cons 3308 ELECTED
COHEN MELVIN Cons 3218 ELECTED
DARRER DIANA DOUGLAS Lib Dem 311
HARVEY CHARLES FRAZER Lab 1240
LUSHER PETER ANTHONY Lib Dem 252
O'HALLORAN SUE Lab 1129
SHARMA PARMODH KUMAR Lab 1028
THOMPSTONE REUBEN FRANCIS Cons 3046 ELECTED
WARD GILLIAN ADELE Green 357

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,327 4,948 43.7%

HALE

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

AMBE ERNEST AZENKEANG 
FORLEMU

Lab 2166

BARKER RACHEL MEGAN Lab 2347
BATT EMILE THOMAS Green 420
CREIGHTON JAMES MALCOLM Lib Dem 355
GOODMAN MICHAEL RONALD Lib Dem 397
GURUNG LACHHYA BAHADUR Cons 3007 ELECTED
JACOBS GEOFFREY ALAN Lib Dem 306
JAJEH LAITHE BENJAMIN Cons 2999 ELECTED
SIMBERG ELLIOT KEITH Cons 3130 ELECTED
VELLEMAN LIRON MARK Lab 1976

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
12,129 6,026 49.7%

30



HENDON

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BEERE DAVID JOHN Lab 1185
BROWN JENNY MALCA Lab 1217
FESZCZUR HENRYK PIOTR Lib Dem 252
FINN ANTHONY HARVEY Cons 3002 ELECTED 
FLUSS REBECCA NIZZA Cons 2892 ELECTED
IOANNIDIS ANDREAS Lab 1192
KRASNIQI KLEVIS Lib Dem 163
LEGARDA CARMEN M Green 316
MOLEMAN JASON MARTIN Lib Dem 271
SHOOTER MARK RICHARD Cons 2950 ELECTED
ZAJACZKOWSKA MALGORZATA Polish 

Pride
130

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,712 4,792 40.9%

HIGH BARNET

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BALENDRA ANGE GEETA Lab 2386
COHEN SIMON JEREMY Lib Dem 577
LEMON PAUL DAVID Lab 2344
LONGSTAFF DAVID Cons 2764 ELECTED 
MACDONALD DUNCAN COLIN Lib Dem 581
MICHAELS SHARMISTHA Lib Dem 481
PRENTICE YVONNE WENDY Cons 2792 ELECTED 
ROWLAND KEN Ind 471
TEARE ROBERT DANIEL 

JULIAN
Cons 2605 ELECTED 

TREVETHAN AMY MORWENNA Lab 2604
WADE NATHAN JOHN Green 328
WICKSTEED CHARLES EDWARD 

KELL
Green 425

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,578 6,367 55.0%

31



MILL HILL

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BARKER KATHERINE Lab 1555
BARKER MIKE Lab 1431
BOKAEI GOLNAR Cons 2867 ELECTED 
DUSCHINSKY VALERIE LINDA Cons 3009 ELECTED
GURUNG KAMAL BAHADUR Lab 1307
HART JOHN ROBERT Cons 2977 ELECTED
LOGUE RICHARD JOSEPH Lib Dem 1236
LYNCH MICHELLE Green 301
PICKUP DONNA JOANNE Lib Dem 1045
QUARTEY-PAPAFIO KWATELAI Green 166
TICHBORNE ROGER MARTIN Lib Dem 1200

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
13,670 5,940 43.5%

OAKLEIGH

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BAILEY GABRIELLE Green 535
EDGAR ELISABETH ANN Lib Dem 421
HUDSON ANGIE Lab 1943
MAHONY NICK Lab 1734
MORRISSEY HONORA MARY Lib Dem 349
PROBYN PAUL ARTHUR Lab 1629
RAJPUT SACHIN Cons 2768 ELECTED 
SMITH LISA MARIE Lib Dem 420
SMITH THOMAS ROGER Cons 2814 ELECTED
SOWERBY STEPHEN LAWRENCE Cons 2774 ELECTED

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,840 5,407 45.7%

32



TOTTERIDGE

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BRICKWOOD FIONA Lib Dem 433
CAMINA CAMERON Lab 1294
CORNELIUS ALISON JANE Cons 2862 ELECTED
CORNELIUS RICHARD ALAN Cons 2800 ELECTED
GRATEROL-
MONTILLA NANCY CAROLINA Lab 1197

KEECH DAVID JEREMY Lib Dem 322
OBEDENCIO RAYMUNDO Green 236
PERSAD ROB Lab 1150
STOCK CAROLINE Cons 2810 ELECTED
TRUP JACOB Green 362
TURNER JANICE Lib Dem 451

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
10,350 4,808 46.5%

UNDERHILL

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

AKINDIJI LARA Cons 1769
BOND GAYNOR LEAH Cons 1839
BRAYNE JESS Lab 2556 ELECTED 
CORNEY VICTOR PETER 

EDWARD
Lib Dem 507

EDWARDS PAUL JOSEPH Lab 2635 ELECTED
FITZGERALD GERARD EDWARD Lib Dem 282
GUILE BRIGITTE CLARE Green 278
LAUGHTON DAWN Green 467
PHILLIPS EUNICE MARGARET Lib Dem 280
ROBERTS TIM Lab 2447 ELECTED
ROMAIN MAXIMILIAN HARRY Cons 1547

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,794 5,074 43.0%

33



WEST FINCHLEY

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BURNS DAVID HILLEL Green 394
COLMANS JOHN Green 418
DARRER THOMAS GERALD Lib Dem 357
FINLAY RONALD ADRIAN Lib Dem 318
HOUSTON ROSS SEMPLE Lab 2326 ELECTED 
JACOBS DORON Cons 1518
MCGUIRK KATH Lab 2279 ELECTED
REVILLA GARCIA CAROLINA Lib Dem 428
RICH DANNY Lab 2069 ELECTED
SHRIBMAN AMANDA HELENE Women’s 

Equality
497

SMITH AFSHAN Cons 1563
TENNAKOON AJANTHA THARINDRA Cons 1424

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
10,833 4,719 43.6%

WEST HENDON

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

CHURCHUS DANIEL Lib Dem 264
DON SAIRA Cons 2196 ELECTED
GREEN MIRIAM RIVKAH Green 299
KHALICK HUMAYUNE RASHEED Lab 2074
LANGLEBEN ADAM MICHAEL Lab 2014
LEES MICHAEL JOHN Lib Dem 238
PRAGER ALEX Cons 2155 ELECTED
RICHMAN HELENE PINES Cons 2130 ELECTED
SLOCOMBE AGNES CELESTINE Lab 2078
WATSON DAVID ANDREW Lib Dem 184

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
11,601 4,840 41.7%

34



WOODHOUSE

SURNAME OTHER NAMES PARTY Number of votes 
recorded

BURSTEIN DIANE CAROLE Green 541
COOKE GEOF Lab 2796 ELECTED 
HIGGINS MARK EDWARD Cons 1547
HUTTON ANNE CECILIA Lab 2915 ELECTED
KHAN KARL UKIP 122
LANDAU JONATHAN Lib Dem 366
MARLOW JAMES Cons 1514
ONYECHE NICOLE CHIOMA Green 354
SCHNEIDERMAN ALAN Lab 2677 ELECTED
SHAER SIMON Cons 1499
SPENSLEY TANYA Lib Dem 411
VAKILI DARA Lib Dem 254
VASWANI GARDI Green 316

Eligible Electorate Verified Total Turnout
12,538 5,320 42.4%

John Hooton, Returning Officer

35



This page is intentionally left blank



ELECTION OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

Council Constitution – Article 6, Section 6.1 and Full Council Procedure Rules, 
Section 1. (d) provide that the Leader will be elected for a four-year period.

RECOMMEND that Council make an appointment to the position of Leader of 
the Council for a four-year period.

37

AGENDA ITEM 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary
The Local Government Act 1989 governs the appointment of Political Assistants to provide 
assistance to political groups represented on the Council. Under its terms and following the 
Local Elections on 3 May 2018 two political groups meet the qualifying criteria for the 
allocation of a Political Assistant. Council is invited to consider the reappointment of 
Political Assistants to the Conservative and Labour Groups on the Council.

Officers Recommendations 
1. That the posts of Political Assistants be re-established under the terms of the 

Local Government Act 1989 with effect from this Annual Council until the next 
Annual Council meeting following full council election in 2022, and are allocated 
to the Conservative and Labour Groups.

2. That the Leaders of the Conservative and Labour Groups be requested to advise 
the Head of Governance of the wishes of their Groups on the filling of those 
posts.

 

Annual Council

22 May 2018   

Title Appointment of Political Assistants 

Report of Head of Governance

Wards Not applicable 

Status Public

Urgent No

Key No

Enclosures                         None

Officer Contact Details Andrew Charlwood, Head of Governance, 020 8359 2014, 
andrew.charlwood@barnet.gov.uk

39

AGENDA ITEM 15

mailto:andrew.charlwood@barnet.gov.uk


1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

1.1 The Council has employed Political Assistants, for the Conservative and Labour 
Groups and these appointments terminate on 22 May 2018, in accordance with 
the statutory requirements.

1.2 Under Section 9 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, a local 
authority may appoint assistants for political groups, subject to specific 
conditions including their remuneration. The key features of this statutory 
provision are as follows;

 the appointment is described as being made “for the purpose of 
providing assistance, in the discharge of any of their functions as 
members of a relevant authority, to members of any political group to 
which members of the authority belong”;

 any Council may have only three such posts at any given time, but 
appointments can only be made if posts are allocated to all of the groups 
who qualify – in Barnet’s case this is the Conservative and Labour 
Groups.

 to qualify, a group must have at least one tenth of the total membership 
of the authority – in Barnet’s case this is a minimum of seven Members.

 the posts are fixed term and run until the Annual meeting following the 
Local elections (i.e approximately four years) - the next one being 2022

 the level of remuneration is controlled by law.

1.3 Further provisions within the Act ensure that, where such posts are established 
no appointments can be made until posts have been established for all 
qualifying groups.

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 Following the outcome of the local election results, both the Conservative and 
Labour Groups meet the qualifying criteria for the allocation of a Political 
Assistant.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

40



3.1 None

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1 The relevant group leader will formally advise the Head of Governance that the 
group seek the appointment of a political assistant

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance
5.1.1 Not applicable in the context of this report

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability)

5.2.1 The maximum salary (£34,986) is determined by the Local Government 
(Assistants for Political Groups) (Remuneration) (England) Order 2006. This is 
paid from the Governance Service budget.  

5.3 Social Value 
5.3.1 Not applicable in the context of this report

5.4 Legal and Constitutional References
5.4.1 The appointment of Political Assistants is governed by the Local Government 

and Housing Act, the Local Authorities (Standing Order) (England) Regulations 
2001 and the Local Government (Assistants for Political Groups) 
(Remuneration) (England) Order 2006.

5.4.2 The Conservative and Labour Groups are entitled to one Political Assistant 
each in accordance with s9(5)(c) Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

5.5 Risk Management
5.5.1 Not applicable in the context of this report.

5.6 Equalities and Diversity 
5.6.1 There are no specific equalities issues associated with the report

5.7 Corporate Parenting
5.7.1 Not applicable in the context of this report

5.8 Consultation and Engagement
5.8.1 Not applicable in the context of this report

5.8 Insight
5.8.1 Not applicable in the context of this report.

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 None.

41



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary
The Constitution, Ethics and Probity Committee at a meeting held on 22 March 2018 
considered a report on the Constitution, reviewing various sections.  Only Full Council may 
amend the Constitution and therefore Council are recommended to approve the various 
recommendations of the Committee that would alter the Constitution. 

Annual Council

22 May 2018  

Title 
Report of the Constitution Ethics and 
Probity Committee – Constitution 
Review 

Report of
Monitoring Officer and Chief Legal Advisor
Head of Governance

Wards All

Status Public

Enclosures                     

Annex 1 – Report to Constitution Ethics and Probity 
Committee, 22 March 2018
Annex 1A – Decisions Constitution Ethics and Probity 
Committee, 22 March 2018
Appendix A – Contents of the Constitution 
Appendix B – Financial Regulations
Appendix C – Financial Regulations (Tracked)
Appendix D – Contract Procedure Rules
Appendix E – Contract Procedure Rules (Tracked)
Appendix F – Members Licencing Code
Appendix G – Members Licencing Code (Tracked)
Appendix H – Article 9
Appendix I – Article 9 (Tracked)

Officer Contact Details Andrew Charlwood, Head of Governance, 020 8359 2014, 
andrew.charlwood@barnet.gov.uk 

43

AGENDA ITEM 16

mailto:andrew.charlwood@barnet.gov.uk


Recommendations 
1. That Council approve the recommendations contained in the report from the 

Constitution Ethics & Probity Committee at Annexe 1, and the track change 
versions attached at Appendix A to Appendix H.

2. That the Monitoring Officer and Chief Legal Advisor be authorised to implement 
these revisions and publish a revised Constitution.

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

1.1 As set out in the report attached at Annex 1.
 

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 As set out in the report attached at Annex 1.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

3.1 Options were put forward to the Committee and the attached report reflects 
the options chosen (as amended by the Committee) for recommendation to 
Council following discussion and debate.

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1 The Monitoring Officer will make arrangements for any changes agreed to be 
actioned, together with minor drafting and housekeeping changes.  The 
revised Constitution will be published online and for existing hard copies 
issued to be revised and replaced. 

4.2 The Constitution, Ethics & Probity Committee will continue to proactively keep 
the Constitution under review and may make further recommendations in the 
next municipal year.

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance

5.1.1 As set out in the report attached at Annex 1.

44



5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability)

5.2.1 None.

5.3 Legal and Constitutional References

5.3.1 Council Constitution, Article 4 states that “The Full Council is a formal meeting 
of all Councillors and is required by law to take certain important decisions as 
set out below. Full Council also approves a number of key plans and 
strategies, which together form the Policy Framework:….Adopting and 
changing the Constitution (unless delegated).”

5.3.2 Council Constitution, Article 7 states that the Constitution, Ethics and Probity 
Committee terms of reference includes to: “Keep under review all aspects of 
the Council’s Constitution so as to ensure that it remains current and fit for 
purpose, and to make recommendations thereon to the Council.”.

5.3.3 Council Constitution, Article 9 states that “The Monitoring Officer will maintain 
an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is available for 
consultation by Members, staff and the public”.

5.4 Risk Management

5.4.1 As set out in the report attached at Annex 1. 

5.5 Equalities and Diversity 

5.5.1 As set out in the report attached at Annex 1.  

5.6 Consultation and Engagement

5.6.1 As set out in the report attached at Annex 1. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 As set out in the report attached at Annex 1.

45



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution, Ethics and Probity 
Committee

22 March 2018

Title Constitution Review  

Report of
Monitoring Officer 
Head of Governance 

Wards N/A 

Status Public 

Enclosures 

Appendix A – Contents of the Constitution 
Appendix B – Financial Regulations 
Appendix C – Financial Regulations (Tracked)
Appendix D – Contract Procedure Rules
Appendix E – Contract Procedure Rules (Tracked) 
Appendix F – Members Licensing Code
Appendix G – Members Licesning Code (Tracked)
Appendix H –  Article 9 (Chief Officers)
Appendix I –  Article 9 (Chief Officers) (Tracked) 

Officer Contact Details Andrew Charlwood, Head of Governance, 020 8359 2014, 
andrew.charlwood@barnet.gov.uk 

Summary

The Monitoring Officer has undertaken a review of the Constitution with the aim of 
simplifying it in plain English and in a way which avoids duplication and unnecessary 
complexity and detail.  A special meeting of the Committee took place on 19 October 2017 
and considered revised Articles.  These were approved and subsequently adopted by 
Council on 31 October 2017.  A further meeting took place on 8 January 2018 where some 
of the revised Section 2 supporting documents were considered and approved.   These 
were approved and subsequently adopted by Council on 30 January 2018.  This report 
includes the remaining Section 2 supporting documents which will conclude the review and 
redrafting of the whole Constitution.

47

mailto:andrew.charlwood@barnet.gov.uk


Recommendations

1. That the Committee recommend to Council that the Constitution be amended to 
incorporate the changes set out in this report and the amended versions attached 
at Appendix A to Appendix I.

2. That the Committee recommend to Council the deletion of the Budget and Policy 
Framework Rules as these have been subsumed into the revised Financial 
Regulations.

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED 

1.1 As reported to the Committee in June, October and January, the Monitoring 
Officer has undertaken a comprehensive review of the Constitution to simplify 
it and re-draft in plain English.  The revised Articles were considered by the 
Committee and reported to Full Council in October.   

1.2 Following the adoption of the revised Articles and some of the Section 2 
supporting documents, the following further supporting documents have now 
been revised and are enclosed for consideration:  

 Contents of the Constitution

 Financial Regulations 

 Contract Procedure Rules

 Members Licensing Code

1.1 The new General Data Protection Regulation which comes into force 25 May 
2018 will introduce a new category of statutory officer – the Data Protection 
Officer.  As such, Artcile 9 (Chief Officer) is required to be updated to reflect the 
new post and associated responsibilities.  

1.2 In addition to the changes referred to at 1.2 and 1.3 above, a number of 
additional housekeeping or other minor amendments are proposed as per the 
table below which the Committee are requested to consider.  Any items agreed 
will be reported to the next meeting of Council with the associated tracked 
changes versions.

 

48



No. Section Reference Issue Identified Change Proposed

1 HR 
Regulations 

2.1.4 The Constitution currently states that 
Chief Officer Appointments Panel will 
make all chief officer appointments 
except for the Head of Paid Service 
(as this is a decision reserved for Full 
Council).  There will occasionally be a 
requirement to appoint a chief officer 
on an interim basis (e.g. for maternity 
cover).  In these circumstances, it is 
recommended that the Chief 
Executive be given authority to make 
interim chief officer appointments for 
up to a year following consultation 
with the Leader.  
In addition, it is recommended that 
chief officer appointments made by 
the Chief Officer Appointments Panel 
are reported to Full Council for noting.

Amend section 2.1.4 to include the following wording:

“The Chief Executive has authority to make interim Chief 
Officer appointments for a period of up to a year following 
consultation with the Leader.

Chief Officer appointments made by the Chief Officer 
Appointment Panel will be reported to Full Council for 
information.”

2 Article 7 – 
Committees 
Sub-
Committees 
Area 
Committees 
and Forums 
and the Local 
Strategic 
Partnership

Terms of 
Reference 
of Area 
Planning 
Committees

A Member has proposed that 
applications to demolish buildings on 
the Council’s Local List be 
determined by the relevant Area 
Planning Committee.  The proposal 
would only affect a small number of 
planning applications each year, but 
would ensure that the public have 
opportunity to make representations 
against demolition before Members 
make the final decision. 

Add to the terms of reference of Area Planning Committees:

“Applications to demolish buildings on the Council’s Local 
List.”

49



No. Section Reference Issue Identified Change Proposed

3 Article 9 – 
Chief Officers

Section 9.1 Previous versions of the Constitution 
have given discretion to Chief 
Officers to refer matters that are 
technically within their delegated 
authority, but may be controversial, 
significant or sensitive, the ability to 
refer the matter to Members for 
decision.  Chief Officers have 
requested that this provision be 
reinstated.

Amend section 9.1 b) i) to include a new sentence on limits of 
delegation as follows: 

“Discretion to Refer Matters to Members: Where a Chief 
Officer believes that a matter that is within their delegated 
authority is significant or sensitive they have the discretion to 
refer it to Members for decision.”

4 Article 4 – The 
Full Council

Section 4.1 Full Council is the supreme decision-
making body.  Occasionally, there is 
a requirement for an urgent decision 
to be taken, or there is decision which 
falls within the terms of reference of a 
committee, but is so significant that it 
requires all Members to be aware of 
and determine.  As such, it is 
proposed that Article 4 be amended 
to enable a decision to be referred to 
Full Council for determination for 
those reasons.  

Amend section 4.1 to include:

“Make decisions on matters normally reserved to committees 
(except for planning and licensing matters) where an urgent 
decision is required or where the matter is so significant that it 
requires all Members to determine.  Determination of whether 
a matter is urgent or significant will be made by Mayor and 
Chairman of relevant committee in consultation with Leader 
and relevant chief officer.”

5 Article 3 – 
Residents and 
Public 
Participation

Section 3.5 
– Issues for 
Residents 
Forums

Currently Article 3 does not prescribe 
speaking times for residents 
addressing Residents Forums on 
issues raised.  Governance Officers 
have recommended that a time limit 
of three minutes be introduced to be 
consistent with other speaking 
arrangements.

The Chairman will determine issues in the following way:

1. Residents will have the opportunity to discuss the issue 
raised for up to three minutes.”

Note: additional wording in bold

50



No. Section Reference Issue Identified Change Proposed

6 Article 3 – 
Residents and 
Public 
Participation

3.3 – 
Comments 
to 
Committee

There is a discrepancy in Article 3 
whereby a member of the public who 
is unable to attend can nominate 
someone to ask a supplemental 
question on their behalf, but there is 
no similar right to send a substitute to 
make a public comment.  It is 
recommended that this right be 
added for consistency.  

Add to section 3.3:

Residents making public comments are able to send a 
substitute if they are unable to attend a committee meeting.

7 Council 
Procedure 
Rules

9 – General 
Provisions 
for Motions 
and 
Amendment
s 

Section 9 of the Council Procedure 
Rules outlines general provisions for 
dealing with motions and 
amendments.  Section 9.3 only refers 
to Motions.  In practice, this has been 
interpreted as applying to all items 
before Council (motions, committee 
reports and reports of officers).  
Amending section 9.3 as proposed 
will ensure that all scenarios are 
covered.

Amend section 9.3 as follows:

A Member may amend a Motion in their name or report by 
submitting the amendment in writing to the Head of 
Governance by 10.30am the working day before the meeting.

51



2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The Constitution, Ethics and Probity Committee are required under their terms 
of reference to proactively review and keep under review all aspects of the 
Constitution.  These proposals are recommended to ensure the smooth running 
of the Council.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

3.1 The Committee could retain the current Constitution un-amended.  This is not 
recommended as the current structure and format of the Constitution requires 
review and updating to ensure that it is easy to understand and interpret.  

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1 Subject to the committee’s approval, the recommendations will form part of a 
report to Full Council on 22 May 2018 to make final approval. 

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance

5.1.1 Barnet Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded, properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively.  By keeping the Constitution under review it ensures that the 
framework in which the Council is governed supports the delivery of corporate 
priorities and performance.

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability)

5.2.1 There are no resource implications as a result of these proposals.

5.3 Legal and Constitutional References

5.3.1 Council’s Constitution, Responsibilities for Functions, Annex A – the 
Constitution, Ethics and Probity Committee terms of reference includes 
responsibility to “proactively to review and keep under review all aspects of the 
Council’s Constitution so as to ensure that it remains current and fit for purpose, 
and to make recommendations thereon to the Council”.

5.4 Risk Management

5.4.1 The process of managing changes to the Constitution through the Constitution 
Ethics and Probity Committee ensures that the proposals are developed 
through Member participation and consideration. 

5.5 Equalities and Diversity 

5.5.1 The decision making processes of the Council, as enshrined within the 

52



Constitution, need to be transparent and accessible to all sectors of the 
community.  

5.6 Consultation and Engagement

5.6.1 None in the context of this decision. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 The currently adopted Constitution can be accessed here: 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13581&path
=0 

 
6.2 Full Council, 31 October 2017, Report of the Constitution, Ethics and Probity 

Committee, Constitution Review: 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=9159&V
er=4 

6.3 Full Council, 30 January 2018, Report of the Constitution, Ethics and Probity 
Committee, Constitution Review: 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=9161&V
er=4 

53

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13581&path=0
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13581&path=0
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=9159&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=9159&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=9161&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=9161&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Decisions of the Constitution, Ethics and Probity Committee

22 March 2018

Members Present:-

Councillor John Marshall (Chairman)
Councillor Melvin Cohen (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Ross Houston
Councillor Dr Devra Kay

Councillor Barry Rawlings
Councillor Peter Zinkin (In place of 
Councillor Richard Cornelius)

Apologies for Absence

Councillor Richard Cornelius Councillor Joan Scannell

1.   MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 8 January 2018 be approved 
as a correct record.

2.   ABSENCE OF MEMBERS (IF ANY) 

An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Richard Cornelius who had 
been substituted for by Councillor Peter Zinkin.

An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Joan Scannell.

3.   DECLARATION OF MEMBERS' DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
NON PECUNIARY INTERESTS (IF ANY) 

None.

4.   REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY) 

None.

5.   PUBLIC QUESTION AND COMMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

6.   MEMBERS' ITEMS (IF ANY) 

None.

55



2

7.   CONSTITUTION REVIEW 

The Monitoring Officer and Head of Governance presented the Constitution Review 
report.  Following consideration of the report the Committee RESOLVED to:

1. Recommend to Council that the Constitution be amended to incorporate the 
changes detailed in the report and in the amended versions the sections set 
out in Appendix A to Appendix I subject to the following amendments:
 Section 1.5 be deleted
 Table B, Authorisation and Acceptance Thresholds from Article 10 be added 

to the Contract Procedure Rules

 Amendments to Article 9 (Chief Officers) be withdrawn and that the 
Monitoring Officer be delegated authority to make amendments to list 
various statutory officers

2. Recommend to Council the deletion of the Budget and Policy Framework Rules 
as these have been subsumed into the revised Financial Regulations.

3. Agree that the Monitoring Officer can use his delegated authority to amend the 
Constitution to make the changes detailed in section 1.4 of the report subject 
to:
Changes in the HR Regulations being amended to state: 
“The Chief Executive has authority to make interim Chief Officer appointments 
for a period of up to a year following consultation with the Leader and the Chief 
Officer Appointments Panel.  
Chief Officer appointments made by the Chief Officer Appointment Panel will 
be reported to Full Council for information.”

The Chairman noted that Dr Devra Kay was standing down at the forthcoming local 
election and thanked her for work on the Committee.  The Chairman thanked the 
Committee and, in particular, Councillor Zinkin for their work on the comprehensive 
review of the Constitution which had taken place during the year.  The Committee 
thanked the Chairman for his work on the Committee over the year.

The meeting finished at 7.32 pm

56



Contents of the Constitution
March 2018

LONDON BOROUGH OF BARNET

CONTENTS OF THE CONSTITUTION

PART 1 – The Articles

1.  INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY TO THE CONSTITUTION

2.  ARTICLE 1 – The Constitution
 Purpose, review, suspension of the Constitution

3.  ARTICLE 2 – Members of the Council (Councillors)
 Composition and eligibility
 Election and terms of office
 Roles and functions
 Access to information
 Special responsibilities
 Rights to refer matter to parent committee / council
 Key Decisions – definition
 Members’ items for committee agenda
 Rights to call-in planning applications
 Requests to speak at planning committees
 Rights to speak at other committees  
 Conduct
 Allowances

4.  ARTICLE 3 – Residents and Public Participation 
 Residents rights
 Questions to Committee
 Comments to Committee
 Procedure for questions and comments at Committees
 Issues for Residents Forum
 Petitions
 Requests to speak at Planning Committees
 Complaints
 Disorderly conduct

5.  ARTICLE 4 – The Full Council
 Role and function
 Policy framework
 Types of meeting

57



Contents of the Constitution
March 2018

6.  ARTICLE 5 – The Mayor and Chairing the Council
 Role and function of the Mayor

7.  ARTICLE 6 – The Leader
 Leader of the Council
 Conflicts of interest

8.  ARTICLE 7 – Committees, Forums, Working Groups and Partnerships
 Committees
 Sub-Committees and Working Groups
 Appointment of Members to Committees
 Local Strategic Partnership
 Responsibility for functions (by Committees/Forums/Boards)
 Substitute Members at Committees
 Quorums
 Chairman of meetings
 Minutes
 Urgent business
 Performance & Contract Management Committee – call-in procedure
 Voting and recording of votes
 Filming and recording of meetings

9.  ARTICLE 8 – Joint Arrangement
 Delegation to and from other local authorities
 Contracting out

10.  ARTICLE 9 – Chief Officers
 Management structure
 Chief Officers
 Delegated authority to Chief Executive and Chief Officers
 Statutory officers
 Functions of Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive)
 Functions of the Monitoring Officer
 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer / s151 Officer
 Functions of the Director of Children’s Services
 Functions of the Director of Adult Social Services
 Functions of the Director of Public Health
 Duty to provide resources
 Conduct
 Employment 

58



Contents of the Constitution
March 2018

11.  ARTICLE 10 – Decision Making
 Principles of decision-making
 Decision making by Full Council
 Decision making by Committees
 Decision making by Chief Officers in consultation with 

Chairmen of Theme Committees
 Decision making by Chief Officers
 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals
 Urgent decisions
 Decisions relating to Property
 Decisions relating to Procurement

12.  ARTICLE 11 – Finance, Contracts, and Legal Matters
 Financial management
 Contracts
 Legal proceedings
 Authentication of documents
 Common seal of the Council
 Sealing of documents

13.  ARTICLE 12 – Review and Revision of the Constitution
 Committee System of Governance
 Procedure to change governance arrangements
 Duty to monitor and review the Constitution
 Changes to the Constitution

Part 2 – Key Supporting Documents

14.  FULL COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES
1.  Annual meetings of the Council
2.  Ordinary meetings
3.  Extraordinary meetings
4.  Budget Council meetings
5.  Role of Mayor
6.  Variation
7.  Suspension of procedure rules
8.  Validity of motions, amendments and questions
9.  General provisions for motions and amendments
10.  Motions and amendments which may be moved without notice
11.  Division bell 
12.  Voting 
13.  Vote to be recorded 

59



Contents of the Constitution
March 2018

14.  Division
15.  Voting on appointments
16.  Question time
17.  General rules relating to council business items and motions
18.  General rules that apply to question time

15.  ACCESS TO INFORMATION RULES
1. Notices of meetings
2. Access to agenda and reports before the meeting
3. Supply of copies
4. Access to minutes after the meeting
5. Background papers
6. Exclusion of access by the public to meetings
7. Exclusion of the public’s access to reports
8. Joint committees
9. Members’ rights to information relating to committees/council meetings

16.  FINANCIAL REGULATIONS
 1. Introduction   
 2. Financial Planning and Financial Management

2.1 Budget Strategy
2.2 Medium Term Financial Strategy
2.3 Annual Budget Setting
2.4 Budget Management and Monitoring
2.5 Closing of Accounts and Statement of Accounts
2.6 Treasury Management Framework  

 3. Financial Administration, Systems and Procedures
3.1 Accounting
3.2 Banking Arrangements
3.3 Assets
3.4 Imprest Accounts
3.5 Income
3.6 Insurance
3.7 Investments, Borrowing, Capital Financing and Trust Accounts
3.8 Ordering of Supplies, Works and Services
3.9 Amenity and Unofficial Funds  

 4. Risk Management and Control of Resources
4.1 Risk Management 
4.2 Internal Control
4.3 Internal Audit
4.4 Corporate Anti-Fraud Team (CAFT)
4.5 External Audit

60



Contents of the Constitution
March 2018

 5. Trading Accounts
 6. External Arrangements

6.1 Partnerships
6.2 External Funding
6.3 Work for Third Parties
6.4 Alternative Delivery Models

 7. Transparency

17.  CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
1. Application
2. Contract Value Calculation
3. Authorisation
4. Procurement Method
5. Single Tender Action
6. Concession Contracts
7. Acceptance
8. Contract Signing and Sealing
9. Contract Management
10.Contract Extensions and Variations
11.Waivers

18.  HUMAN RESOURCE REGULATIONS  
1. The council establishment
2. Offer, appointment, varying and ending contracts of employment
3. Employee records
4. Salaries and allowances
5. Members’ allowances
6. Pensions administration

19.MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT
1. Introduction and interpretation
2. Scope
3. General obligations
4. Disclosure of pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests
5. Sensitive interests
6. Exemptions
7. Additional voluntary provisions
8. Form of registers and dispensations

 Register of councillors’ interests
 Register of gifts or hospitality

61



Contents of the Constitution
March 2018

20.  MEMBERS’ LICENSING CODE
1. Purpose
2. Context
3. Member interests
4. Predisposition, predetermination and bias
5. Applications submitted by the council, councillors or officers
6. Lobbying
7. Post submission discussions
8. Site visits
9. Appeals
10.Enforcement
11.Councillor training
12.Meetings of the committee

21.  MEMBERS’ PLANNING CODE
1. Purpose
2. Context
3. Member interests
4. Predisposition, predetermination and bias
5. Applications submitted by the council, councillors or officers
6. Lobbying
7. Pre-application discussions
8. Post submission discussions
9. Site visits
10.Appeals
11.Enforcement
12.Councillor training
13.Meetings of the committee

22.  PROTOCOL FOR MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONS
1. Context
2. Performance of officers
3. Political neutrality of officers
4. Whistleblowing

23.  CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 Principles of good governance

24.MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME
1. The scheme
2. Basic allowance
3. Special responsibility allowances
4. Childcare and dependent carer’s allowance
5. Travel and subsistence allowance

62



Contents of the Constitution
March 2018

6. Independent members, independent persons, and co-optees’ allowances
7. Pensions
8. Financial limits
9. Renunciation
10.Part year entitlements
11.Claims, payments, repayments, restrictions to entitlements.
Schedule 1: Special Responsibility Allowances
Schedule 2: Approved Duties
Schedule 3: Travel and Subsistence Allowances

63



This page is intentionally left blank



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

X_financialregs Financial Regulations

1. Introduction

2. Financial Planning and Financial Management

2.1 Budget Strategy
2.2 Medium Term Financial Strategy
2.3 Annual Budget Setting
2.4 Budget Management and Monitoring
2.5 Closing of Accounts and Statement of Accounts
2.6 Treasury Management Framework

3. Financial Administration, Systems and Procedures

3.1 Accounting
3.2 Banking Arrangements
3.3 Assets
3.4 Imprest Accounts
3.5 Income
3.6 Insurance
3.7 Investments, Borrowing, Capital Financing and Trust Accounts
3.8 Ordering of Supplies, Works and Services
3.9 Amenity and Unofficial Funds

4. Risk Management and Control of Resources

4.1 Risk Management 
4.2 Internal Control
4.3 Internal Audit
4.4 Corporate Anti-Fraud Team (CAFT)
4.5 External Audit

5. Trading Accounts

6. External Arrangements

6.1 Partnerships
6.2 External Funding
6.3 Work for Third Parties
6.4 Alternative Delivery Models

7. Transparency

65



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Financial Regulations provide the framework for managing the financial 
affairs of the Council. These Financial Regulations should apply to all Members, 
officers, contractors and partners in the work they do for the Council.

1.2 The Director of Resources, is the Chief Finance Officer, also known as the s151 
Officer, and has statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and 
stewardship of the Council. 

1.3 The Financial Regulations govern the way the Council undertakes financial 
forward planning, annual budget setting, budget monitoring and closing of the 
accounts. 

1.4 The Financial Regulations also govern the way day to day financial 
administration is conducted and financial controls are exercised.  .

1.5 The Scheme for Financing Schools, which follows the requirements of the 
School Standards and Framework Act 1998, governs School Governors, 
Headteachers and school staff of Maintained schools with delegated budgets. A 
local financial guide for schools supplements the Scheme for Financing Schools.  
In these cases the Financial Regulations do not apply.  Each school is required 
to have a financial management policy and procedures document.

 1.6 These procedures shall be reviewed regularly by the Chief Finance Officer but at 
least every three years. The Constitution, Ethics and Probity Committee 
recommend to Council for approval all amendments and summaries of changes 
resulting from the review. 

1.7 The Chief Finance Officer is required to control and be responsible for the 
accounts and finances of the Council in every respect and ensure, as far as 
possible, that consistent financial systems operate throughout the entire 
operation of the Council.

  

2. FINANCIAL PLANNING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

2.1 BUDGET STRATEGY

2.1.1 The Budget Strategy, sets out the Council’s proposed income and expenditure, 
both revenue and capital, and the level of council tax, for the following financial 
year, including the way in which corporate service priorities are considered, the 
level of balances and reserves, and the management of financial risks.

2.1.2 The Council’s policies for the recovery of debt are separately approved by the 
Policy and Resources Committee.

2.1.3 The Budget Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy will normally be 
recommended by the Policy and Resources Committee to Full Council for 
approval at the start of each financial year.

66



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

2.2 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

2.2.1 The Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Chairman of the Policy and 
Resources Committee, will maintain a Medium Term Financial Strategy that 
covers a period of at least three financial years, including the current financial 
year.

2.2.2 The Medium Term Financial Strategy will be produced and reported in 
conjunction with the annual budget, council tax and rent proposals to the Policy 
and Resources Committee and Full Council before 11 March of the preceding 
financial year. Further updates on the Medium Term Financial Strategy may be 
reported during the year.

2.2.3 The Financial Forward Plan will cover revenue and capital budgets, and will 
highlight how resources are being re-directed to address Corporate Plan 
priorities.

2.2.4 In that the Medium Term Financial Strategy spans a number of years, it is to be 
expected that figures in later years will often be preliminary estimates and/or 
aspirations of future decisions and changes in council policy.

2.3 ANNUAL BUDGET SETTING

2.3.1 The Council will publish a draft budget for consultation. Arrangements for budget 
consultation will be determined by the Council.

2.3.2 The Chief Finance Officer will set the council tax base for tax-setting purposes 
before 31 January of the preceding financial year, and notify precepting and 
levying bodies of this figure by this date. The Chief Finance Officer will notify all 
Council Members via the Policy and Resources Committee and Full Council.

2.3.3 The Policy and Resources Committee will finalise its recommendations to 
Council on the revenue budget, council tax, capital programme and rent levels 
taking account of the results of budget consultation.  This will normally be in 
February, following announcement of the Final Local Government Finance 
Settlement. Theme Committees will work up proposals for consideration by the 
Policy and Resources Committee.  

2.3.4 Policy and Resources Committee’s recommendations to Council must be made 
in time for Council to set the capital and revenue budget and council tax before 
11 March of the preceding financial year.

2.3.5 The Chief Finance Officer shall advise the Council whether s/he is able to certify 
that the draft Budget contains robust estimates and reserves for the purpose of 
meeting the requirements of Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003.

    
2.3.6 Fees and Charges

The budget recommended by Policy and Resources Committee will incorporate 
the latest projection of income from fees and charges. 

67



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

2.3.7 For the fees and charges within their remit, theme Committees, Planning 
Committee and Licensing Committee must approve changes to fees and 
charges that are above CPI inflation by 2% or more, the introduction of new fees 
and charges, and changes to fees and charges outside the normal annual cycle.

2.3.8 Changes to fees and charges approved by theme Committees, Planning 
Committee and Licensing Committee must be reported to Policy and Resources 
Committee for noting.

2.3.9 Chief Officers may approve changes to fees and charges annually where the 
change is broadly in line with inflation.  The date for annual increases need not 
be 1 April.

Capital Programme and Budget
2.3.10 The Capital Programme has been developed following these principles;

 To maintain an affordable five-year rolling capital programme.
 To ensure capital resources are aligned with the Council’s strategic vision 

and corporate priorities.
 To undertake prudential borrowing only where there are sufficient monies to 

meet, in full, the implications of capital expenditure, both borrowing and 
running costs.

 To maximise available resources by actively seeking appropriate external 
funding and disposal of surplus assets.

3.3.11 Alternative Budget Motions
Any Member proposing to put forward to Council any amendment to the draft 
Budget or any alternative Budget should provide a copy thereof to the Chief 
Finance Officer as soon as possible and at least 5 clear days before the Council 
meeting so that s/he may advise Council whether the resulting amended or 
alternative budget would provide robust estimates and reserves for the purpose 
of section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
2.4 BUDGET MANAGEMENT & MONITORING

 2.4.1 Making changes to the budget
A virement is the transfer of budget from one specific area to another. This can 
either be a transfer within revenue budgets or capital budgets but not between 
revenue and capital. 

2.4.2 The Virement Scheme is intended to enable the Directors and their officers to 
manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall framework 
determined by the Council, and therefore optimise the use of resources.

2.4.3 Amendments to the revenue budget can only be made with approval as per the 
scheme of virement table below:

68



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

Virements for allocation from contingency for amounts up to and including £250,000 
must be approved by the Chief Finance Officer 
Virements for allocation from contingency for amounts over £250,000 must be approved 
by Policy and Resources Committee 
Virements within a service that do not alter the approved bottom line are approved by 
the Service Director
Virements between services (excluding contingency allocations) up to and including a 
value of £50,000 must be approved by the relevant Chief Officers
Virements between services (excluding contingency allocations) over £50,000 and up to 
and including £250,000 must be approved by the relevant Chief Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer in consultation with the Chairman of the Policy and Resources 
Committee and reported to the next meeting of the Policy and Resources Committee
Virements between services (excluding contingency allocations) over £250,000 must be 
approved by Policy and Resources Committee.

2.4.4 No revenue virement is allowed between the following budgets without approval of 
the Policy and Resource Committee; 
 Financing charges, 
 Rates and other taxes, 
 Recharges and Insurances.

2.4.5 Amendments to the capital budget can only be made with approval as per the 
table below:

Capital Virements
Policy & Resources Committee approval is required for all capital budget and funding 
virements and yearly profile changes (slippage or accelerated spend) between 
approved capital programmes i.e. as per the budget book. The report must show the 
proposed:

i) Budget transfers between projects and by year;
ii) Funding transfers between projects and by year; and
iii) A summary based on a template approved by the Chief Finance Officer

Policy and Resources Committee approval is required for all capital additions to the 
capital programme. Capital additions should also be included in the quarterly budget 
monitoring report to Performance and Contract Management Committee for noting.
Funding substitutions in order to maximise funding are the responsibility of the Chief 
Finance Officer. 

Budget Monitoring
2.4.6 Chief Officers are required to notify the Chief Finance Officer of all 

underspends, over-recovery of income or windfall benefits arising within their 
revenue and capital budgets.  Where these occur they should in the first 
instance be transferred to the contingency budget unless regulations specify 
restrictions on their use which make this inappropriate or the under spend, 
additional income or other financial benefits are to be used to offset 
uncontrollable overspends elsewhere within the service.  The chief officer is 
responsible for notifying the Chief Finance Officer that this is to occur.  
Approval to these budget variations will be in line with the scheme of virement.

Budget Monitoring – Revenue
2.4.7 Chief Officers should ensure that their revenue cost centre managers do not 

enter into commitments before satisfying themselves there is sufficient approved 
budget provision. Chief Officers have no authority to overspend revenue 

69



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

budgets, or under-recover income budgets under their control, and are 
responsible for monitoring their budgets to ensure this situation does not arise.

2.4.8 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to notify the Chief Finance Officer of 
forecast revenue budget or capital project overspends regardless of whether 
offsetting savings or additional income have been identified.

Budget Monitoring – Capital
2.4.9 Forecast overspends on approved capital projects must be communicated 

through the Chief Finance Officer to the Chairman of the Policy & Resources 
Committee as soon as possible with options for offsetting the forecast 
overspend.

2.4.10 Due to the uncertainty around the generation and timing of capital receipts, and 
the impact that delays could have on the level of prudential borrowing, capital 
project managers must obtain the prior approval of the Chief Finance Officer 
before entering into any individual capital commitment on an approved capital 
project over £1m.

Central Contingency
2.4.11 The Chief Finance Officer will determine which budget risks and uncertainties 

are to be held within the central contingency.

2.4.12 Allocations from the central contingency relating to planned developments will be 
approved by the Chief Finance Officer, following the receipt from a Chief Officer 
of a fully costed proposal to incur expenditure that is in line with planned 
development (including full year effect).  Where there is a significant increase in 
the full year effect (over £250,000), the contingency allocation must be approved 
by the Policy and Resources Committee. 

2.4.13 Allocations from the central contingency for unplanned expenditure, including 
proposals to utilise underspends previously generated within the service and 
returned to central contingency, will be approved by the Chief Finance Officer.  
Where there are competing bids for use of under spends, additional income or 
windfalls previously returned to central contingency, priority will be given to the 
service(s) that generated that return.  Allocations for unplanned expenditure over 
£250,000 must be approved by Policy and Resources Committee.

Balances and Reserves
2.4.14 Allocation to and from the balances and reserves will be the responsibility of the 

Chief Finance Officer in line with the principles that Full Council have agreed. 
 
2.4.15 Any significant change in the planned use of a reserve must be approved by the 

Policy and Resources Committee.

Budget Monitoring – reporting
2.4.16 The Chief Finance Officer will report in detail to Performance and Contract 

Management Committee at the end of each quarter as a minimum, on the 
revenue and capital budgets and wider financial standing and will make 
recommendations for varying the approved budget (revenue and capital) where 
necessary.

70



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

2.4.17   Full Year Effects
In preparing any estimates of expenditure and income, Directors and Heads of 
Service must give proper consideration to full year effects.  

2.4.18 Annual Governance Statement
Chief Officers must support the work on corporate risk management contributing 
to the production of the Annual Governance Statement that has to be published 
alongside the Statement of Accounts. 

2.4.19 Partnership Working
Before entering into a partnership with another organisation that involves pooling 
some of the Council’s revenue and/or capital budgets, the Chief Officer in 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer must ensure that adequate financial 
controls are in place.  A financial risk assessment must also be prepared and 
monitored over time.

2.4.20 Authorisation of Non-Budgeted Expenditure (Emergency Payments)
Emergency payments may arise as a consequence of unforeseen circumstances 
(e.g.as a consequence of a natural disaster, a civil emergency or a court order 
etc.) where budget provision has not been made and the payment cannot be 
covered within the relevant service’s existing budget.

2.4.21   Emergency payments can only be made by decision of Urgency Committee or by
Chief Officers up to their delegated financial limit of £180k. All such emergency 
payments should be reported to the next meeting of the Performance & Contract 
Management Committee.

2.5 CLOSING OF ACCOUNTS & STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

2.5.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for making arrangements for closing the 
Council’s and the Pension Fund accounts and producing the annual Statement 
of Accounts, as well as all matters relating to their audit and public inspection.

2.5.2 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that staff adhere to the timetable and 
requirements set out by the Chief Finance Officer for the closing of accounts, 
and provide any information and evidence required in relation to this.

2.5.3 In accordance with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260, the external 
auditor is required to issue detailed reports to those charged with governance on 
matters arising from the audit of the Council’s accounts and Pension Fund 
accounts. There is also an Annual Audit Letter which includes the external 
auditor’s report and opinion on the audit of the accounts, as well as comments 
and recommendations on whether the Council provides Value for Money. These 
reports will be considered by the Audit Committee.

2.6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

71



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

2.6.1 Policy and Resources Committee will create and maintain a Treasury 
Management Policy Statement, stating the policies and objectives of its treasury 
management activities and based upon the relevant CIPFA Codes.

2.6.2 The Performance and Contract Management Committee will receive reports on 
its treasury management policies, practices and activities.  These reports will 
incorporate the prudential borrowing limits and performance indicators.  Policy 
and Resources Committee will receive an annual strategy and plan in advance 
of the year, and an annual report after its close in the form prescribed in the 
Treasury Management Practices. 

2.6.3 The Chief Finance Officer has the delegated authority to undertake long term 
borrowing on behalf of the Council in line with the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement Authority agreed by Council each year and will issue a 
Delegated Powers Report immediately after this power is exercised to inform 
Members in consultation with the Chairman of the Policy and Resources 
Committee and reported to the next meeting of the Policy and Resources 
Committee.

3. FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION, SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES

3.1 ACCOUNTING

3.1.1 All accounting arrangements across the council shall be in a manner approved 
by the Chief Finance Officer, taking into account best practice guidance issued 
by relevant external bodies, such as CIPFA and national guidance.

3.1.2 There must be adequate separation of duties to ensure that no one officer is able 
to handle any financial transaction from start to finish without there being some 
mechanism for independent checking.  By finish is meant the completion of the 
accounting for the transaction.

3.1.3 All accounting should occur on the Council’s Accounting System and any 
exceptions must be specifically authorised by the Chief Finance Officer.

3.2 BANKING ARRANGEMENTS

3.2.1 The Chief Finance Officer must approve all banking and card acquiring 
arrangements across the Council, and must be satisfied with the safe keeping of 
all controlled banking stationery.

3.2.2 The Chief Finance Officer will maintain a register of all bank and card acquiring 
contracts.

3.2.3 Cheques above certain financial limits set by the Chief Finance Officer shall be 
manually countersigned by those designated officers authorised to do so by the 
Chief Finance Officer.

3.2.4 The Chief Finance Officer will be responsible for ensuring that the Council’s 
banking arrangements are reviewed on a regular basis and that the banking 
contract is reviewed every three years.

72



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

3.2.5 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that the any staff in their areas that 
use the Procurement Cards adhere to the requirements of the LBB Purchasing 
Card (PCard) Guide and Terms and Conditions.

3.3 ASSETS 

3.3.1 Chief Officers are responsible for the proper security of all buildings, stocks, 
furniture, equipment and cash etc. within their service. The Chief Executive shall 
exercise a co-ordinating role on security issues and shall be consulted where it is 
felt that security is inadequate or in special circumstances.

3.3.2 Maximum limits for cash holdings shall be set by the Chief Finance Officer, 
which may not be exceeded without prior authority. Areas where cash is counted 
and held must be secure and with access restricted only to authorised staff.

3.3.3 Chief Officers are responsible for the sale or disposal of assets employed in their 
service, and for accounting for these transactions. All disposals in excess of 
£6,000 (or a higher figure that is consistent with capital accounting regulations) 
are to be notified to the Chief Finance Officer.

3.3.4 Chief Officers are responsible for implementing a system for the maintenance of 
stocks and stores including regular stock checks and write offs when required.

3.4 IMPREST ACCOUNTS

3.4.1 The Chief Finance Officer  must authorise all imprest accounts and the Imprest 
Account Holder must comply with the rules set by the Chief Finance Officer.

3.5 INCOME

3.5.1 The Council will usually charge for all services, where allowable, and have 
charging policies in place.

3.5.2 Officers should encourage payment in advance or at point of service delivery 
wherever possible as per the Debt Management Policy, and minimise the 
amount of credit given to customers.

3.5.3 All records relating to income due to the Council, accounts raised, and receipts 
issued shall be in a format agreed by the Chief Finance Officer.

3.5.4 Officers responsible for controlled stationery must keep it secure. Methods of 
payment must be agreed by the Chief Finance Officer.

3.5.5 The Chief Finance Officer, or officer nominated by the Chief Finance Officer, 
may authorise payment by instalments if full payment cannot be obtained 
immediately, in accordance with the Debt Management Policy.

3.5.6 Officers receiving monies shall keep an accurate and chronological account of all 
receipts and bankings.

73



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

3.5.7 Monies received must be banked on the day of receipt wherever possible, and 
not later than the next working day.  All amounts paid in must be referenced to 
enable subsequent identification of the accounts to which they relate.  All 
cheques, postal orders etc. shall be crossed with the crossing stamp provided.

3.5.8 No deductions may be made from monies received. 

3.5.9 Chief Officers must notify the Chief Finance Officer  of all monies due to the 
Council under contracts, leases or other agreements and the cessation of use or 
change of user affecting this income.

3.5.10 Invoicing & Debt Recovery
Officers responsible for raising invoices must ensure that VAT has been properly 
accounted for.

3.5.11 The Council’s Debt Management Policy, approved annually in February by 
Policy and Resources Committee,  sets out the Council’s policy and procedures 
in relation to the billing, collection and recovery of monies owed to the Council 
and is to be adopted across all services within the London Borough of Barnet.

3.6 INSURANCE

3.6.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for maintaining the Insurance Strategy 
arranging adequate insurance cover for the Council and keeping comprehensive 
records of all risks covered, and will report any changes to Policy & Resources 
Committee.

3.6.2 Chief Officers must notify the Chief Finance Officer immediately of all new areas 
of risk and of any change of circumstances likely to affect existing insurance 
risks.

3.6.3 Any incident which could give rise to an insurance claim must be promptly 
notified to the Chief Finance Officer by the relevant officer, who shall also inform 
the Police if appropriate.

3.6.4 The Chief Finance Officer will handle all insurance claims, in conjunction with the 
Monitoring Officer and/or the insurance company if proceedings are issued.

3.6.5 Officers must consult the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer in all 
cases where the Council is requested to give an indemnity.

3.6.6 Officers in receipt of a motor vehicle allowance must produce registration 
documents, insurance policy, certificate of insurance and test certificate if 
required by the Chief Finance Officer. Insurance policies must be comprehensive 
and cover use on official business.

3.6.7 Schools: It is the responsibility of the governing body to ensure adequate 
arrangements are made for insurance against risks arising from the exercise of 
the community facilities power, taking professional advice as necessary. Such 
insurance may be funded from the school budget share.

74



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

3.6.8 The Council is empowered to undertake its own assessment of the insurance 
arrangements made by a school in respect of community facilities, and if it judges 
those arrangements to be inadequate, make arrangements itself and charge the 
resultant cost to the school. Such costs could be charged to the school’s budget 
share.

3.7 INVESTMENTS, BORROWING, CAPITAL FINANCING & TRUST ACCOUNTS

3.7.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that the Council’s money is properly 
managed and controlled in a way which balances risk with return but with the 
overriding consideration being given to the security and liquidity of the Council’s 
investment.

3.7.2 All investments, except bearer securities, controlled by the Council shall be 
registered in the Council’s name or the Council’s Pension Fund or in the name of 
nominees approved at a Policy and Resources Committee.

3.7.3 All securities shall be held securely by the Council’s bankers, or custodians 
approved at the Policy and Resources Committee. 

3.7.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that all borrowing and, whenever 
applicable trust funds, are registered in the name of the Council.

3.7.5 The Chief Finance Officer will also provide regular monitoring reports to 
Performance and Contract Management Committee and report any breaches or 
amendments of the Prudential Code to Council.

3.8 ORDERING OF SUPPLIES, WORKS & SERVICES

3.8.1 All contracts are subject to the Contract Procedure Rules and Chief Officers 
must have systems in place to ensure that only authorised officers are allowed to 
place purchase orders, and that purchase orders are only raised when there is 
sufficient budget available.

3.8.2 Creation of a purchase Order (PO): Once the purchase has been agreed, a 
purchase order must be raised on the council’s accounting system. 
Payment of an invoice: Authorised officers must ensure that a purchase order 
has been raised on the accounting system and successfully communicated to 
the supplier.  Invoices in respect to works, supplies and services will be paid by 
the Central Accounts Payable Team, but only after the authorising officer has, 
where necessary,  first receipted the supply on the accounting system.

3.8.3 All invoices must reference a valid purchase order number, otherwise the Central 
Accounts Payable Team reserves the right to refuse payment of an invoice.

3.8.4 To enable the Council to comply with the Late Payment of Commercial Debts 
Regulations, no amended invoices will be accepted and a new invoice with a 
revised date will be required.  

3.8.5 The Central Accounts Payable Team will perform a three-way match against the 
purchase order, goods receipt and invoice, prior to making a payment.  Invoices 

75



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

from trusted suppliers, (as advised by the Strategic Procurement Team) will only 
require a two-way match.  Invoices that do not pass this criteria will be returned 
to the service for amendment.

3.8.6 Payments in advance : Chief Officers prior to authorising payments in advance, 
must undertake a risk assessment of the supplier or service provider defaulting. 
All payments in advance in excess of £100,000 must be notified to the Chief 
Finance Officer.

3.9 TAXATION

3.9.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring compliance with all 
relevant taxation regulations and guidance that affect the Council either directly, 
as a consequence its own activities, or indirectly, as a consequence of service 
delivery through external partners. 

3.10 AMENITY & UNOFFICIAL FUNDS 

3.10.1 Amenity or Unofficial Fund relates to all sums of money other than those which 
are required to be paid into the Council’s General Bank Account (or such other 
account so authorised by the Chief Finance Officer) or Trust Fund monies 
outside the authority of the Council.

3.10.2 All accounts shall be opened by the Chief Finance Officer  and their names shall 
include the name of the London Borough of Barnet  and the establishment 
concerned.

3.10.3 Provided the Chief Finance Officer  approves and is satisfied with accounting 
and security arrangements, separate accounts need not be opened for funds of 
small amounts.

.
4 RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES

4.1 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1.1 The Performance and Contract Monitoring Committee is responsible for 
approving the Council’s risk management framework and for reviewing the 
effectiveness of risk management. Individual services are responsible for 
ensuring the proper management of risk.

4.2 INTERNAL CONTROL 

4.2.1 Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by management to help 
ensure the Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes 
economical, efficient and effective use of resources and that the Council’s assets 
and interests are safeguarded.

4.2.2 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of 
internal control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all 
applicable statutes and regulations, and other relevant statements of best 

76



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

practice. They should ensure that public funds are properly safeguarded and 
used economically, efficiently, and in accordance with the statutory and other 
authorities that govern their use. 

4.2.3 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to establish sound arrangements for 
planning, appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order to 
achieve continuous improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness and for 
achieving their financial performance targets.

4.3 INTERNAL AUDIT

4.3.1 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 the Council has a statutory 
obligation to have an adequate and effective system of internal audit. The 
Assurance Director has the delegated authority for providing and maintaining this 
service.

4.3.2 The Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for providing an internal audit function 
which meets the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS). He / she is also responsible for providing an opinion, in support of the 
Annual Governance Statement, on how the Council’s risk management 
processes identify, evaluate, monitor and report that controls are operating 
effectively within the Council. 

4.3.3 Internal Audit is an assurance function that provides ‘an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an 
organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. 

4.3.4 Internal Audit has unrestricted access to all information (including records, 
computer files, databases, systems, property and personnel) across any service 
and/or activities undertaken by the Council, or partners on the behalf of the 
Council where council information is held in order to review, appraise and report 
as may be necessary.

4.3.5 The Chief Internal Auditor shall be able to meet the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee alone outside of the normal Audit Committee meetings.

4.3.6 Chief Officers shall have regard to the principles of risk management, and to the 
Council’s risk management policy. It is the responsibility of Internal Audit to 
review the adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s arrangements for risk 
management.

4.3.7 The Chief Internal Auditor shall report to the Chairman of the Audit Committee all 
significant concerns that he/she may have over the adequacy and effectiveness 
of internal controls and risk management activities within the organisation.

4.4 CORPORATE ANTI-FRAUD TEAM (CAFT)

77



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

4.4.1 Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council has a 
statutory obligation to ensure the protection of public funds and to have an 
effective system of prevention and detection of fraud and corruption. The 
Assurance Director has the delegated authority for providing and maintaining this 
service. 

4.4.2 Objective & Scope
The CAFT is an independent, objective activity designed to add value and 
improve the Council’s operations. It helps the Council achieve its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to investigation, evaluating and 
improving the effectiveness of fraud prevention and detection and the 
subsequent prosecution of individuals and organisations where appropriate. The 
Council has a zero tolerance approach to fraud and other irregularity.

4.4.3 The objective of the CAFT is to assist officers and Members in the effective 
discharge of their responsibilities. To this end, the CAFT furnishes them with 
assurance, analysis, appraisals, recommendations, counsel, and information 
concerning the activities it is required to become involved with. The objective 
includes promoting fraud awareness across the authority.

4.4.4 The scope of the CAFT encompasses both the investigation and examination of 
the effectiveness of the council’s systems of fraud control when subject to 
breach. 

4.4.5 Responsibility & Authority
The primary responsibility for the awareness, prevention, detection and 
deterrence of fraud, corruption, bribery or money laundering activity lies with the 
Chief Officers. This responsibility includes ensuring that staff and partners are 
aware of both the implications of fraud and money laundering and the risks of 
fraud and money laundering across their service area. The primary responsibility 
for the investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption, bribery or money 
laundering activity found in a service area lies with the CAFT. All details must be 
immediately forwarded to the CAFT, to preserve the chain of evidence linked to 
such investigations within the law.

4.4.6 CAFT have unrestricted access to all council held information and records 
(including computer files, databases, systems, property and personnel) across 
any service and/or activities undertaken by the Council, or partners on the behalf 
of the Council, in order to effectively carry out their duties:

4.4.7 CAFT or other authorised representative shall have authority to:
 Enter or visit any land, premises, offices or establishments of the Council; 

and carry out any necessary searches of the aforementioned; 
 have unrestricted access to, access, view, search, and remove any and all 

records, documents and correspondence, including electronically held 
correspondence, documents and records, and property and assets of the 
Council;

 where requested by CAFT view only access to specific databases/systems 
which hold council data;

 receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any matter under 
examination, and / or fraud investigation;

78



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

 in conjunction with the relevant Chief Officer, suspend any employee of the 
Council under CAFT investigation from duty: acting in accordance with the 
Council’s disciplinary procedures; and, in cases concerning illegal working, 
employees may be exited from the organisation and/or may be suspended 
without pay pending investigation;

 require any employee of the Council to produce and surrender any cash, 
stores, equipment or any other Council property under his or her control;

 interview any and all employees and individuals in connection with 
investigations including where necessary interviews in accordance with the 
Police & Criminal Evidence Act (on tape).

4.5 EXTERNAL AUDIT 

4.5.1 Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (replaced the Audit Commission with 
effect from 1 April 2015) is responsible for appointing external auditors to each 
local authority. The duties of the external auditor are governed by section 5 of 
the Audit Commission Act 1998. 

4.5.2 External auditors have a responsibility to satisfy themselves that the Council has 
put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. This judgement is based on criteria 
specified by the National Audit Office. The Chief Finance Officer, in conjunction 
with Chief Officers, must ensure that the Council makes best use of resources 
and taxpayers and / or service users receive value for money.

4.5.3 The Council may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or 
investigation by external bodies such as HM Revenue and Customs, who have 
statutory rights of access.

5. TRADING ACCOUNTS

5.1 It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to advise on the establishment 
and operation of trading accounts and business units, where appropriate.

.5.2 The Chief Officer must observe all statutory requirements in relation to trading 
accounts, including the maintenance of a separate revenue account to include all 
relevant income and expenditure, including overhead charged and an annual 
report in support of the final accounts.

5.3 The Chief Officer must ensure that the same accounting principles are applied in 
relation to trading accounts as for other service units.

79



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

6. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS

6.1 PARTNERSHIPS

6.1.1 Partnerships include any arrangements where the Council agrees to undertake, 
part fund or participate in a project with other bodies; either as a beneficiary of 
the project, or because the nature or status of the project gives the Council a 
right or obligation to support it. Where the Council is simply providing funding 
without assuming any obligation or risk relating to delivery of the project, this is 
not a partnership. 

6.1.2 It is important to understand and distinguish between a partnership in this 
context and a supplier who the Council may refer to as a ‘partner’ due to the 
status that the Council has contractually awarded to it. Irrespective of the title 
applied to it, this latter type of partnership is a supplier relationship, which will be 
entered into in accordance with, and governed by, the Council’s Procurement 
Policy and Procedures. 

6..1.3 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate work is undertaken 
and committee approvals are obtained before any negotiations are concluded in 
relation to work with external bodies.

6.1.4 The approval of both the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer must 
be obtained prior to the Council entering into any formal partnership agreement. 
The approval of the Chief Finance Officer must also be obtained where it is 
proposed that the Council adopts the role of ‘Accountable Body’ for a 
partnership. 

6.1.5 A written partnership agreement must be produced that clearly establishes the 
responsibilities of the respective partners for managing the arrangement and the 
resources made available to the partnership. The document must also set out 
the arrangements in respect of unspent funding at each year end, unless this is 
to be returned to the Council as unspent money, and for addressing any 
overspend.

Delegation of budget to a partnership
6.1.6 The delegation of budget to a partnership (whether or not the arrangement is 

binding on the parties), where money is normally spent in accordance with the 
wishes of a group of individuals or organisations, is subject to approval as 
follows:

 Up to £1m Assistant Director (or named equivalent) 
following consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

 Over £1m and up to £5m Chief Executive Officer or Chief Finance Officer
following consultation with the Leader of the 
Council. 

 More than £5m Policy and Resources Committee

80



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

following consultation with all of the above. 

6.1.7 Where the Council is the ‘accountable body’ for a partnership, these Financial 
Regulations apply to decisions relating to the expending of that money. All 
expenditure must be authorised by an appropriate London Borough of Barnet 
officer, or by someone else who has a statutory power to authorise expenditure. 

6.2 EXTERNAL FUNDING

6.2.1 External funding covers bids to Government and other organisations that are 
offering funding for projects that meet certain criteria.  It also covers contributions 
being sought from participating organisations and individuals, from either public 
or private sources.

6.2.2 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by 
external bodies is received and properly recorded in the Council’s accounts.

6.2.3 Chief Officers must provide the Chief Finance Officer with details of all bids for 
external funding. Bids will follow the requirements of the Council’s investment 
appraisal process. 

6.2.4 Chief Officers must not commit expenditure on projects requiring matched 
funding contributions until the external funding has been confirmed 

6.2.5 Chief Officers must advise the Chief Finance Officer of all grant and subsidy 
notifications as soon as they are received. Where the amount notified is greater 
than the budget, the excess will be deemed a windfall and should in the first 
instance be returned to the central contingency unless regulations specify 
restrictions on their use which make this inappropriate or the underspend, 
additional income or windfall is to be used to offset uncontrollable overspends 
elsewhere within the service. Where the amount notified is less than the budget, 
the Director or Head of Service must notify the Chief Finance Officer of options 
for containing any potential overspend.

6.3 WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES

6.3.1 Work can only be undertaken for third parties where the Council has the legal 
powers to undertake the work. 

6.3.2 With regard to the financial aspects of third party contracts, Chief Officers will: 
(i) Comply with any guidance issued by the Chief Finance Officer and will 

ensure that the appropriate insurance arrangements are made. 
(ii) Ensure that all costs arising from the provision of services to a third party 

are recovered and hence that there is no subsidy included within the 
contract. 

(iii) Ensure that the Council is not unnecessarily exposed to the risk of bad 
debts. 

6.3.3 A written agreement must be put in place between the Council and the third 
party, which details the services to be provided, over what period and at what 
price; this will be signed by both parties to the agreement. Chief Officers will 

81



Financial Regulations 
March 2018

provide information on the contractual arrangements to the Chief Finance Officer 
in order that the appropriate disclosures can be made within the Council’s annual 
statement of accounts.

6.3.4 Performance and Contract Management (PCM) Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the contractual arrangements for any significant work for third parties 
or external bodies. For this purpose, significant is deemed to be contracted 
annual income from a body that is greater than £100,000. 

6.4 ALTERNATIVE DELIVERY MODELS 

6.4.1 Services may be commissioned from retained services within the Council or via 
alternative delivery models. There are various types of alternative delivery 
model, including, but not limited to: 

(i) Local Authority Trading Company (LATC) (ii) Joint Ventures - set up as 
separate corporate entities joining two or more parties for the purpose of 
executing a business undertaking. (iii) Charitable incorporated 
organisation - a corporate entity which is regulated by the Charities 
Commission 

(iv) Social Enterprises - businesses trading for social and environmental 
purposes. 

(v) Outsourcing – a contractual arrangement between the Council and a private 
provider for the delivery of an agreed service.. 

(vi) Social Impact Bonds – contract to achieve agreed social outcomes through 
a programme of interventions delivered by a number of service providers. 

(vii) Joint Committee – joint bodies set up, by agreement, to discharge or carry 
out activities in conjunction with others. 

(viii) Unincorporated association –

6.4.2 Any proposal to commission services via an alternative delivery vehicle must be 
developed though the Council’s business case governance framework and using 
the business case template, to ensure that there is a robust planning and 
decision-making process in place. 

 
6.4.3 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that committee approval is obtained 

before any contract negotiations and/or financial transactions are entered into, 
and that all agreements and arrangements are properly documented. 

7. TRANSPARENCY 

7.1.1 To provide transparency in its stewardship of public funds the Council makes 
information available to the public in relation to its spending, regardless of value. 
Monthly payment transactions made via purchase card, employee expenses and 
accounts payable are available to download via the Council’s Open Barnet data 
portal. This brings together all our published datasets and other information of 
interest on one searchable database for anyone, anywhere to access. 
http://open.barnet.gov.uk/

82

http://open.barnet.gov.uk/


Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

           
Financial Regulations 

 
1 Introduction 
 
2 Responsibilities 
 
23 Financial Planning and Financial Management 
 
  23.1 Budget Strategy 
  23.2 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
  23.3 Annual Budget Setting 
  23.4 Budget Management and Monitoring 
  23.5 Closing of Accounts and Statement of Accounts 
  23.6 Treasury Management Framework 
  3.7 Pension Fund Management 
 
34 Financial Administration, Systems and Procedures 
 
  34.1 Accounting 
  34.2 Banking Arrangements 
  34.3 Assets 
  34.4 Imprest Accounts 
  34.5 Income 
  34.6 Insurance 
  34.7 Investments, Borrowing, Capital Financing and Trust Accounts 
  34.8 Ordering of Supplies, Works and Services 
  4.9 Salaries, Pensions and Allowances 
  34.910 Amenity and Unofficial Funds 
 
45. Risk Management and Control of Resources 
  45.1 Risk Management  
  45.2 Internal Control 
  45.3 Internal Audit 
  45.4 Corporate Anti-Fraud Team (CAFT) 
  45.5 External Audit 
 
56. Trading Accounts 
 
67. External Arrangements 
  67.1 Partnerships 
  67.2 External Funding 
  67.3 Work for Third Parties 
  67.4 Alternative Delivery Models 
 
78. Transparency 
 

The Financial Regulations should be read in conjunction with the Budget and Policy 
Framework and Procedure Rules. 

83



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1  The London Borough of Barnet Council needs to ensure that it has sound 

financial management policies in place and that they are strictly adhered to.  

1.21.1  The Financial Regulations provide the framework for managing the financial 
affairs of the Council. These Financial Regulations should apply to all 
Mmembers, officers, contractors and partners in the work they do for the 
Council. 

1.31.2  The Director of Resources, is the in the role as Chief Finance Officer, also 
known as the s151 Officer, and has statutory duties in relation to the financial 
administration and stewardship of the Council.  

1.4  Throughout these Financial Regulations, the title Chief Finance Officer will be 
used to denote the designated ‘Section 151 Officer’ of the Council, including 
Nominated Deputy.  This statutory responsibility cannot be over-ridden and 
arises from Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

1.5  Key legislation within this statutory framework includes but is not limited to: 

• Local Government Finance Act 1988 

• Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

• Local Government Act 2003 

• Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

 
1.6  More specifically, under the statutory framework outlined above, the Chief 

Finance Officer is responsible for: 

1.7 The proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs 

1.8 Setting of, and monitoring compliance with, financial management standards 

1.9 Advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial controls 
necessary to secure sound financial management. 

1.10 Providing financial information 

1.11 Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme (in conjunction with Chief 
Officers)  

1.12 Treasury management 

1.13 Reporting on the adequacy of reserves and the robustness of the budget 
estimates when the annual budget is being considered (ARTICLE 9) 

 
1.14  Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires that the Chief 

Finance Officer, in consultation with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring 
Officer, must inform all Members and external auditors if the Council or one of its 
officers: 

1.15 Has made or is about to make a decision which involves or would involve the 
Authority incurring expenditure which is unlawful 

84



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

1.16 Has taken or is about to take a course of action which, if pursued to its conclusion, 
would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency on the part of the 
Authority, or 

• Is about to enter an item of account, the entry of which is unlawful  

(ARTICLE 9).  

 
1.17  Section 114 also requires the Chief Finance Officer to: 

1.18 Make a report if it appears to he/she that the expenditure of the Authority incurred 
(including expenditure it proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed 
the resources (including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure.  
If a section 114 notice is issued, the Full Council must (under section 115) meet 
within 21 days to consider the notice.   

1.19 Nominate a properly qualified deputy to deputise should he/she be unable to 
perform the duties under Section 114 personally. The Council must provide the 
Chief Finance Officer with sufficient staff, accommodation and other resources – 
including legal advice where this is necessary – to carry out the duties under 
section 114. 

 
1.39 The Financial Regulations govern the way the Council undertakes financial 

forward planning, annual budget setting, budget monitoring and closing of the 
accounts. These aspects are set out in section 3: Financial Planning and 
Financial Management. 

 
1.410 The Financial Regulations also govern the way day to day financial 

administration is conducted and financial controls are exercised.  These aspects 
are set out in section 4: Financial Administration, Systems and Procedures. 

 
2. Responsibilities 
 

2.1 Financial regulations apply to every member and officer of the authority and 
anyone acting on its behalf (including contractors and partners). All members 
and officers have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to provide 
for the security of the assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use of 
these resources is legal, properly authorised, provides value for money and 
achieves best value (repeats 1.1). 

 
2.2 Consultants or agencies acting for the Council will be bound by these 

procedures, where applicable, and it should be a condition of their employment 
or engagement that they do so. 

 
1.52.3 The Scheme for Financing Schools, which follows the requirements of the 

School Standards and Framework Act 1998, governs School Governors, 
Headteachers and school staff of Maintained schools with delegated budgets. A 
local financial guide for schools supplements the Scheme for Financing Schools.  
In these cases the Financial Regulations do not apply.  Each school is required 
to have a financial management policy and procedures document. 

 
2.4 Chief Officers (the term used to cover all Directors and Departmental 

Heads/Managers) are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their departments 

85



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

are made aware of the existence and content of the authority's Financial 
Regulations and other internal regulatory documents, and that they comply with 
them. They must also ensure that either hard or electronic copies are available 
for reference within their departments. (should be in contract of employment) 

 
2.5 Each Chief Officer is required to maintain a scheme of financial delegation in 

accordance with the minimum standards as determined by the Chief Finance 
Officer or Nominated Deputy, operating in support of the operational budget 
holder, and which accords to the financial limits included within the overall 
scheme of delegation and Contract Procedure Rules (should be in contract of 
employment). 

 
2.6 It is the responsibility of each Chief Officer to consult with the Chief Finance 

Officer and seek advice and/or approval on any matter liable to affect the 
Council’s finances materiality, before any commitments are incurred.(should be 
in contract of employment) 

 
2.7 Substantial breaches of Financial Regulations shall be reported to the Chief 

Finance Officer by the relevant Chief Officer and may be treated as disciplinary 
offences. Where the Chief Finance Officer considers it appropriate he/she will 
report to the next meeting of the Audit Committee any substantial breach of 
these Regulations that is identified. (should be in budget holders contracts of 
employment) 

 
2.8 These Financial Regulations shall not override any statutory provisions that 

apply. 
 
1.62.9 These procedures shall be reviewed regularly by the Chief Finance Officer but at 

least every three years. The Constitution, Ethics and Probity Committee 
recommend to Council for approval approve all amendments and summaries 
of changes resulting from the review. Relevant financial thresholds (e.g. write-
offs, petty cash payments) should additionally be reviewed against inflation on 
an annual basis wherever possible. 

 
2.10 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to 

underpin the Financial Regulations that members, officers and others acting on 
behalf of the authority are required to follow. 

 
2.11 The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for ensuring the Council’s 

continuing compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and all 
relevant Accounting Codes of Practice and Auditing Statements. 

 
1.72.12 The Chief Finance Officer is required to control and be responsible for the 

accounts and finances of the Council in every respect and ensure, as far as 
possible, that consistent financial systems operate throughout the entire 
operation of the Council. 

   
 

23. FINANCIAL PLANNING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
23.1 BUDGET STRATEGY 

86



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

 
23.1.1 The Budget Strategy, approved by Full Council, sets out the Council’s proposed 

income and expenditure, both revenue and capital, and the level of council tax, 
for the following financial year,approach on a range of issues, including: 
including the way in which corporate service priorities are considered, as part of 
the Council’s capital and revenue budget processes; the level of balances and 
reserves, (having taken account of advice from the Chief Finance Officer); and 
the management of financial risks, 

 
23.1.2 The Council’s policies for the recovery of debt, which do not form part of the 

budget strategy are separately approved by the Policy and Resources 
Committee. The setting of fees and charges which do not form part of the budget 
strategy are separately approved by the relevant thematic committee.(see later) 

 
23.1.3 The Budget Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy will normally be 

recommended by the Policy and Resources Committee to Full Council for 
approval at the start of each financial year. 

 
23.2 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
 
23.2.1 The Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Chairman of the Policy and 

Resources Committee, will maintain a Medium Term Financial Strategy that 
covers a period of at least three financial years, including the current financial 
year. 

 
23.2.2 The Medium Term Financial Strategy will be produced and reported in 

conjunction with the annual budget, council tax and rent proposals to the Policy 
and Resources Committee and Full Council before 11 March of the preceding 
financial year. Further updates on the Medium Term Financial Strategy may be 
reported during the year. 

 
23.2.3  The Financial Forward Plan will cover revenue and capital budgets, and will 

highlight how resources are being re-directed to address Corporate Plan 
priorities. 

 
3.2.4  In respect of resources, the Medium Term Financial Strategy will take account of 

the following: 
 

• forecasts of formula, business rates and specific grants; 

• increases in fees and charges, and the introduction of new charges; 

• interest earnt and payable; 

• levels of reserves and balances; 

• increased income from rents and council tax; 

• capital receipts and grants. 
 
3.2.5 In respect of expenditure, the Medium Term Financial Strategy will take account 

of the following: 
 

• full year effects of previous decisions; 

• changes in responsibility arising from new or amended legislation or 
regulations, net of increased income from new fees and charges; 

87



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

• re-direction of resources to achieving Corporate Plan priorities and targets 
and away from non-priority areas; 

• forecast changes in service demand; 

• forecasts of inflation, pay awards and interest rates; 

• efficiency savings; 

• planned service reductions; 

• prudential borrowing; 

• financial risks. 
 
23.2.46 In that the Medium Term Financial Strategy spans a number of years , it is to be 

expected that figures in later years will often be preliminary estimates and/or 
aspirations of future decisions and changes in council policy. 

 
23.3 ANNUAL BUDGET SETTING 
 
23.3.1 The Council will publish a draft budget for consultation. Arrangements for budget 

consultation will be determined by the Council. 
 
23.3.2 The Chief Finance Officer will set the council tax base for tax-setting purposes 

before 31 January of the preceding financial year, and notify precepting and 
levying bodies of this figure by this date. The Chief Finance Officer will notify all 
Council Members via the Policy and Resources Committee and Full Council. 

 
23.3.3 The Policy and Resources Committee will finalise its recommendations to 

Council on the revenue budget, council tax, capital programme and rent levels 
taking account of the results of budget consultation.  This will normally be in 
February, following announcement of the Final Local Government Finance 
Settlement. Theme Committees will work up proposals for consideration by the 
Policy and Resources Committee.   

 
23.3.4 Policy and Resources Committee’s recommendations to Council must be made 

in time for Council to set the capital and revenue budget and council tax before 
11 March of the preceding financial year. 

 
3.3.5 The budget and capital programme that Policy and Resources Committee 

recommends to Council must be based on reasonable estimates of expenditure 
and income, and take account of: 

 

• outturn forecasts for the current year; 

• guidance from the Chief Finance Officer on the appropriate level of 
reserves, balances and contingencies; 

• financial risks associated with proposed budget developments, reductions 
and ongoing projects; 

• forecasts of capital receipts; 

• affordability of prudential borrowing over the period of the council’s financial 
forward plan; 

• comments from the external auditor on matters such as the level of 
reserves and provisions. 

 

88



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

23.3.56 The Chief Finance Officer shall advise the Council whether s/he is able to certify 
that the draft Budget contains robust estimates and reserves for the purpose of 
meeting the requirements of Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

     
23.3.67  Fees and Charges 
 The budget recommended by Policy and Resources Committee will incorporate 

the latest projection of income from fees and charges.  
 
23.3.78 For the fees and charges within their remit, theme Committees, Planning 

Committee and Licensing Committee must approve changes to fees and 
charges that are above CPI inflation by 2% or more, the introduction of new fees 
and charges, and changes to fees and charges outside the normal annual cycle. 

 
23.3.89 Changes to fees and charges approved by theme Committees, Planning 

Committee and Licensing Committee must be reported to Policy and Resources 
Committee for noting. 

 
23.3.910 Chief Officers may approve changes to fees and charges annually where the 

change is broadly in line with inflation.  The date for annual increases need not 
be 1 April. 

 
Capital Programme and Budget 

2.3.3.1011 The Capital Programme has been developed following these principles; 

• To maintain an affordable five-year rolling capital programme. 
• To ensure capital resources are aligned with the Council’s strategic vision 

and corporate priorities. 
• To undertake prudential borrowing only where there are sufficient monies to 

meet, in full, the implications of capital expenditure, both borrowing and 
running costs. 

• To maximise available resources by actively seeking appropriate external 
funding and disposal of surplus assets. 

 
3.3.112 Alternative Budget Motions 
 Any Mmember proposing to put forward to Council any amendment to the draft 

Budget or any alternative Budget should provide a copy thereof to the Chief 
Finance Officer as soon as possible and at least 5 clear days before the Council 
meeting, so that he/she may advise Council whether the resulting amended or 
alternative Budget would provide robust estimates and reserves for the purpose 
of Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
3.3.13 The alternative budget motion must set out the appropriate changes to the Policy 

and Resources Committee’s recommendations as they affect the budget for the 
forthcoming year and any element of the Financial Forward Plan (e.g. balances, 
full year effects, council tax levels). The Chief Finance Officer  may also require 
further information to be included if he/she considers it will improve the Council’s 
understanding of the financial implications in the forthcoming or future years. 

 
3.3.14 Any Member proposing to put an alternative budget motion to Council is 

responsible for ensuring it is received by the Head of Governance by the date 
set by the Head of Governance. It is also their responsibility to ensure they give 

89



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

the Chief Finance Officer  reasonable time to fully validate their alternative udget 
proposals.  

 
3.3.15 The Chief Finance Officer  is responsible for validating any alternative budget 

motions put forward by Members.  
 
 
23.4 BUDGET MANAGEMENT & MONITORING 
 
3.4.1 Latest Approved Budget 
 The latest approved budget for a service or capital project is the budget 

determined by Council prior to the start of the year, as amended subsequently by 
approved variations in budget and capital financing throughout the year. 

 
3.4.2 The Chief Finance Officer  is responsible for maintaining the latest approved 

revenue and capital budget in accordance with the scheme of revenue and 
capital virement as set out below. (need not be stated) 

 
23.4.13 Making changes to the budget 
  

A virement is the transfer of budget from one specific area to another. This can 
either be a transfer within revenue budgets or capital budgets but not between 
revenue and capital.  

 
23.4.24 The Virement Scheme is intended to enable the Directors and their officers to 

manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall framework 
determined by the Council, and therefore optimise the use of resources. 

 
23.4.35 Amendments to the revenue budget can only be made with approval as per the 

scheme of virement table below: 
 
Virements for allocation from contingency for amounts up to and including £250,000 
must be approved by the Chief Finance Officer  

Virements for allocation from contingency for amounts over £250,000 must be approved 
by Policy and Resources Committee 
 

Virements within a service that do not alter the bottom line are approved by the Service 
Director 
 

Virements between services (excluding contingency allocations) up to and including a 
value of £50,000 must be approved by the relevant Chief Officers  
 

Virements between services (excluding contingency allocations) over £50,000 and up to 
and including £250,000 must be approved by the relevant Chief Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer in consultation with the Chairman of the Policy and Resources 
Committee and reported to the next meeting of the Policy and Resources Committee 
 

Virements between services (excluding contingency allocations) over £250,000 must be 
approved by Policy and Resources Committee 
 

 

23.4.46 No revenue virement is allowed between the following budgets without 
approval of the Policy and Resource Committee;  

90



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

• Financing charges,  
• Rates and other taxes,  
• Recharges and Insurances. 

 

23.4.57 Amendments to the capital budget can only be made with approval as per 
the table below 

 
 

Capital Virements 

Policy & Resources Committee approval is required for all capital budget and funding 
virements and yearly profile changes (slippage or accelerated spend) between 
approved capital programmes i.e. as per the budget book. The report must show the 
proposed: 

i) Budget transfers between projects and by year; 
ii) Funding transfers between projects and by year; and 
iii) A summary based on a template approved by the Chief Finance Officer 

 

Policy and Resources Committee approval is required for all capital additions to the 
capital programme. Capital additions should also be included in the quarterly budget 
monitoring report to Performance and Contract Management Committee for noting. 

Funding substitutions in order to maximise funding are the responsibility of the Chief 
Finance Officer.  
 

 
 Budget Monitoring 
23.4.68 Chief Officers are required to notify the Chief Finance Officer of all 

underspends, over-recovery of income or windfall benefits arising within their 
revenue and capital budgets.  Where these occur they should in the first 
instance be transferred to the contingency budget unless regulations specify 
restrictions on their use which make this inappropriate or the under spend, 
additional income or other financial benefits are to be used to offset 
uncontrollable overspends elsewhere within the service.  The chief officer is 
responsible for notifying the Chief Finance Officer that this is to occur.  
Approval to these budget variations will be in line with the scheme of virement. 

 
 Budget Monitoring – Revenue 
 
23.4.79 Chief Officers should ensure that their revenue cost centre managers do not 

enter into commitments before satisfying themselves there is sufficient approved 
budget provision. Chief Officers have no authority to overspend revenue 
budgets, or under-recover income budgets under their control, and are 
responsible for monitoring their budgets to ensure this situation does not arise. 

 
23.4.810  It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to notify the Chief Finance Officer  of 

forecast revenue budget or capital project overspends regardless of whether 
offsetting savings or additional income have been identified. 

 
3.4.11 Having notified the Chief Finance Officer  of a forecast revenue budget 

overspend, the Chief Officer must submit proposals to the Chief Finance Officer  
for offsetting the forecast overspend, together with an assessment of the impact 
these corrective actions will have on service delivery and performance targets. 
Approval to these budget variations will be in line with the scheme of virement. 

91



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

 
3.4.12 When notifying the Chief Finance Officer  of such a situation, Chief Officers must 

advise if the problem relates solely to the current financial year or needs to be 
addressed within the financial forward plan as well. 

 
Budget Monitoring – Capital 

 
23.4.914 Forecast overspends on approved capital projects must be 

communicated throughto the Chief Finance Officer to the Chairman of the 
Policy & Resources Committee as soon as possible immediately . Having 
notified the Chief Finance Officer, the Chief Officer must submitwith options to 
the Chief Finance Officer  for offsetting the forecast overspend. (e.g. by reducing 
the project specification, or budget for other projects) and/or identifying additional 
funding. 

 
3.4.15 All forecasted overspends/additions must then be submitted to the Policy and 

Resources committee for approval. 
 
23.4.106 Due to the uncertainty around the generation and timing of capital 

receipts, and the impact that delays could have on the level of prudential 
borrowing, capital project managers must obtain the prior approval of the Chief 
Finance Officer before entering into any individual capital commitment on an 
approved capital project over £1m. 

 
 Central Contingency 
23.4.117 The Chief Finance Officer will determine which budget risks and 

uncertainties are to be held within the central contingency. 
 
23.4.128 Allocations from the central contingency relating to planned developments 

will be approved by the Chief Finance Officer, following the receipt from a Chief 
Officer of a fully costed proposal to incur expenditure that is in line with planned 
development (including full year effect).  Where there is a significant increase in 
the full year effect (over £250,000), the contingency allocation must be approved 
by the Policy and Resources Committee.  

 
23.4.139 Allocations from the central contingency for unplanned expenditure, 

including proposals to utilise underspends previously generated within the 
service and returned to central contingency, will be approved by the Chief 
Finance Officer.  Where there are competing bids for use of under spends, 
additional income or windfalls previously returned to central contingency, priority 
will be given to the service(s) that generated that return.  Allocations for 
unplanned expenditure over £250,000 must be approved by Policy and 
Resources Committee. 

 
 
  Balances and Reserves. 
   
3.4.20 Full Council, sets out the Council’s approach on the level of balances and 

reserves, having taken account of advice from the Chief Finance Officer as 
stated in 3.1.1 

 

92



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

23.4.1421 Allocation to and from the balances and reserves will be the responsibility of 
the Chief Finance Officer in line with the principles that Full Council have agreed.  

  
3.4.22 Chief Officers are to indicate, during monthly monitoring, which reserves are 

likely to be used in year, subject to the Chief Finance Officer approval.  For the 
avoidance of doubt the Chief Finance Officer retains ultimate decision making on 
the creation, addition to or use of reserves. 

 
23.4.1523 Any significant change in the planned use of a reserve must be approved by 

the Policy and Resources Committee. 
 
 Budget Monitoring – reporting 
  
23.4.1624 The Chief Finance Officer will report in detail to Performance and Contract 

Management Committee at the end of each quarter as a minimum, on the 
revenue and capital budgets and wider financial standing and. 

 
3.4.25 Reports on the revenue budget will normally include: 
 

• a revised forecast outturn including details as part of which, Chief Officers 
will inform Performance and Contract Management Committee: 
i) of those cost centres for which they are responsible that are projecting 

net overspends or underspends either over £100,000 or over £50,000 
where the cost centre’s gross budget is less than £1m; and 

ii) of the actions proposed to ensure that these overspends are not 
realised  and that service delivery is not impacted by underspends.  

• advice from the Chief Finance Officer on whether action is required to 
address any diminution in reserves and, if necessary, proposals and/or 
options for action that needs to be taken. 

 
3.4.26 tThese reports will make recommendations for varying the approved budget 

(revenue and capital) where necessary.in the following circumstances: 
 

• allocations from the central contingency for unplanned expenditure over 
£250,000, or for planned expenditure where there are significant full year 
effects; 

• underspends and windfall benefits returned to the centre; 

• increases in service revenue budgets where overspends are considered 
unavoidable and cannot be contained within the overall budget managed by 
a Chief Officer; 

• variations in capital project budgets; 

• additions to the capital programme outside of the main budget cycle. 
 
 
23.4.127   Full Year Effects 

In preparing any estimates of expenditure and income, Directors and Heads of 
Service must give proper consideration to full year effects.   

 
23.4.128 Annual Governance Statement 

Chief Officers must support the work on corporate risk management led by the 
Monitoring Officer, contributing to the production of the Annual Governance 

93



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

Statement that has to be published alongside the Statement of Accounts. Details 
of this are set out in the Code of Corporate Governance. 

 
23.4.129  Partnership Working 
 Before entering into a partnership with another organisation that involves pooling 

some of the Council’s revenue and/or capital budgets, the Chief Officer in 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer must ensure that adequate financial 
controls are in place.  A financial risk assessment must also be prepared and 
monitored over time. 

 
3.4.30  General Requirements 
 Chief Officers must consult the Chief Finance Officer  at an early stage on any 

current or future matter or decision that has financial implications that are not 
incorporated in the Financial Forward Plan or could impact on the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 

 
23.4.2031 Authorisation of Non-Budgeted Expenditure (Emergency Payments) 
 Emergency payments may arise as a consequence of unforeseen circumstances 

(e.g.as a consequence of a natural disaster, a civil emergency or a court order 
etc.) where budget provision has not been made and the payment cannot be 
covered within the relevant service’s existing budget. 

 
23.4.2132 Emergency payments can only be made by decision of the Urgency 

Committee or by Chief Officers up to their delegated financial limit of £180k 
and all such emergency payments should be reported to the next meeting 
of the Performance & Contract Management Committee. in extenuating 
circumstances with the following approval (as a minimum):  

 

• Up to £500,000  Strategic 
Commissioning Board (SCB) member 

• SCB member will notify the Chief Finance 
Officer as soon as practicable that the 
emergency payment has been made.  

•  

• Over £500,000   Chief 
Executive Officer or Chief Finance Officer 

• following consultation with the Leader of the Council.  

•  
3.4.33 In all circumstances, the expenditure must be consistent with the Corporate Plan 

and management agreements and should be reported to the next Performance 
and Contract Management Committee meeting. 

 
3.4.34 The Chief Finance Officer may approve revenue or capital expenditure not 

provided for within the latest approved budget if satisfied that: 
 

• the expenditure is wholly reimbursable to the Council; or  

• compensatory savings have been identified; and 

• there are no significant full year effects. 
 
 
 

94



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

 
23.5  CLOSING OF ACCOUNTS & STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
23.5.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for making arrangements for closing the 

Council’s and the Pension Fund accounts and producing the annual Statement 
of Accounts, as well as all matters relating to their audit and public inspection. 

 
23.5.2 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that they and their staff adhere to the 

timetable and requirements set out by the Chief Finance Officer (for the closing 
of accounts, and provide any information and evidence required in relation to 
this. 

 
3.5.3 The Statement of Accounts will be prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code 

of Practice on Local Authority Accounting and Local Authority Accounting Panel 
(LAAP) bulletins, and Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 which includes the 
deadline for their production and the requirement to include an Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS).  

 
3.5.4 Chief Officers must provide on time any information and evidence the Chief 

Finance Officer requires to close the accounts and complete all grant and 
subsidy claims. 

 
3.5.5  In closing the accounts, the Chief Finance Officer may amend the originally 

approved funding of revenue and capital services and projects if this is to the 
Council’s financial benefit. 

 
23.5.36 In accordance with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260, the external 

auditor is required to issue detailed reports to those charged with governance on 
matters arising from the audit of the Council’s accounts and Pension Fund 
accounts. There is also an Annual Audit Letter which includes the external 
auditor’s report and opinion on the audit of the accounts, as well as comments 
and recommendations on whether the Council provides Value for Money. These 
reports will be considered by the Audit Committee. 

 
23.6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
 
3.6.1 The Council adopts the key recommendations contained in "The Prudential 

Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities – fully revised second edition 
(CIPFA, 2009), "Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and cross sectoral guidance notes (CIPFA, 2009) and any subsequent 
recommended good practice by CIPFA. 

 
3.6.2 Adherence to Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code of Practice 
 The Council adopts the key recommendations of CIPFA’s Treasury Management 

in the Public Services Code of Practice, as described in Section 4 of that code. 
 
23.6.13 Policy and Resources Committee will create and maintain a Treasury 

Management Policy Statement, stating the policies and objectives of its treasury 
management activities and based upon the relevant CIPFA Codes.. 

 

95



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

3.6.4 The Chief Finance Officer will create and maintain suitable Treasury 
Management Practices, setting out the manner in which the Council will seek to 
achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and 
control those activities. 

 
23.6.25 The Performance and Contract Management Committee will receive reports on 

its treasury management policies, practices and activities.  These reports will 
incorporate the prudential borrowing limits and performance indicators.  Policy 
and Resources Committee will receive an annual strategy and plan in advance 
of the year, and an annual report after its close in the form prescribed in the 
Treasury Management Practices.  

 
23.6.36 The Chief Finance Officer has the delegated authority to undertake long term 

borrowing on behalf of the AuthorityCouncil in line with the Treasury 
Management Stratregy Statement Authority agreed by Council each year and 
will issue a Delegated Powers Report immediately after this power is exercised 
to inform Members in consultation with the Chairman of the Policy and 
Resources Committee and reported to the next meeting of the Policy and 
Resources Committee. 

 
3.6.7 The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and the monitoring 

of its treasury management policies and practices to  Performance and Contract 
Management Committee and the updating of the Treasury Management 
Practices, and for the execution and administration of treasury management 
decisions to the Chief Finance Officer, who will act in accordance with the 
organisation’s policy statement and Treasury Management Practices and 
CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practices on Treasury Management.(Article7) 

 
3.7 PENSION FUND MANAGEMENT  
 (place into scheme of delegation if not already there) 
 
3.7.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for, or responsible for delegating 

authority for: 

• approving early payment of deferred benefits under regulation 30 of the 
Benefits Regulations or similar provisions in previous Regulations 

• exercising discretion on compassionate grounds not to actuarially reduce 
deferred benefits paid early under regulation 30 of the Benefits Regulations 
or similar provisions in previous Regulations; 

• exercising the power to accept late applications (made more than 30 days 
after return to work or, if does not return to work, 30 days after the date of 
leaving) from a member who wishes to pay optional contributions for a 
period of absence (Regulation 22 of the Administration Regulations); 

• informing a member, who is entitled to a pension or retirement grant under 
two or more provisions, which provision shall apply (Regulation 34 of the 
1997 Regulations – no double entitlement); 

• determining that late applications to convert scheme additional voluntary 
contributions (AVCs) into a membership credit will be accepted provided 
such a late claim is not made within one year of attaining normal retirement 
date (NRD) or six months after leaving service whichever is the later 
(Regulation 26 of the Administration Regulations). 

96



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

• determining (for Barnet Council Employees only) whether to accept any 
request for the inwards transfer of pension rights made more than 12 
months after the member joined the Scheme (Regulation 83 of the 
Administration Regulations). 

• determining (for Barnet Council employees only) whether to accept any 
request for joining previous Scheme membership (either with this Employer 
and/or with another scheme employer) made more than 12 months after the 
member re-joined the Scheme (Regulation 16 of the Administration 
Regulations).  

• exercising absolute discretion in determining the recipient(s) of any death 
grant payable from the Scheme (Regulations 23, 32 and 35 of the Benefits 
Regulations); 

• deciding whether to treat education or training as continuous despite a 
break for the purpose of determining eligibility for a child’s pension 
(Regulation 26 of the Benefits Regulations); 

• communicating with other employers that are scheduled or admitted bodies 
as appropriate  

 
 
 
34. FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION, SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 

34.1  ACCOUNTING 
 
34.1.1  All accounting arrangements across the council shall be in a manner approved 

by the Chief Finance Officer, taking into account best practice guidance issued 
by relevant external bodies, such as CIPFA and national guidance. 

 
34.1.2  There must be adequate separation of duties to ensure that no one officer is able 

to handle any financial transaction from start to finish without there being some 
mechanism for independent checking.  By finish is meant the completion of the 
accounting for the transaction. 

 
34.1.3 All accounting should occur on the Council’s Accounting System and any 

exceptions must be specifically authorised by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
34.2 BANKING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
34.2.1 The Chief Finance Officer must approve all banking and card acquiring 

arrangements across the Council, and must be satisfied with the safe keeping of 
all controlled banking stationery. 

 
34.2.2 The Chief Finance Officer  will maintain a register of all bank and card acquiring 

contracts. 
 
34.2.3 Cheques above certain financial limits set by the Chief Finance Officer  shall be 

manually countersigned by those designated officers authorised to do so by the 
Chief Finance Officer. 

 

97



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

34.2.4 The Chief Finance Officer  will be responsible for ensuring that the Council’s 
banking arrangements are reviewed on a regular basis and that the banking 
contract is reviewed every three years. 

 
34.2.5 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that the any staff in their areas that 

use the Procurement Cards adhere to the requirements of the LBB Purchasing 
Card (PCard) Guide and Terms and Conditions. 

 
34.3 ASSETS  
 
34.3.1 Chief Officers are responsible for the proper security of all buildings, stocks, 

furniture, equipment and cash etc. within their service. The Chief Executive shall 
exercise a co-ordinating role on security issues and shall be consulted where it is 
felt that security is inadequate or in special circumstances. 

 
34.3.2 Maximum limits for cash holdings shall be set by the Chief Finance Officer, 

which may not be exceeded without prior authority. Areas where cash is counted 
and held must be secure and with access restricted only to authorised staff. 

 
34.3.3 Chief Officers are responsible for the sale or disposal of assets employed in their 

service, and for accounting for these transactions. All disposals in excess of 
£6,000 (or a higher figure that is consistent with capital accounting regulations) 
are to be notified to the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
34.3.4 The Council has set a de minimis threshold for capital expenditure at £50,000.   

This figure provides guidance only;  the Chief Finance Officer may exercise 
discretion on the de minimis threshold. 

34.3.45 Chief Officers are responsible for implementing a system for the maintenance of 
stocks and stores including regular stock checks and write offs when required. 

 
34.4 IMPREST ACCOUNTS 
 
34.4.1 The Chief Finance Officer  must authorise all imprest accounts and the Imprest 

Account Holder must comply with the rules set by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
4.4.2 The imprest account holder must: 

• provide a certificate showing the state of the account at the end of the 
financial year and additionally when requested by the Chief Finance Officer; 

• only reimburse expenditure up to a limit set by the Chief Finance Officer; 

• obtain receipts for all payments made, which will be proper VAT receipts; 

• properly account for VAT in all float reimbursements; 

• not allow the account to be overdrawn and shall arrange for reimbursement 
at regular intervals; 

• not pay any salaries, wages or allowances from the account; 

• not pay income into the account; 

• provide the Chief Finance Officer  with a full account for the advance when 
ceasing to be the imprest account holder. 

 
34.5 INCOME 
 

98



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

34.5.1  The Council will usually charge for all services, where allowable, and have 
charging policies in place. 

 
34.5.2 Officers should encourage payment in advance or at point of service delivery 

wherever possible as per the Debt Management Policy, and minimise the 
amount of credit given to customers. 

 
34.5.3 All records relating to income due to the Council, accounts raised, and receipts 

issued shall be in a format agreed by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
34.5.4 Officers responsible for controlled stationery must keep it secure. Methods of 

payment must be agreed by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
34.5.5 The Chief Finance Officer, or officer nominated by the Chief Finance Officer, 

may authorise payment by instalments if full payment cannot be obtained 
immediately, in accordance with the Debt Management Policy. 

 
34.5.6 Officers receiving monies shall keep an accurate and chronological account of all 

receipts and bankings. 
 
34.5.7 Monies received must be banked on the day of receipt wherever possible, and 

not later than the next working day.  All amounts paid in must be referenced to 
enable subsequent identification of the accounts to which they relate.  All 
cheques, postal orders etc. shall be crossed with the crossing stamp provided. 

 
34.5.8 No deductions may be made from monies received.  
 
34.5.9 Chief Officers must notify the Chief Finance Officer  of all monies due to the 

Council under contracts, leases or other agreements and the cessation of use or 
change of user affecting this income. 

 
34.5.10 Invoicing & Debt Recovery 
 Officers responsible for raising invoices must ensure that VAT has been properly 

accounted for. 
 
34.5.11 The Council’s Debt Management Policy, approved annually in February by 

Policy and Resources Committee,  sets out the Council’s policy and procedures 
in relation to the billing, collection and recovery of monies owed to the Council 
and is to be adopted across all services within the London Borough of Barnet. 

 
 
34.6 INSURANCE 
 
34.6.1 The Chief Finance Officer  is responsible for maintaining the Insurance Strategy 

arranging adequate insurance cover for the Council and keeping comprehensive 
records of all risks covered and report to Policy & Resources Committee 
annually.. 

 
34.6.2 Chief Officers must notify the Chief Finance Officer  immediately of all new areas 

of risk and of any change of circumstances likely to affect existing insurance 
risks. 

99



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

 
34.6.3 Any incident which could give rise to an insurance claim must be promptly 

notified to the Chief Finance Officer  by the relevant officer, who shall also inform 
the Police if appropriate. 

 
34.6.4The Chief Finance Officer  will handle all insurance claims, in conjunction with the 

Monitoring Officer and/or the insurance company if proceedings are issued. 
 
34.6.5 Officers must consult the Chief Finance Officer  and Monitoring Officer in all 

cases where the Council is requested to give an indemnity. 
  
34.6.6 Officers in receipt of a motor vehicle allowance must produce registration 

documents, insurance policy, certificate of insurance and test certificate if 
required by the Chief Finance Officer. Insurance policies must be comprehensive 
and cover use on official business. 

 
4.6.7 Schools 
 Where funds for insurance are delegated to any school, the Council may require 

the school to demonstrate that cover relevant to the Council's insurable interests, 
under a policy arranged by the Governing Body, is at least as good as the 
relevant minimum cover arranged by the Council. If the Council makes such 
arrangements, either paid for from central funds or from contributions from 
schools' delegated budgets, the Council will have regard to the actual risks, 
which might reasonably be expected to arise at the school in question in 
operating this requirement rather than applying an arbitrary minimum level of 
cover for all schools. 

 
34.6.78 It is the responsibility of the governing body to ensure adequate arrangements 

are made for insurance against risks arising from the exercise of the community 
facilities power, taking professional advice as necessary. Such insurance may be 
funded from the school budget share. 

 
34.6.89 The Council is empowered to undertake its own assessment of the insurance 

arrangements made by a school in respect of community facilities, and if it judges 
those arrangements to be inadequate, make arrangements itself and charge the 
resultant cost to the school. Such costs could be charged to the school’s budget 
share. 

 
 
34.7 INVESTMENTS, BORROWING, CAPITAL FINANCING & TRUST ACCOUNTS 
 
34.7.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that the Council’s money is properly 

managed and controlled in a way which balances risk with return but with the 
overriding consideration being given to the security and liquidity of the Council’s 
investment. 

 
34.7.2 All investments, except bearer securities, controlled by the Council shall be 

registered in the Council’s name or the Council’s Pension Fund or in the name of 
nominees approved at a Policy and Resources Committee. 

 

100



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

34.7.3 All securities shall be held securely by the Council’s bankers, or custodians 
approved at the Policy and Resources Committee.  

 
34.7.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that all borrowing and, whenever 

applicable trust funds, are registered in the name of the Council. 
 
4.7.5 The Chief Finance Officer will set Prudential indicators, as outlined in the 

Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, for the forthcoming and 
following two financial years.  These will be contained in the Treasury 
Management Strategy approved by Policy and Resources Committee each 
February.  

 
34.7.56 The Chief Finance Officer will also provide regular monitoring reports to 

Performance and Contract Management Committee and report any breaches or 
amendments of the Prudential Code to Council. 

 
 
4.7.7 The Chief Finance Officer will be the Council’s registrar of all stocks and bonds. 

In addition this officer will maintain a register of all loans and investments made 
in the name of the Council. 

 
4.7.8 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that all legislative amendments and 

changes in treasury or capital limits are approved at Policy and Resources 
Committee and where necessary full Council. 

 
 
34.8 ORDERING OF SUPPLIES, WORKS & SERVICES 
 
4.8.1 Procurement of supplies, works and services must be in accordance with 

Contract Procedure Rules.  It is a disciplinary offence to fail to comply with 
Contract Procedure Rules when letting contracts. Council employees have a 
duty to report breaches of Contract Procedure Rules to an appropriate senior 
manager and the Monitoring Officer. The procedures for initiating procurement 
activity, for authorising and accepting tenders and the financial limits for 
procurement are set out in the Contract Procedure Rules and are not repeated 
here.  

 
4.8.2 With respect to third party organisations, if a supplier is awarded business in 

excess of 25% of their turnover, then a risk assessment needs to be carried out 
to ensure that the supplier is not overly dependant on the Council. Where the 
supplier is a consortium, the relevant figure is the combined turnover of the 
consortium’s constituent members. 

 
4.8.3 Chief Officers are responsible for all contracts tendered and let by their service 

areas. Their duties in relation to contract letting and management are: 

• to ensure compliance with English Law, U.K. and EU legislation and 
Council policy; 

• to ensure value for money and optimise risk allocation in all procurement 
matters; 

• to ensure compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules  
 

101



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

34.8.14 All contracts are subject to the Contract Procedure Rules and Chief Officers 
must have systems in place to ensure that only authorised officers are allowed to 
place purchase orders, and that purchase orders are only raised when there is 
sufficient budget available. 

 
34.8.25 Creation of a purchase Order (PO): Once the purchase has been agreed, a 

purchase order must be raised on the council’s accounting system. Payment of 
an invoice: Authorised officers must ensure that a purchase order has been 
raised on the accounting system and successfully communicated to the supplier.  
Invoices in respect to works, supplies and services will be paid by the Central 
Accounts Payable Team, but only after the authorising officer has, where 
necessary,  first receipted the supply on the accounting system. 

 
34.8.36 All invoices must reference a valid purchase order number, otherwise the Central 

Accounts Payable Team reserves the right to refuse payment of an invoice. 
 
4.8.7 Only invoices presented in an acceptable format will be passed for payment.  

This includes invoices that do not comply with VAT Regulations.  VAT is only 
recoverable by the Council if a proper VAT invoice is made out in the name of 
the the Council.   

 
34.8.48 To enable the Council to comply with the Late Payment of Commercial Debts 

Regulations, no amended invoices will be accepted and a new invoive with a 
revised date will be required..  Chief Officers must ensure that their services 
must return an invoice to the supplier and seek a new invoice with a revised 
date, whenever:- 

the invoice is dated prior to receipt of supplies, works or services and this is contrary to 
the agreed payment terms; 

the invoice is incorrect; 
the invoice does not reference a valid Purchase Order number. 
 
4.8.9 When certifying an invoice for payment that was initially disputed, record the 

date on which the invoice was actually validated must be recorded 
 
34.8.510 The Central Accounts Payable Team will perform a three-way match 

against the purchase order, goods receipt and invoice, prior to making a 
payment.  Invoices from trusted suppliers, (as advised by the Strategic 
Procurement Team) will only require a two-way match.  Invoices that do not pass 
this criteria will be returned to the service for amendment. 

 
34.8.611  Payments in advance : Chief Officers prior to authorising payments in 

advance, must undertake a risk assessment of the supplier or service provider 
defaulting. All payments in advance in excess of £100,000 must be notified to 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
4.9 SALARIES, PENSIONS & ALLOWANCES 
 
4.9.1 Details of payroll arrangements and responsibilities are set out in the HR 

Regulations. 
 
3.4.910 TAXATION 

102



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

 
3.9.14.10.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring compliance with all 

relevant taxation regulations and guidance that affect the Council either directly, 
as a consequence its own activities, or indirectly, as a consequence of service 
delivery through external partners.  

 
4.10.2 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising Chief Officers on all 

taxation issues that affect the Council, in the light of guidance issued by 
appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies. 

 
4.10.3 To enable the Chief Finance Officer to fulfil the requirements of this role, Chief 

Officers will:  
(i) Ensure that the Chief Finance Officer is consulted on all proposals that may 

alter or affect the Council’s tax liability, including proposals to implement 
alternative service delivery models.  

(ii) Ensure that the VAT guidance issued by the Chief Finance Officer is 
complied with (i.e. to ensure that the correct liability is attached to all 
income due and that all amounts recoverable on purchases can be 
claimed).  

(iii) Ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are undertaken, 
the sub-contractor fulfils the necessary construction industry tax scheme 
requirements (as advised by the Chief Finance Officer).  

 (iv)  Ensure that the Chief Finance Officer guidance on fee payments to 
consultants, individuals or partners is complied with.  

 
4.10.4 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Council’s tax 

records are maintained, all tax payments are made, tax credits are received and 
tax returns are submitted by their due date, as appropriate. 

 
3.4.1110 AMENITY & UNOFFICIAL FUNDS  
 
34.101.1 Amenity or Unofficial Fund relates to all sums of money other than those 

which are required to be paid into the Council’s General Bank Account (or such 
other account so authorised by the Chief Finance Officer) or Trust Fund monies 
outside the authority of the Council. 

 
3.10.24.11.2 All accounts shall be opened by the Chief Finance Officer  and their names 

shall include the name of the London Borough of Barnet  and the establishment 
concerned. 

 
3.10.34.11.3 Provided the Chief Finance Officer  approves and is satisfied with 

accounting and security arrangements, separate accounts need not be opened 
for funds of small amounts. 

  
4.11.4 The head of each establishment which sets up such a fund shall inform the 

relevant Chief Officer of its existence. 
 
4.11.5 Responsibility for the administration of the fund shall rest with the head of the 

establishment and with such other member(s) of staff as that person shall 
decide. 

 

103



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

4.11.6 Expenditure from the fund shall be at the discretion of the establishment head in 
conjunction with other member(s) of staff as felt necessary. 

 
4.11.7 Cheques shall be signed and countersigned by the head and deputies of the 

establishment.  All transactions above a limit set by the Chief Finance Officer  
shall be signed by at least two authorised officers. 

 
4.11.8 Auditors shall be appointed by the head of the establishment and the fee (if any) 

shall be charged to the fund.  Where the turnover of the fund exceeds an amount 
set by the Chief Finance Officer, the fund must be audited by auditors approved 
by that officer.  The Chief Finance Officer shall have the right to inspect the 
accounts. 

 
4.11.9 At the end of each financial year the head shall submit an audited summary of 

the fund to the Chief Finance Officer (and Governing Body if appropriate). 
 
45 RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 
 
45.1 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
45.1.1 The Performance and Contract Monitoring Committee is responsible for 

approving the Council’s risk management framework and for reviewing the 
effectiveness of risk management. Individual services are responsible for 
ensuring the proper management of risk. 

 
5.1.2 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that they and their staff uphold the 

requirements of the Corporate Risk Management Framework. 
 
45.2 INTERNAL CONTROL  
 
45.2.1 Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by management to help 

ensure the Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes 
economical, efficient and effective use of resources and that the Council’s assets 
and interests are safeguarded. 

 
45.2.2 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of 

internal control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all 
applicable statutes and regulations, and other relevant statements of best 
practice. They should ensure that public funds are properly safeguarded and 
used economically, efficiently, and in accordance with the statutory and other 
authorities that govern their use.  

 
45.2.3 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to establish sound arrangements for 

planning, appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order to 
achieve continuous improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness and for 
achieving their financial performance targets. 

 
45.3 INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
45.3.1 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 the Council has a statutory 

obligation to have an adequate and effective system of internal audit. The 

104



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

Assurance Director has the delegated authority for providing and maintaining this 
service. 

 
45.3.2 The Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for providing an internal audit function 

which meets the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS). He / she is also responsible for providing an opinion, in support of the 
Annual Governance Statement, on how the Council’s risk management 
processes identify, evaluate, monitor and report that controls are operating 
effectively within the Council. The Chief Internal Auditor helps the Chief Finance 
Officer discharge his/her responsibilities under section 151.  Irrespective of the 
organisational position of internal audit, this officer should have the right to report 
on matters concerning internal audit and internal control directly to the Chief 
Executive and the Audit Committee. 

 
45.3.3 Internal Audit is an assurance function that provides ‘an independent, objective 

assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an 
organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.’  

 
5.3.4 Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk 

management processes, control systems, accounting records and governance 
arrangements. Internal Audit plays a vital part in advising the organisation that 
these arrangements are in place and operating properly. The annual internal 
audit opinion, which informs the Annual Governance Statement, both 
emphasises and reflects the importance of this aspect of internal audit work. 
Management’s response to internal audit activity should lead to the 
strengthening of the control environment and, therefore, contribute to the 
achievement of the organisation’s objectives.  

 
45.3.45 Internal Audit has unrestricted access to all information (including records, 

computer files, databases, systems, property and personnel) across any service 
and/or activities undertaken by the Council, or partners on the behalf of the 
Council where council information is held in order to review, appraise and report 
as may be necessaryon:. 

 

• the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of financial, operational and 
management control and their operation in practice in relation to the 
business risks to be addressed; 

• the extent of compliance with, relevance of, and financial effect of, policies, 
standards, plans and procedures established by the Council and service 
management and the extent of compliance with legislation and regulations, 
including reporting requirements of regulatory bodies; 

• the extent to which the assets and interests are acquired economically, 
used efficiently, accounted for and safeguarded from losses of all kinds 
arising from waste, extravagance, inefficient administration, poor value for 
money, fraud or other cause and that adequate business continuity and risk 
management strategies exist; 

• the suitability, accuracy, reliability and integrity of financial and other 
management information and the means used to identify, measure, classify 
and report such information; 

105



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

• the integrity of processes and systems, including those under development, 
to ensure that controls offer adequate protection against error, fraud and 
loss of all kinds; and that the process aligns with the Council’s strategic 
goals; 

• the suitability of the organisation of the units audited for carrying out their 
functions, to ensure that services are provided in a way which is 
economical, efficient and effective; 

• the follow-up action taken to remedy weaknesses identified by Internal 
Audit review, ensuring that good practice is identified and communicated 
widely; and 

• the operation of the Council’s Governance arrangements. 
 
5.3.6 Independence 
 Internal Audit should be independent of the activities that it audits to enable 

auditors to perform their duties in a way that allows them to make impartial and 
effective professional judgements and recommendations. Internal auditors 
should not have any operational responsibilities. 

 
5.3.7 Audit advice and recommendations, including where Internal Audit has been 

consulted about significant changes to the internal control systems, are given 
without prejudice to the right of Internal Audit to review and make further 
recommendations on the relevant policies, procedures, controls and operations 
at a later date. 

 
5.3.8 The status of Internal Audit should enable it to function effectively. The support 

of the organisation is essential and recognition of the independence of Internal 
Audit is fundamental to its effectiveness.  The Chief Internal Auditor should have 
direct access to and freedom to report in his or her own name and without fear or 
favour to, all officers and members and particularly to those charged with 
governance. 

 
45.3.59 The Chief Internal Auditor shall be able to meet the Chairman of the Audit 

Committee alone outside of the normal Audit Committee meetings. 
 
5.3.10 Responsibility & Authority 
 Internal Audit is an integral part of the organisation and functions under the 

policies established by management and the Council. 
 
5.3.11 The purpose, scope, authority and responsibility of the internal auditing service is 

defined in a formal charter. The charter makes clear the independence of the 
internal auditing service and emphasises that it must not be restricted when 
carrying out its responsibilities. 

 
45.3.612 Chief Officers shall have regard to the principles of risk management, and 

to the Council’s risk management policy. It is the responsibility of Internal Audit 
to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s arrangements for risk 
management. 

 
45.3.713 The Chief Internal Auditor shall report to the Chairman of the Audit 

Committee all significant concerns that he/she may have over the adequacy and 

106



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

effectiveness of internal controls and risk management activities within the 
organisation. 

 
45.4 CORPORATE ANTI-FRAUD TEAM (CAFT) 
 
45.4.1 Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council has a 

statutory obligation to ensure the protection of public funds and to have an 
effective system of prevention and detection of fraud and corruption. The 
Assurance Director has the delegated authority for providing and maintaining this 
service.  

 
5.4.2 As part of these Regulations, Directors should ensure that there are 

arrangements to enable staff and the public to raise and report any issues of 
concern in accordance with the Council’s Whistleblowing policy. 

 
45.4.23 Objective & Scope 
 The CAFT is an independent, objective activity designed to add value and 

improve the Council’s operations. It helps the Council achieve its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to investigation, evaluating and 
improving the effectiveness of fraud prevention and detection and the 
subsequent prosecution of individuals and organisations where appropriate. The 
Council has a zero tolerance approach to fraud and other irregularity. 

 
45.4.34 The objective of the CAFT is to assist officers and Members in the effective 

discharge of their responsibilities. To this end, the CAFT furnishes them with 
assurance, analysis, appraisals, recommendations, counsel, and information 
concerning the activities it is required to become involved with. The objective 
includes promoting fraud awareness across the authority. 

 
4.5.4.45 The scope of the CAFT encompasses both the investigation and examination of 

the effectiveness of the council’s systems of fraud control when subject to 
breach. In carrying out assigned responsibilities, Investigation Officers:-  

 
review the reliability and integrity of financial and operating information and the means 

used to identify, measure, classify, and report such information; 
ensure there are appropriate polices (Counter Fraud Framework) and procedures in 

place as well as effective systems for accurate reporting of any such fraud 
(including “Whistleblowing” and a “Fraud Hotline”) 

provide an effective, efficient and value for money investigation service; 
Where appropriate provide the organisation, its employees and business partners with a 

advice in relevant areas such as fraud, corruption, bribery and anti money 
laundering and other legislation relating to the proceeds of crime. 

 
5.4.6 Independence 
 CAFT officers are independent when they carry out their work so act freely and 

objectively. Independence permits Investigators to render the impartial and 
unbiased judgements essential to the proper investigation and conclusion of 
fraud.  Irrespective of the organisational position of CAFT, the Assurance 
Director should report on matters concerning internal audit and internal control 
directly to the Leader, the Chief Executive and the Audit Committee. 

 

107



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

45.4.57 Responsibility & Authority 
 The primary responsibility for the awareness, prevention, detection and 

deterrence of fraud, corruption, bribery or money laundering activity lies with the 
Chief Officers. This responsibility includes ensuring that staff and partners are 
aware of both the implications of fraud and money laundering and the risks of 
fraud and money laundering across their service area. The primary responsibility 
for the investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption, bribery or money 
laundering activity found in a service area lies with the CAFT. All details must be 
immediately forwarded to the CAFT, to preserve the chain of evidence linked to 
such investigations within the law. 

 
5.4.8 All Council Members and employees are personally responsible for ensuring 

they (and any subordinates) are aware of the Council’s Counter Fraud 
Framework and the procedures and policies within it. All suspected breaches 
must be reported to the Assurance t Director, the Chief Internal Auditor or any 
member of the CAFT.  

 
5.4.9 The Assurance Director will maintain a scheme of delegation that will set out 

duties and responsibilities in relation to counter fraud activities.   
 
45.4.610 CAFT have unrestricted access to all council held information and records 

(including computer files, databases, systems, property and personnel) across 
any service and/or activities undertaken by the Council, or partners on the behalf 
of the Council, in order to effectively carry out their duties: 

 
45.4.711 CAFT or other authorised representative shall have authority to: 
 

• Enter or visit any land, premises, offices or establishments of the Council; 
and carry out any necessary searches of the aforementioned.  

• have unrestricted access to, access, view, search, and remove any and all 
records, documents and correspondence, including electronically held 
correspondence, documents and records, and property and assets of the 
Council; 

• where requested by CAFT view only access to specific databases/systems 
which hold council data 

• receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any matter under 
examination, and / or fraud investigation; 

• in conjunction with the relevant Chief Officer, suspend any employee of the 
Council under CAFT investigation from duty: acting in accordance with the 
Council’s disciplinary procedures; and, in cases concerning illegal working, 
employees may be exited from the organisation and/or may be suspended 
without pay pending investigation. 

• require any employee of the Council to produce and surrender any cash, 
stores, equipment or any other Council property under his or her control 

• interview any and all employees and individuals in connection with 
investigations including where necessary interviews in accordance with the 
Police & Criminal Evidence Act (on tape). 

 
45.5 EXTERNAL AUDIT  
 

108



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

45.5.1  Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (replaced the Audit Commission with 
effect from 1 April 2015) is responsible for appointing external auditors to each 
local authority. The duties of the external auditor are governed by section 5 of 
the Audit Commission Act 1998.  

 
5.5.2  The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 established transitional 

arrangements for the appointment of external auditors and the setting of audit 
fees for all local government in England which cover the audit of accounts up to 
2018/19.  

 
45.5.23 External auditors have a responsibility to satisfy themselves that the Council has 

put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. This judgement is based on criteria 
specified by the National Audit Office. The Chief Finance Officer, in conjunction 
with Chief Officers, must ensure that the Council makes best use of resources 
and taxpayers and / or service users receive value for money. 

 
45.5.34 The Council may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or 

investigation by external bodies such as HM Revenue and Customs, who have 
statutory rights of access. 

 
56. TRADING ACCOUNTS 
 
6.1 As the Council continues to develop its commissioning model alongside a more 

commercial culture, trading accounts and business unit charging are becoming 
increasingly important. 

 
5.16.2 It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to advise on the establishment 

and operation of trading accounts and business units, where appropriate. 
 
6.3 Where consideration is being given to the introduction of charges for 

discretionary services or to utilising a trading power the relevant Chief Officer 
must consult with the Chief Finance Officer and Legal Services on all aspects of 
the proposal (i.e. financial, legal and personnel related) prior to seeking approval 
from the relevant theme committee. 

 
5.26.4 The Chief Officer must observe all statutory requirements in relation to trading 

accounts, including the maintenance of a separate revenue account to include all 
relevant income and expenditure, including overhead charged and an annual 
report in support of the final accounts. 

 
5.36.5 The Chief Officer must ensure that the same accounting principles are applied in 

relation to trading accounts as for other service units. 
 
67. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 
67.1 PARTNERSHIPS 
 
7.1.1 The Council provides a distinctive leadership role for the community and brings 

together the contributions of the various stakeholders. It may also act to achieve 

109



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-
being of its area. 

 
67.1.12 Partnerships include any arrangements where the Council agrees to undertake, 

part fund or participate in a project with other bodies; either as a beneficiary of 
the project, or because the nature or status of the project gives the Council a 
right or obligation to support it. Where the Council is simply providing funding 
without assuming any obligation or risk relating to delivery of the project, this is 
not a partnership.  

 
67.1.23 It is important to understand and distinguish between a partnership in this 

context and a supplier who the Council may refer to as a ‘partner’ due to the 
status that the Council has contractually awarded to it. Irrespective of the title 
applied to it, this latter type of partnership is a supplier relationship, which will be 
entered into in accordance with, and governed by, the Council’s Procurement 
Policy and Procedures.  

 
6.7.1.34 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate work is undertaken 

and committee approvals are obtained before any negotiations are concluded in 
relation to work with external bodies., these include: 
(i)  The approval of the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer prior to 

entering into a partnership agreement.  
(ii)  An appraisal which demonstrates that the risks associated with the 

arrangement are minimal, or that appropriate arrangements are in place to 
mitigate any such risks.  

(iii)  Demonstrating that the partnership agreement and arrangements will not 
impact adversely upon the services provided by the Council or upon its 
finances.  

(iv) The proposed financial contribution by the Council to the partnership can be 
met from existing budget provision.  

(v)  Policy and Resources or Council (where appropriate) approval is secured 
for all delegations and frameworks for the proposed partnership. 

 
67.1.45 The approval of both the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer must 

be obtained prior to the Council entering into any formal partnership agreement. 
The approval of the Chief Finance Officer must also be obtained where it is 
proposed that the Council adopts the role of ‘Accountable Body’ for a 
partnership. This is to ensure that the:  

(i)  Legal status and financial viability of the arrangement are clearly established and 
acceptable.  

(ii)  The Council’s financial commitment to the partnership is quantified and that this 
can be accommodated within the existing budget provision.  

(iii) Financial and corporate governance arrangements in place for the partnership are 
robust, and acceptable from the Council’s perspective.  

(iv)  The Council is not exposed to undue financial, legal or reputational risk as a 
consequence of its involvement in the partnership.  

(v)  The Council’s own financial accounting and reporting requirements can be 
satisfied.  

 
67.1.56 A written partnership agreement must be produced that clearly establishes the 

responsibilities of the respective partners for managing the arrangement and the 

110



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

resources made available to the partnership. The document must also set out 
the arrangements in respect of unspent funding at each year end, unless this is 
to be returned to the Council as unspent money, and for addressing any 
overspend. 

 
 Delegation of budget to a partnership 
67.1.67 The delegation of budget to a partnership (whether or not the arrangement is 

binding on the parties), where money is normally spent in accordance with the 
wishes of a group of individuals or organisations, is subject to approval as 
follows: 

 

• Up to £1m500,000  Assistant Directors (or named equivalent) 
following consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer.  

 

• Up to £5m   Chief Executive Officer or Chief Finance Officer 
following consultation with the Leader of the 
Council.  

 

• More than £5m   Policy and Resources Committee 
following consultation with all of the above.  

 
67.1.78 Where the Council is the ‘accountable body’ for a partnership, these Financial 

Regulations apply to decisions relating to the expending of that money. All 
expenditure must be authorised by an appropriate London Borough of Barnet 
officer, or by someone else who has a statutory power to authorise expenditure.  

 
7.1.9 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that the Council is promoting and 

applying the same high standards of financial administration to the partnership 
that apply throughout the Council.  

 
7.1.10 Chief Officers must provide information on the partnership arrangements to the 

Chief Finance Officer, to enable the appropriate disclosures to be made within 
the Council’s annual Statement of Accounts.  

 
67.2 EXTERNAL FUNDING 
 
7.2.1 External funding is potentially a very important source of income; however 

funding conditions need to be carefully considered to ensure that they are 
compatible with the aims and objectives of the Council.  

 
67.2.12 External funding covers bids to Government and other organisations that are 

offering funding for projects that meet certain criteria.  It also covers contributions 
being sought from participating organisations and individuals, from either public 
or private sources. 

 
7.2.3 Chief Officers, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, should develop 

their External Funding Strategy to explore all feasible options that maximise 
external funding available to the Council. Their strategy should cover the 
principles which the Council will apply to generating additional funding via 
making bids to the Government and other funding bodies and the proper 

111



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

processes for obtaining necessary approvals. It is particularly important to 
ensure that approved resources are available for any ‘match funding’ 
requirements prior to entering into any agreements. 

 
67.2.24 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by 

external bodies is received and properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. 
 
67.2.35 Chief Officers must provide the Chief Finance Officer with details of all bids for 

external funding. Bids will follow the requirements of the Council’s investment 
appraisal process. In particular, the following information must be provided: 

 
How the bid supports achievement of Corporate Plan targets; 
Whether the bid is for capital and/or revenue funding; 
Revenue and capital matched funding contributions required from the Council, and how 

these will be identified; 
Revenue and capital matched funding contributions required from other organisations 

and individuals, how these amounts will be secured, and the risks associated 
with them; 

An ‘exit strategy’, which sets out how budgets will be adjusted after the grant expires; 
Where the bid is for revenue funding:- 
whether this is to support existing levels of activity or enhanced / new activities; 
proposals for reducing the activity OR incorporating it in the base budget once the 

external funding is exhausted; 
Where the bid is for capital funding:- 
whether an asset will be created, and if so, how this fits in with the Council’s Strategy; 
how the ongoing cost of maintaining the asset will be funded; 
whether the asset can / will be disposed of at a later date. 
 
67.2.46 Chief Officers must not commit expenditure on projects requiring matched 

funding contributions until the external funding has been confirmed, unless 
approval has been given by the Chief Finance Officer. Decisions to proceed 
ahead of confirming external funding will be taken after assessing all relevant 
risks. The Chief Finance Officer has the right to refer the decision to the Policy 
and Resources Committee.  

 
7.2.7 Where external funding is applied for, it is the responsibility of the Chief Officer to 

ensure that the monies are received from the paying body and, wherever 
possible, received ahead of the planned expenditure being incurred by the 
Council. 

 
67.2.58 Chief Officers must advise the Chief Finance Officer of all grant and subsidy 

notifications as soon as they are received. Where the amount notified is greater 
than the budget, the excess will be deemed a windfall and should in the first 
instance be returned to the central contingency unless regulations specify 
restrictions on their use which make this inappropriate or the underspend, 
additional income or windfall is to be used to offset uncontrollable overspends 
elsewhere within the service. Where the amount notified is less than the budget, 
the Director or Head of Service must notify the Chief Finance Officer of options 
for containing any potential overspend. 

 

112



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

7.2.9 Chief Officers must ensure that all conditions associated with external funding 
are met and that information and evidence required to complete grant and 
subsidy claims are provided on time. 

 
7.2.10 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that they comply with all requirements 
 for the audit of external funding where applicable. 
 
67.3 WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES 
 
67.3.1 Work can only be undertaken for third parties where the Council has the legal 

powers to undertake the work. Where such legal powers exist, Chief Officers are 
responsible for:  

(i)   Approving the contractual arrangements for any work undertaken by their 
services for third parties or external bodies.  

(ii)   Ensuring that the appropriate expertise exists to fulfil the contract.  
(iii)  Ensuring that no contract adversely impacts upon the services provided by the 

Council.  
(iv) Approval will be made after appropriate professional advice, including but not 

restricted to legal, has been obtained. 
 
67.3.2 With regard to the financial aspects of third party contracts, Chief Officers will:  

(i)  Comply with any guidance issued by the Chief Finance Officer and will 
ensure that the appropriate insurance arrangements are made.  

(ii)  Ensure that all costs arising from the provision of services to a third party 
are recovered and hence that there is no subsidy included within the 
contract.  

(iii)  Ensure that the Council is not unnecessarily exposed to the risk of bad 
debts.  

 
67.3.3 A written agreement must be put in place between the Council and the third 

party, which details the services to be provided, over what period and at what 
price; this will be signed by both parties to the agreement. Chief Officers will 
provide information on the contractual arrangements to the Chief Finance Officer 
in order that the appropriate disclosures can be made within the Council’s annual 
statement of accounts. 

 
67.3.4 Performance and Contract Management (PCM) Committee is responsible for 

monitoring the contractual arrangements for any significant work for third parties 
or external bodies. For this purpose, significant is deemed to be contracted 
annual income from a body that is greater than £100,000.  

 
67.4 ALTERNATIVE DELIVERY MODELS  
 
67.4.1 Services may be commissioned from retained services within the Council or via 

alternative delivery models. There are various types of alternative delivery 
model, including, but not limited to:  

 
(i)  Local Authority Trading Company (LATC) – a separate legal entity in which 

the Council has in interest that trades for profit with both public and private 
bodies. An LATC could have a number of legal forms including a company 

113



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

limited by shares, a company limited by guarantee, a community benefit 
society or a cooperative society.  

(ii)  Joint Ventures - set up as separate corporate entities joining two or more 
parties for the purpose of executing a business undertaking. They are able 
to trade for profit.  

(iii)  Charitable incorporated organisation - a corporate entity which is regulated 
by the Charities Commission; surpluses are reinvested in the company.  

(iv) Social Enterprises - businesses trading for social and environmental 
purposes.  

(v)  Outsourcing – a contractual arrangement between the Council and a private 
provider for the delivery of an agreed service., which involves the transfer of 
Council staff to the private provider. The outsourced provider can charge its 
customers and make a profit.  

(vi)  Social Impact Bonds – contract to achieve agreed social outcomes through 
a programme of interventions delivered by a number of service providers.  

(vii) Joint Committee – joint bodies set up, by agreement, to discharge or carry 
out activities in conjunction with others.  

(viii) Unincorporated association – pooling of resources with other public sector 
bodies as a means of facilitating joint working in the provision of services.  

 
7.4.2 This above list is not intended to be exhaustive, but is provided to illustrate the 

range and diversity of alternative service delivery models.  
 
67.4.23 Any proposal to commission services via an alternative delivery vehicle must be 

developed though the Council’s business case governance framework and using 
the business case template, to ensure that there is a robust planning and 
decision-making process in place.  

  
7.4.4 The business case must clearly articulate the options being considered and 

measure these against the desired outcomes. It should also set out whether 
there is a statutory basis for the provision of the service or activity under 
consideration.  

 
7.4.5 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that the Council’s governance 

framework is followed through all stages of the business case development and 
decision making process, and that specialist advice is sought from the following 
key stakeholders across the Council, at each stage in the development of the 
business case:  

 
(i)  Chief Finance Officer (including financial, cash management and tax 

advice);  
(ii)  Director of Assurance (including Monitoring Officer, Internal Audit and 

Organisational Risk advice);  
(iii)  Director of Commercial Services;  
(iv)  Director of Human Resources and Assistant Director of Finance (Customer 

Services Group) (including HR, payroll, pensions administration, purchase 
to pay, income collection).  

 
67.4.36 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that committee approval is obtained 

before any contract negotiations and/or financial transactions are entered into, 
and that all agreements and arrangements are properly documented.  

114



Financial Regulations – March 2018December 2017 

 

 
78. TRANSPARENCY  
 
78.1.1 To provide transparency in its stewardship of public funds the Council makes 

information available to the public in relation to its spending, regardless of value. 
Monthly payment transactions made via purchase card, employee expenses and 
accounts payable are available to download via the Council’s Open Barnet data 
portal. This brings together all our published datasets and other information of 
interest on one searchable database for anyone, anywhere to access. 
http://open.barnet.gov.uk/ 

 

115

http://open.barnet.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Contract Procedure Rules

117

http://intranetlbb/corpweb2005/culturalservicesweb/images/BARNET-logo-colour.jpg


Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
2

1 APPLICATION

1.1 These Contract Procedure Rules provide the governance structure for the 
Council to procure works, goods and services.  

1.2 These mandatory Contract Procedure Rules apply to everyone who 
commissions or procures contracts on behalf of the Council, including 
external consultants and third party providers.

1.3 Approved Officers (Heads of Service and above) are accountable for all 
Procurement in their respective area of responsibility including following 
the Contract Procedure Rules and complying with operational procurement 
guidelines and codes of practice. 

1.4 All Officers must ensure that the Council’s approved processes and 
standards for Procurement, as set out in the Procurement Toolkit are 
adhered to.  All information governance, insurance, safeguarding, social 
value (including Support to Local Community), conflict of interest and 
business continuity requirements must be adhered to in line with the 
Procurement Toolkit and the Council’s Information Governance Policies.

1.5 The Director of Commercial Services in consultation with the Director of 
Resources shall maintain and issue the Contract Procedure Rules.  

1.6 Customer Support Group (CSG) Procurement is responsible for ensuring 
Council awareness and compliance with all relevant Law. Any significant 
changes to relevant Law will be reflected in these Contract Procedure 
Rules.  

2 SCOPE

2.1 The Contract Procedure Rules apply to all Procurement activities, including 
expenditure of external funding on Procurement, such as grant allocation, 
received by the Council from external sources.

2.2 The Contract Procedure Rules do not apply to Non-Procurement activities    
whereby the Council has to pay for a Service which it did not initiate or for 
payments where it is not appropriate to tender including (but not 
exclusively) inter-authority and inter-agency payments, 
subscriptions/memberships, emergency temporary accommodation for 
vulnerable people, assessments and recoupment.  Payments to third parties 
for these activities are subject to authorisation by Finance.

2.3 Where the Council is entering into a Contract as an agent in collaboration 
with another public body or organisation which is the principal or lead body 
in the collaboration, these Contract Procedure Rules apply only in so far as 
they are consistent with the requirements of the principal or lead body 
concerned. Where the Council is acting as principal or the lead body, these 
Contract Procedure Rules will take precedence. 

118



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
3

2.4 Where the Council’s schools have to abide by the Scheme for Financing 
Schools which requires them to follow Contract Standing Orders (CSO) for 
Schools, then the CSO for Schools shall take precedence over these Contract 
Procedure Rules.

2.5 These Contract Procedure Rules do not apply to any acquisition or disposal 
of any interest in land, or to any transaction in land under section 75 of the 
National Health Services Act 2006; arrangements between NHS bodies and 
the council are not subject to these Contract Procedure Rules though 
procurement activities undertaken under any such arrangements may be.

3 CONTRACT VALUE CALCULATION

3.1 Contract value means the estimated aggregate or recurring value payable 
in pounds sterling exclusive of Value Added Tax over the entire Contract 
period including any form of options or extensions of the Contract. Where 
the Contract term is not fixed the estimated value of the Contract must be 
calculated by multiplying the monthly spend value by 48 in accordance 
with Regulation 6 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

3.2 Contracts must not be artificially underestimated or disaggregated into two 
or more separate contracts with the intention of avoiding the application 
of Contract Procedure Rules or the Law. 

3.3 In the case of Framework Agreements or Dynamic Purchasing Systems the 
contract value must be calculated to include the total estimated value, net 
of VAT, of all the contracts envisaged to be awarded for the total term of 
the Framework Agreement or the Dynamic Purchasing System.

4 AUTHORISATION

4.1 Any Procurement, including extensions and variations to Contracts set out 
in the Annual Procurement Forward Plan and approved by the Policy and 
Resources Committee, is deemed as Authorised irrespective of the 
Contract value.  

4.2 Any Procurement which has not been Authorised as set out in 4.1 must be 
Authorised in accordance with Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B.

5 PROCUREMENT METHOD

5.1 The method of procurement is set out in Article 10 of the Constitution, 
Table B. 

5.2 All Procurements for goods and services over £25,000 must be advertised 
on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time when the Procurement is 
advertised in any other way. Procurement over the EU financial threshold 
must be advertised in the OJEU first and then on Contracts Finder. A 

119



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
4

Contract award notice must also be published on Contracts Finder. CSG 
Procurement will arrange this.

5.3 Commissioners may decide to award a contract in the form of separate lots 
and may determine the size and subject-matter of such lots. If 
commissioners decide not to subdivide into lots they must document the 
main reasons for their decision.

5.4 Where the Council accesses an existing Framework Agreement, the 
Framework Agreement terms and conditions of contract must be used, 
amended as appropriate as permitted by the Framework Agreement. 
Before entering into a Framework Agreement due diligence checks must be 
carried out to demonstrate that the Council can lawfully access the 
Framework Agreement and that it is fit for purpose and provides value for 
money. 

5.5 For activities that result in a contractual obligation for social care 
placements and special education needs where the decision has been 
made on the Council’s behalf (such as court directed order, personal 
budget/statement request or an individual’s specific needs) the authority 
to sign off to award an individual funding agreement in accordance with 
the decision making framework is contained within the Article 10 (Decision-
Making) as set out in the Constitution. 

5.6 Procurement activity for Contracts for certain health, social, community, 
educational and cultural related services, “Light-Touch Regime Services” 
whose value is equal to or over the threshold of £615,278 must be 
tendered and awarded in compliance with the Public Procurement 
Regulations 2015. Refer to the CSG Procurement Team to advise on the 
procedures to be applied in connection with the award of these Contracts.

5.7 For Procurements below the EU financial threshold only Suitability 
Assessment Questions can be asked. This means there can be no SQ stage. 

5.8 For Contracts under the OJEU financial threshold the Commercial Services 
Director may waive the requirement to seek 2 written quotes subject to a 
Summary DPR being provided, demonstrating that the market place has 
been fully tested and the Council has obtained value for money.

5.9 The award of Contracts will be based on the most economically 
advantageous tender assessed from the Council’s point of view. 

5.10 Commissioners shall require tenderers to explain the price or costs 
proposed in the tender where tenders appear to be abnormally low in 
relation to the works, goods or services

120



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
5

6 SINGLE TENDER ACTION

6.1 A Single Tender Action is the awarding of a Contract to a contractor 
without undertaking a competitive tendering exercise. This is permitted 
only in exceptional circumstances and should be approved in advance by 
the Commercial Director. Procurement advice should be sought in all cases.  
Exceptional circumstances may include where the works, supplies or 
services can be supplied only by a particular supplier.

6.2 Where a competition has been undertaken and only a single bid has been 
received the Commercial Director can approve the award of a Contract, 
subject to an appropriate review being undertaken and an audit trail being 
available for inspection.  

7 CONCESSION CONTRACTS

7.1 Concession Contracts are contracts under which the council outsources 
works or services to a contractor or provider, who then has the right to 
commercially exploit those works or services in order to recoup its 
investment and make a return. The key feature is that the 
contractor/provider bears the operating risk of the arrangement and so has 
no guarantee of recouping its investment or operating costs. 

7.2 Concession Contracts must meet certain requirements and advice should 
be sought from Legal Services and CSG Procurement. 

8 ACCEPTANCE

8.1 Acceptance of Contracts must be in accordance with Article 10 Table B of 
the Constitution, and in all cases is subject to: Budget provision; a 
compliant Procurement process; and confirmation of acceptable financial 
status of the contractor. 

8.2 Acceptance of Contracts with independent providers of individual 
placements for children or adults will in the first instance be achieved 
through approved frameworks or approved lists of providers. Where 
requirements cannot be met through approved frameworks or approved 
lists, authority is delegated to the relevant officer of a service area under 
the scheme of delegation in the council’s Constitution to enter into 
contract with a new independent provider.   

8.3 Acceptance thresholds for Contract extensions and variations are set out in 
Article 10 Table B of the Constitution.

8.4 The financial evaluation of tenders will be undertaken by:

121



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
6

- CSG Procurement if the Contract is valued at less than £181,302 for goods or 
services or less than £4,551,413 for works, or;

- A Financial Officer as delegated by the Director of Finance if: (a) the contract is 
valued at £181,302 or more, for goods or services; or (b) the contract  is valued 
at £4,551,413 or more for works; or (c) the Director of Finance considers that 
the Contract has a significant impact on the council’s finances.

9 CONTRACT SIGNING and SEALING

9.1 Every Contract must be in a form approved by Legal services or delegated 
officer, if its value exceeds £25,000 or where appropriate to the nature of 
the Contract.

9.2 All Contracts awarded following a Procurement process with a Contract 
value above the EU financial threshold shall be sealed unless Legal Services 
or delegated officer directs otherwise.

9.3 Contracts and Framework Agreements must be sealed.  Call-off Contracts 
from a Framework Agreement under the EU financial threshold do not 
require sealing and need only be signed by a Council Officer in accordance 
with the Scheme of Delegation.

10 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT

10.1 During the life of the Contract Approved Officers must ensure that the 
Council’s approved processes for Contract Management, as set out in the 
Contract Management Toolkit are adhered to.  In particular to ensure 
continuous improvement and value for money is achieved all Approved 
Officers must ensure that those responsible for managing Contracts 
undergo CSG Procurement approved training

11 EXTENSIONS and VARIATIONS

11.1 Contracts that have been originally advertised with extension options and 
which contain clear extension options can be extended subject to 
acceptance under Article 10 Table B of the Constitution and under 
Regulation 72 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 certain 
amendments, and extensions or renewals of an existing Contract can be 
made without triggering a requirement for a new Procurement exercise, 
subject to submit financial limits. Where necessary seek advice from Legal 
and CSG Procurement.

11.2 Placement Agreements for individuals in Social Care or Educational Needs 
may be varied or extended without reference to the Variation or Extension 
Acceptance levels and documentation set out in Article 10 of the 
Constitution, Table B.

122



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
7

11.3 The value referred to in Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B in the 
column headed ‘Variation or extension Acceptance’ is the total value of the 
original Contract value plus the addition of the value of any extensions 
and/or variations i.e. the total value of the extended or varied Contract.  

11.4 In addition to the requirements of Regulation 72 Contracts may only be 
extended or varied if all of the following conditions have been met:

- the initial Contract was based on a Contract Procedure Rules 
compliant competitive tender or quotation process;

- the value of the extension or variation added to the value of the 
original Contract does not exceed the original Authorisation threshold as 
defined in Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B;

- the extension or variation has an approved Budget allocation;

- if the initial Contract was subject to an EU regulated tender 
procedure, that the extension option was declared within the OJEU contract 
notice and the original Acceptance report (Delegated Powers 
Report/relevant Committee Report); 

11.5 Where the Procurement results in a Contract which includes a provision for 
an extension, any Acceptance of that extension needs to be in accordance 
with Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B.

11.6 If any of the conditions at 11.4 or 11.5  cannot be met, then a new 
Procurement exercise must be commenced.

11.7 Where a variation or extension moves the total value of the Contract into a 
higher threshold, then acceptance must be sought in accordance with 
Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B.

12 WAIVERS
12.1 If the application of these Contract Procedure Rules prevents or inhibits the 

delivery or continuity of service, Approved Officers (Heads of Service or 
above) may apply for a waiver. All applications for a waiver of these 
Contract Procedure Rules must be submitted to Policy and Resources 
Committee specifically identifying the reason for which a waiver is sought, 
including justification and risk.

12.2  Approved Officers may take decisions on emergency matters (i.e. an 
unexpected occurrence requiring immediate action) in consultation with 
the Chairman of Policy and Resources Committee providing they report to 
the next available Policy and Resources Committee, setting out the reasons 
for the emergency waiver.  A copy of the relevant Policy and Resources 
Committee report must be provided to CSG Procurement and stored on 
the Council’s contract repository.

Any waiver should only be granted for a maximum period of 12 months, 
except in exceptional cases.

123



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
8

Procurement 
value

Authorisation to 
commence a 
procurement 

process & 
Documentation 

Procurement method Acceptance process 
& Documentation

Variation or 
extension 

Acceptance & 
Documentation

Supplier
Notification 
method and 

contract

A Under £10,000
(Purchase Order) 

Council Officer as 
designated by 

approved Scheme 
of Delegation

Authorisation 
documentation:

Audit trail

Reasonable means of selection*

and evidence of having sourced 
and considered the local Barnet 

supplier market

Council Officer as 
designated by 

approved Scheme of 
Delegation

Authorisation 
documentation:

Audit trail

Must move to next 
threshold if £10,000 

or above

Authorisation 
documentation:

Audit trail 

Purchase Order

B £10,000 –
£50,000

Council Officer as 
designated by 

approved Scheme 
of Delegation

Authorisation 
documentation:

Audit trail; or  
Procurement 
Forward Plan 

Minimum 2 written Competitive 
Quotations sought**

Council Officer as 
designated by 

approved Scheme of 
Delegation

Authorisation 
documentation:

Chief Officer List of 
Decisions

Must move to next 
threshold if above 

£50,000

Authorisation 
documentation:

Chief Officer List of 
Decisions

Purchase Order

Signed contract 
over £25k value

124



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
9

C £50,001 –
£181,301

Approved Officer 

Authorisation 
documentation:

Chief Officer List of 
Decisions 

Minimum 2 written 
quotations 

No SQ - Suitability Assessment 
Questions only 

Approved Officer 

Authorisation 
documentation:

Chief Officer List of 
Decisions

Chief Officer List of 
Decisions 

Signed contract 

D £181,302 –
£500,000

Chief Officer in 
consultation with 
Theme Committee 

Chairman

Authorisation 
documentation:

Full DPR  

Services/Goods – OJEU Tender 
Works – Competitive 

Quotation

Chief Officer in 
consultation with 
Theme Committee 

Chairman

Authorisation 
documentation:     

Full DPR 

If within Budget -
Relevant Thematic 

Committee

Standstill 
Notification letter 
released following 
statutory officer 

report review
Publication of 

report post 
standstill period

Signed and sealed 
contract

125



Contract Procedure Rules 
March 2018

Pa
ge
10

E £500,000 and 
above

Authorisation 
documentation:

Relevant Theme 
Committee 
Decision; or 

Procurement 
Forward Plan 

Competitive quotation for 
works contracts for values 

£500,000 to £4,551,412

Works and Concession 
Contracts: Full OJEU Tender 

above £4,551,413

Goods: Full OJEU Tender

Services: Full OJEU Tender
Health, educational, cultural 

and social care related services:  
Light Touch Regime Tender 

above. £615,278)

Authorisation 
documentation:

If within Budget- Full 
DPR (Committee 

Chairman jointly with 
Chief Officer)

If not within Budget: 
Relevant Thematic 

Committee Report; or 
Policy and Resources 

Committee Report

If within Budget -
Relevant Thematic 

Committee

Standstill 
Notification letter 
released following 
statutory officer 

report review
Publication of 

report post 
standstill period

Signed and sealed 
contract

126



 
Contract Procedure Rules  

January 2018DecemberMarch 2018 2017 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Contract Procedure Rules 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

127

http://intranetlbb/corpweb2005/culturalservicesweb/images/BARNET-logo-colour.jpg


 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

CONTENTS 

1 APPLICATION ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

2 SCOPE................................................................................................................................................... 4 

3 CONTRACT VALUE CALCULATION ........................................................................................................ 4 

4 AUTHORISATION .................................................................................................................................. 5 

5 PROCUREMENT METHOD .................................................................................................................... 5 

6 SINGLE TENDER ACTION ...................................................................................................................... 6 

7 CONCESSION CONTRACTS ................................................................................................................... 8 

8 ACCEPTANCE ........................................................................................................................................ 8 

9 CONTRACT SIGNING and SEALING ....................................................................................................... 9 

10 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT ................................................................................................................. 9 

11 EXTENSIONS and VARIATIONS ............................................................................................................. 9 

12 WAIVERS ............................................................................................................................................ 11 

13 DEFINITIONS and INTERPRETATION .................................................................................................. 11 

 

128



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

 

1 APPLICATION 

1.1 Under section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 the council must 
make standing orders with respect to contracts for the supply of goods or 
materials or for the execution of works. 

1.2 These Contract Procedure Rules provide the governance structure for the 
Council to procure works,  goods and services.  The aims of these rules are 
to: 

1.3 ensure value for money and propriety in the spending of public money; 

1.4 enable works, goods and services to be delivered effectively and efficiently 
without compromising the Council’s ability to influence strategic decisions; 

1.5 ensure that the Council is not exposed to unnecessary risk and possibility of 
challenge arising from non-compliant Procurement activity; and 

1.61.1 ensure compliance with the Law 

1.71.2 These mandatory Contract Procedure Rules apply to everyone who 
commissions  or procures contracts on behalf of the Council, including 
external consultants and third party providers. 

Any Procurement activity must comply with the Law, these Contract 
Procedure Rules, Council policy, and the Constitution. It is a disciplinary 
offence to fail to comply with Contract Procedure Rules when undertaking 
Procurement on behalf of the Council. Council employees and third party 
service providers have a duty to report breaches of Contract Procedure 
Rules to an appropriate senior manager for action and the Chief Internal 
Auditor for noting. 

1.3 Refer to any approved Scheme of Delegation to identify any manager with 
the right to undertake Procurement. Approved Officers (Heads of Service 
and above) are accountable for all Procurement in their respective area of 
responsibility including following the Contract Procedure Rules and 
complying with operational procurement guidelines and codes of practice.  

1.81.4 All Officers must ensure that the Council’s approved processes and 
standards for Procurement, as set out in the Procurement Toolkit are 
adhered to.  This includes ensuring staff attend relevant training. All 
information governance, insurance, safeguarding, social value (including 
Support to Local Community), conflict of interest and business continuity 
requirements must be adhered to in line with the Procurement Toolkit and 
the Council’s Information Governance Policies. 

1.91.5 The Director of Commercial Services in consultation with the Director of 
Resources shall maintain and issue the Contract Procedure Rules.   

129



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

1.101.6 Customer Support Group (CSG) Procurement is responsible for ensuring 
Council awareness and compliance with all relevant Law. Any significant 
changes to relevant Law will be reflected in these Contract Procedure 
Rules.   

2 SCOPE 

2.1 The Contract Procedure Rules apply to all Procurement activities, including 
expenditure of external funding on Procurement, such as grant allocation, 
received by the Council from external sources. 

2.2 The Contract Procedure Rules do not apply to Non-Procurement activities   
as set out in Section 13.18 (Definitions) of these Contract Procedure Rules 
whereby the Council has to pay for a Service which it did not initiate or for 
payments where it is not appropriate to tender including (but not 
exclusively) inter-authority and inter-agency payments, 
subscriptions/memberships, emergency temporary accommodation for 
vulnerable people, assessments and recoupment.  Payments to third 
parties for these activities are subject to authorisation by Finance. 

 

2.22.3 Where the Council is entering into a Contract as an agent in collaboration 
with another public body or organisation which is the principal or lead 
body in the collaboration, these Contract Procedure Rules apply only in so 
far as they are consistent with the requirements of the principal or lead 
body concerned. Where the Council is acting as principal or the lead body, 
these Contract Procedure Rules will take precedence.  

2.32.4 Where the Council’s schools have to abide by the Scheme for Financing 
Schools which requires them to follow Contract Standing Orders (CSO) for 
Schools, then the CSO for Schools shall take precedence over these 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

2.42.5 These Contract Procedure Rules do not apply to any acquisition or disposal 
of any interest in land, or to any transaction in land under sSection 75 of 
the National Health Services Act 2006; arrangements between NHS bodies 
and the council are not subject to these Contract Procedure Rules though 
pProcurement activities undertaken under any such arrangements may be. 

 

3 CONTRACT VALUE CALCULATION 

3.1 Contract value means the estimated aggregate or recurring value payable 
in pounds sterling exclusive of Value Added Tax over the entire Contract 
period including any form of options or extensions of the Contract. Where 
the Contract term is not fixed the estimated value of the Contract must be 

130



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

calculated by multiplying the monthly spend value by 48 in accordance 
with Regulation 6 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

3.2 For Concession Contracts the estimated value will be the total turnover of 
the concessionaire generated over the duration of the contract (net of 
value added tax) in consideration for the works and services which are the 
object of the Concession Contract and for the goods incidental to such 
works and services.   

3.33.2 Contracts must not be artificially underestimated or disaggregated into two 
or more separate contracts with the intention of avoiding the application 
of Contract Procedure Rules or the Law.  

3.43.3 In the case of Framework Agreements or Dynamic Purchasing Systems the 
contract value must be calculated to include the total estimated value, net 
of VAT, of all the contracts envisaged to be awarded for the total term of 
the Framework Agreement or the Dynamic Purchasing System. 

4 AUTHORISATION 

4.1 Any Procurement, including extensions and variations to Contracts set out 
in the Annual Procurement Forward Plan and approved by the Policy and 
Resources Committee, is deemed as Authorised irrespective of the 
Contract value.   

4.2 Any Procurement which has not been Authorised as set out in 45.1 must be 
Authorised in accordance with Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B. 

5 PROCUREMENT METHOD 

5.1 The method of procurement is set out in Article 10 of the Constitution, 
Table B. Where Procurement will result in a Framework Agreement, 
Dynamic Purchasing System or Contract refer to Article 10 of the 
Constitution, Table B to determine the Procurement process that should be 
used. If any further clarification is required refer to the CSG Procurement 
Team.   

5.2 All Procurement of Contracts with an estimated value at or below 
£10,000.00 are subject to Reasonable means of selection including 
confirmation of budget and consideration of Barnet’s local supplier base 
and SMEs.  All tender opportunities for works, goods or services over 
£10,000 (except for social care placements, special educational needs listed 
in 5.8 and activities defined in 13.18) must be advertised using the CSG e-
procurement portal and in accordance with Article 10 of the Constitution, 
Table B and be subject to Tender Review.   

5.35.2 All Procurements for goods and services over £25,000 must be advertised 
on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time when the Procurement is 
advertised in any other way. Procurement over the EU financial threshold 
must be advertised in the OJEU first and then on Contracts Finder. A 

131



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

Contract award notice must also be published on Contracts Finder. CSG 
Procurement will arrange this. 

5.45.3 Commissioners may decide to award a contract in the form of separate lots 
and may determine the size and subject-matter of such lots. They If 
commissioners decide not to subdivide into lots they must document the 
main reasons for their decision not to subdivide into lots. 

5.5 Call-Off Contracts under a Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing 
System  must be carried out in accordance with the rules laid down in the 
Framework Agreement or the Dynamic Purchasing System. 

 
5.65.4 Where the Council accesses an existing Framework Agreement, the 

Framework Agreement terms and conditions of contract must be used, 
amended as appropriate as permitted by the Framework Agreement. 
Before entering into a Framework Agreement due diligence checks must be 
carried out to demonstrate that the Council can lawfully access the 
Framework Agreement and that it is fit for purpose and provides value for 
money.  

5.7 Where a performance bond or guarantee is required to ensure Contract 
performance and/or to protect the Council, the requirement must be pre-
notified and the bond or guarantee must be in place before Contract 
signature. 

5.85.5 For activities that result in a contractual obligation for social care 
placements and special education needs where the decision has been 
made on the Council’s behalf (such as court directed order, personal 
budget/statement request or an individual’s specific needs) the authority 
to sign off to award an individual funding agreement in accordance with 
the decision making framework is contained within the ArtcileArticle 10 
(Decision-Making) as set out in the Constitution.  

5.95.6 Procurement activity for Contracts for certain health, social, community, 
educational and cultural related services, “Light-Touch Regime Services” 
whose value is equal to or over the threshold of £ 615,278 589,148 must be 
tendered and awarded in compliance with the Public Procurement 
Regulations 2015. Refer to the CSG Procurement Team to advise on the 
procedures to be applied in connection with the award of these Contracts. 
which will take into account the specificities of the services in question 

5.105.7 For Procurements below the EU financial threshold only Suitability 
Assessment Questions can be asked. This means there can be no SQ stage.  

5.115.8 For Contracts under the OJEU financial threshold the Commercial Services 
Director may waive the requirement to seek 2 written quotes subject to a 
Summary DPR being provided, demonstrating that the market place has 
been fully tested and the Council has obtained value for money. 

5.125.9 The award of Contracts will be based on the most economically 
advantageous tender assessed from the Council’s point of view.  

132



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

5.135.10 Commissioners shall require tenderers to explain the price or costs 
proposed in the tender where tenders appear to be abnormally low in 
relation to the works, goods or services 

 

6 SINGLE TENDER ACTION 

6.1 A Single Tender Action is the awarding of a Contract to a contractor 
without undertaking a competitive tendering exercise. This is permitted 
only in exceptional circumstances and should be approved in advance by 
the Commercial Director. Procurement advice should be sought in all cases.  
Exceptional circumstances may include where the works, supplies or 
services can be supplied only by a particular supplier. 

6.2 Where a competition has been undertaken and only a single bid has been 
received the Commercial Director can approve the award of a Contract, 
subject to an appropriate review being undertaken and an audit trail being 
available for inspection.   

6.1 A single tender action or commitment is not allowed unless it is in 
compliance with the Law and approved in advance by the Director of 
Commercial Services. Single tender action is the awarding of a Contract to a 
contractor without undertaking a competitive tendering exercise.  

6.2 For Contact values above the EU financial threshold single tender actions 
are permitted under Regulation 32 of The Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 in exceptional circumstances. Officers must seek advice from the 
Chief officer and CSG Procurement if they believe that a single tender 
action may be justified. Exceptional circumstances may include: 

6.3 where no tenders, no suitable tenders, no requests to participate or no 
suitable requests to participate have been submitted in response to an 
open procedure or a restricted procedure, provided that the initial 
conditions of the Contract are not substantially altered; 

where the works, supplies or services can be supplied only by a particular 
supplier but otherwise contact the Chief Officer and CSG Procurement.for 
any of the following reasons: 

the aim of the procurement is the creation or acquisition of a unique work 
of art or artistic performance, 

competition is absent for technical reasons,  

the protection of exclusive rights, including intellectual property rights,  

but only, in the case of paragraphs (ii) and (iii), where no reasonable 
alternative or substitute exists and the absence of competition is not the 
result of an artificial narrowing down of the parameters of the 
procurement. 

133



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

insofar as is strictly necessary where, for reasons of extreme urgency 
brought about by events unforeseeable by the Council, the time limits for 
the open or restricted procedures or competitive procedures with 
negotiation cannot be complied with; 

in the case of goods contracts, for additional deliveries by the original 
supplier which are intended either as a partial replacement of supplies or 
installations or as the extension of existing supplies or installations where a 
change of supplier would oblige the contracting authority to acquire 
supplies having different technical characteristics which would result in 
incompatibility or disproportionate technical difficulties in operation and 
maintenance; 

in the case of works or services contracts, new works and 
services consisting of the repetition of similar works or services 
entrusted to the contractor to which the Council awarded the 
original Contract, provided that such works or services are in 
conformity with a basic project for which the original Contract 
was awarded following a competitive procedure under the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015. The basic project must 
indicate the extent of possible additional works or services and 
the conditions under which they will be awarded. As soon as 
the first project is put up for tender, the possible use of this 
procedure shall be disclosed and the total estimated cost of 
subsequent works or services shall be taken into consideration 
by the contracting authority when assessing the estimated 
contract value. 

Where a competition has been undertaken, in accordance with Section 5, 
and only a single bid has been received, the Commercial Services Director 
can approve the award of a Contract, subject to an appropriate review 
being undertaken and an audit trail being available for inspection.  The 
award of the Contract cannot proceed without this authorisation. 

 

7 CONCESSION CONTRACTS 

7.1 The Concession Contracts are contracts under which the council outsources 
works or services to a contractor or provider, who then has the right to 
commercially exploit those works or services in order to recoup its 
investment and make a return. The key feature is that the 
contractor/provider bears the operating risk of the arrangement and so has 
no guarantee of recouping its investment or operating costs. are contracts 
with a private company that give the company the right to operate a 
specific business and contracts between the owner of a facility and the 
concession owners that grant the latter exclusive rights to operate a 
specific business in the facility.Regulations 2016 (CCR) apply to the award 
of works Concession Contracts or services Concession Contracts above 
£4,104,394 

134



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

7.2 Concession Contracts must meet certain the following requirements and 
advice should be sought from the Chief OfficerLegal Services  and CSG 
Procurement.:  

• The award of the contract involves the transfer to the concessionaire of an 
operating risk in exploiting the works or services encompassing demand or supply 
risk or both.  

• The part of the risk transferred to the concessionaire involves real exposure 
to the vagaries of the market, such that any potential estimated loss incurred by the 
concessionaire is not merely nominal or negligible. The concessionaire shall be 
deemed to assume operating risk where, under normal operating conditions, it is not 
guaranteed to recoup the investments made or the costs incurred in operating the 
works or the services which are the subject-matter of the Concession Contract 

The same general principles that apply to other Procurement activities also apply to 
the award of Concession Contracts. In particular, the Council must treat providers 
equally and without discrimination and must act in a transparent and proportionate 
manner.  

Seek advice from CSG Procurement and/or Legal Services if you consider that you 
might want to award a Concession Contract 

 

8 ACCEPTANCE 

8.1 Acceptance of Contracts must be in accordance with Article 10 Table B of 
the Constitution., and in all cases is subject to: : 

8.2 Budget provision;  

8.3 a compliant Procurement process; and  

8.48.1 confirmation of acceptable financial status of the contractor.  

8.58.2 Acceptance of Contracts with independent providers of individual 
placements for children or adults will in the first instance be achieved 
through approved frameworks or approved lists of providers. Where 
requirements cannot be met through approved frameworks or approved 
lists, authority is delegated to the relevant officer of a service area under 
the scheme of delegation in the council’s Constitution to enter into 
contract with a new independent provider.    

8.68.3 Acceptance thresholds for Contract extensions and variations  are  set out 
in Article 10 Table B of the Constitution. 

8.78.4 The financial evaluation of tenders will be undertaken by: 

- CSG Procurement if the Contract is valued at less than £164,176181,302 for 
goods or services or less than £4,104,3944,551,413 for works, or; 

135



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

- A Financial Officer as delegated by the  Director of Finance if: (a)  the contract is 
valued at £164,176181,302 or more, for goods or services; or (b) the contract  is 
valued at £4,104,3944,551,413 or more for works; or (c) the Director of Finance 
considers that the Contract has a significant impact on the council’s finances. 

9 CONTRACT SIGNING and SEALING 

9.1 Every Contract must be in a form approved by Legal services or delegated 
officer, if its value exceeds £25,000 or where appropriate to the nature of 
the Contract. 

9.2 All Contracts awarded following a Procurement process with a Contract 
value above the EU financial threshold shall be sealed unless Legal Services 
or delegated officer directs otherwise. 

9.3 Contracts and Framework Agreements  must be sealed.  Call-off Contracts 
from a Framework Agreement under the EU financial threshold do not 
require sealing and need only be signed by a Council Officer in accordance 
with the Scheme of Delegation. 

9.4 Where Legal services or delegated officer considers it appropriate that a 
Contract should be sealed other than as specified above, then such a 
Contract must be sealed. 

 

10 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 

10.1 During the life of the Contract Approved Officers must ensure that the 
Council’s approved processes for Contract Management, as set out in the 
Contract Management Toolkit are adhered to.  In particular to ensure 
continuous improvement and value for money is achieved all Approved 
Officers must ensure that those responsible for managing Contracts 
undergo CSG Procurement approved training 

11 EXTENSIONS and VARIATIONS 

11.1 Contracts that have been originally advertised with extension options and 
which contain clear extension options can be extended subject to 
acceptance under Article 10 Table B of the Constitution and under 
Regulation 72 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015  certain 
amendments, and extensions or renewals of an existing Contract can be 
made  without triggering a requirement for a new Procurement exercise, 
subject to submit financial limits. Where necessary seek advice from the 
Chief officer Legal and CSG Procurement.Examples include: 

  where the Contract contains a change control process and the scope and 
nature of the changes that can be made and the conditions under which such 
a change can be made are clear; 

136



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

A change of contractor cannot be realistically made for economic or technical 
reasons and would cause significant inconvenience or substantial duplication 
of the Council’s costs or circumstances have arisen that the Council could not 
reasonably have foreseen and that require an amendment to the existing 
Contract, in both cases provided that each change does not increase the 
Contract’s value by more than 50 per cent as a result 

- corporate restructures, takeovers and mergers 

- the modification is both below the EU procurement financial threshold and less 
than 10 per cent of the initial Contract value (where the contract is for goods or 
services) or less than 15 per cent of the initial Contact value, in the case of a 
works contract. 

- The proposed modifications are insubstantial 

11.2 Commissioners must consult CSG Procurement to confirm that any of the 
circumstances set out in section 11.1 above apply  permitting a Contract 
amendment,  extension or renewal and Commissioners must also comply 
with the Authorisation and Acceptance Thresholds in Article 10 of the 
Constitution, Table B. 

11.311.2 Placement Agreements for individuals in Social Care or Educational Needs 
may be varied or extended without reference to the Variation or Extension 
Acceptance levels and documentation set out in Article 10 of the 
Constitution, Table B. 

11.411.3 The value referred to in Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B in the 
column headed ‘Variation or extension Acceptance’ is the total value of the 
original Contract value plus the addition of the value of any extensions 
and/or variations i.e. the total value of the extended or varied Contract.   

11.511.4 In addition to the requirements of Regulation 72 Contracts may only be 
extended or varied if all of the following conditions have been met: 

 
-  the initial Contract was based on a Contract Procedure Rules compliant 

competitive tender or quotation process; 

-  the value of the extension or variation added to the value of the original 
Contract does not exceed the original Authorisation threshold as defined in 
Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B; 

-  the extension or variation has an approved Budget allocation; 

-  if the initial Contract was subject to an EU regulated tender procedure, that 
the extension option was declared within the OJEU contract notice and the 
original Acceptance report (Delegated Powers Report/relevant Committee 
Report);  

11.611.5 Where the Procurement results in a Contract which includes a provision for 
an extension, any Acceptance of that extension needs to be in accordance 
with Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B. 

137



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

11.711.6 If any of the conditions at 11.5 4 or 11.6  5  cannot be met, then a new 
Procurement exercise must be commenced. 

11.811.7 Where a variation or extension moves the total value of the Contract into a 
higher threshold, then acceptance must be sought in accordance with 
Article 10 of the Constitution, Table B. 

 

12 WAIVERS 

12.1 If the application of these Contract Procedure Rules prevents or inhibits the 
delivery or continuity of service,  Approved Officers (Heads of Service or 
above) may apply for a waiver. All applications for a waiver of these 
Contract Procedure Rules must be submitted to Policy and Resources 
Committee specifically identifying the reason for which a waiver is sought, 
including justification and risk. 

12.2  Approved Officers may take decisions on emergency matters (i.e. an 
unexpected occurrence requiring immediate action) in consultation with 
the Chairman of Policy and Resources Committee providing they report to 
the next available Policy and Resources Committee, setting out the reasons 
for the emergency waiver.  A copy of the relevant Policy and Resources 
Committee report must be provided to CSG Procurement and stored on 
the Council’s contract repository. 

12.3 Any waiver should only be granted for a maximum period of 12 months, 
except in exceptional cases. 

 
12.4 Waivers cannot be granted where this would breach the Law 
 
 

13 DEFINITIONS and INTERPRETATION 

13.1 “Acceptance” is the authorisation to enter into a Contract with a particular 
supplier(s) on the terms, conditions and at the price(s)  set out in the 
Contract documents.  

13.2 “Annual Procurement Forward Plan” (APFP) means the annual report 
compiled by the Council setting out their planned contractual 
Procurements for the forthcoming financial year and submitted to the 
Policy and Resources Committee for authorisation. 

13.3 “Approved Officer” means the Director, Assistant Director, Service Lead, 
Commissioning Director or Head of Service in accordance with the Scheme 
of Delegation who has responsibility for all Contracts tendered and let by 
their respective area of responsibility including Contract monitoring and 
Contract Management once Contract is in place. 

13.4 “Authorisation” is the approval required to enable any Procurement to 
occur. 

13.5 “Budget” is the annually agreed budget and supporting plans and 
strategies for each Delivery Unit. 

138



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

13.6 “Concession Contract” means a services concession contract or a works 
concession contract as defined in The Concession Contracts Regulations 
2016. They are contracts for pecuniary interest which consist either solely 
in the right to exploit the services or works that are the subject of the 
contract or in that right together with payment.  

13.7  “Contract” means a formal written agreement between the Council and 
the provider of any goods, services or works, including terms and 
conditions approved by Legal Services. 

13.8 “Contract Management” is the process of managing contracts to achieve 
optimal goods, works and services at optimal cost in accordance with the 
Council’s Contract Management Toolkit  

13.9 “Contracts Finder” means a web-based portal provided for the purposes of 
Part 4 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 by or on behalf of the 
Cabinet Office; 

13.10 “DPR” means Delegated Powers Report. Templates and guidance for 
completion are available from the Governance 

13.11 “Dynamic Purchasing System” is appropriate for commonly used 
purchases the characteristics of which, as generally available on the 
market, meet the Council’s requirements. The rules for using it are set out 
in regulation 34 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

13.12 “Emergency” where immediate action is needed to protect life or property 
or to maintain a critical service. Decisions that were not anticipated within 
the Budget or Budget plan but nevertheless relate to everyday business, 
not major changes/decisions outside the approved Budget and statutory 
plans. 

13.13 “EU financial threshold” means the financial threshold from time to time 
above which Procurement becomes subject to compliance with the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. 

13.14  “Framework agreement” is an agreement between one or more 
contracting authorities and one or more contractors, the purpose of which 
is to establish the terms governing contracts to be awarded during a given 
period, in particular with regard to price and, where appropriate, the 
quantity envisaged.  

13.15 “Law” means any law, statute, subordinate legislation within the meaning 
of section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, bye-law, enforceable right 
within the meaning of section 2 of the European Communities Act 1972, 
regulation, order, mandatory guidance or code of practice, judgment of a 
relevant court of law, or directives or requirements of any regulatory body 
with which the Council is bound to comply 

13.16 “Information Governance Policies” means the Council’s policies on 
managing and processing information accessible here [insert link] 

139



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

13.17  “Light Touch Regime”  refers to the contract award procedures applicable 
to contracts for services set out in schedule 3 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 which are valued at EUR 750,000 (or around £589,148) or 
more.  These contract opportunities and contract award notices must be 
advertised in OJEU and Contracts Finder. CSG Procurement will advise on 
the Procurement procedures to apply to these Contracts which will take 
into account the specifics of the services in question and which will ensure 
compliance with the principles of transparency and equal treatment of 
suppliers.  

13.18  “Non-Procurement” expenditure applies where the Council has to pay for 
a Service which it did not initiate or for payments where it is not 
appropriate to tender including (but not exclusively) inter-authority and 
inter-agency payments, subscriptions/memberships, emergency temporary 
accommodation for vulnerable people, assessments and recoupment. 

13.19 “OJEU” means the Official Journal of the European Union. 

13.20 “Procurement” means the acquisition by means of a public contract of 
works, goods or services by one or more contracting authorities from 
contractors chosen by those contracting authorities, whether or not the 
works, goods or services are intended for a public purpose.  This includes 
any activity which includes the identification of need, options appraisal and 
the execution of a competitive selection process, quotation or tendering 
process.  

13.21 “Procurement Toolkit” means the document issued by CSG Procurement 
that provides further guidance on compliant best practice Procurement   

13.22  “Public Contracts Regulations 2015” are the regulations implementing EU 
Directive 2014/24/EU of the European Parliament and Council into English 
Law 

13.23 “Purchase” means the activity which uses a mechanism to undertake 
procurement under the Council’s standard terms and conditions (Purchase 

Card or Purchase Order) or against an accepted contract. 

13.24  “Quotation” means a priced bid for the provision of goods, a service, or 
supply of works. 

13.25  “Reasonable means of selection” means an unbiased selection process 
based on the relative merits of the quotation provided and taking account 
of previous purchasing practices for goods, services or works of a similar 
type. This process would normally involve attaining more than one 
quotation, audit trail of action undertaken and confirmation from the 
relevant approved officer that budget is available and rationale for 
appointment is accepted.   The Council requires that consideration is given 
to local suppliers for requirements less than £10,000.  

13.26 “Scheme of Delegation” means the scheme of delegation of decision 
making to Council officers set out in the Council’s Constitution 

140



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

13.27 “Small Medium Enterprises” (SMEs) means the definition the UK 
government use based on the EU Definition of an SME as follows: 

• Micro Business = less than 10 employees & turnover under £2 million 

• Small Business = less than 50 employees & turnover under £10 million 

• Medium Business = Less than 250 employees & turnover under £50 million 
 

13.28 “SQ” means Selection Questionnaire in accordance with Procurement 
Policy Note (PPN) 8/16 regarding OJEU procurements.  Accessibility to the 
form will be via the procurement portal with expectation that suppliers 
complete and submit online. In accordance with Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 these questions are to be in the form of declarations with 
successful contractor to provide support documents at point of proceeding 
to contract award.   

13.29 “Suitability Assessment Question” means a question which relates to 
information or evidence which the Council requires for the purpose of 
assessing whether candidates meet requirements or minimum standards of 
suitability, capability, legal status or financial standing.  In accordance with 
Public Contract Regulations 2015 these questions are to be in the form of a 
declaration which the winning bidder is to provide at point of proceeding 
to contract award.  

13.30  “Support to Local Community”  refers to support through contract 
delivery to the communities which exist within London Borough of Barnet 
and delivery of benefit to these communities.  Benefit to include: 
consideration and provision of paid internships; apprenticeships; long term 
unemployed returning to work opportunities; and support to local 
schools/community groups. 

13.31 “Works” means building & engineering works, construction and 
refurbishment, including capital works.

141



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

Authorisation and Acceptance Thresholds 

 

 

 

Procurement 
value 

Authorisation 
to commence a 

procurement 
process & 

Documentation  

Procurement 
method 

Acceptance 
process & 

Documentation 

Variation or 
extension 

Acceptance & 
Documentation 

 
Supplier 

Notification 
method 

and 
contract 

A 

Under 
£10,000 

(Purchase 
Order)  

Approved 
Officer  

Authorisation 
documentation: 

Audit trail 

Reasonable - 
and evidence 

of having 
considered 

the local 
Barnet 

supplier 
market 

Approved 
Officer  

  Authorisation 
documentation: 

Audit trail 

 

Must move to 
next threshold 
if £10,000 or 

above 

Authorisation 
documentation: 

Audit trail  

 

 

Purchase 
Order 

B 
£10,000 –  
£50,000 

Approved 
Officer 

Authorisation 
documentation: 

Audit trail  

Minimum 2 
written 

quotations   

Approved 
Officer 

Authorisation 
documentation: 

Audit trail 

 

Must move to 
next threshold 

if above 
£50,000 

Authorisation 
documentation: 

Audit trail 

 
 
 

Purchase 
Order 

 
Signed 

contract 
over £25k 

value 

142



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

 

 

C 
£50,001 
– 
£164,175 

 

Approved 
Officer 

 Authorisation 
documentation: 

Chief Officer 
List of Decisions  

Minimum 2 
written 

quotations  

No SQ - 
Suitability 

Assessment 
Questions only  

Approved 
Officer  

Authorisation 
documentation: 

Chief Officer 
List of Decisions 

Chief 
Officer List 

of 
Decisions  

 

Signed 
contract  

D 
£164,176 

–  
£500,000 

Chief Officer in 
consultation 
with Theme 
Committee 
Chairman 

Authorisation 
documentation:   

Full DPR    

Services/Goods 
– OJEU Tender  

Works – 
Competitive 
Quotation 

Chief Officer in 
consultation 

with Committee 
Chairman  

Authorisation 
documentation:     

Full DPR  

If within 
Budget -
Relevant 
Thematic 

Committee 

Standstill 
Notification 

letter 
released 
following 
statutory 

officer 
report 
review 

Publication 
of report 

post 
standstill 

period 

Signed and 
sealed 

contract 

143



 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

December 2017March 2018 

 

 

 

E 
£500,000 

and 
above 

Authorisation 
documentation: 
Relevant Theme 

Committee 
Decision; or 

Procurement 
Forward Plan  

Competitive 
quotation for 

works 
contracts for 

values 
£500,000 to 
£4,104,393 

Works and 
Concession 

Contracts: Full 
OJEU Tender 

above 
£4,104,394 

Goods: Full 
OJEU Tender 

Services: Full 
OJEU Tender 

Health, 
educational, 
cultural and 
social care 

related 
services:  Light 
Touch Regime 
Tender above. 

£589,148) 

Authorisation 
documentation: 

If within 
Budget-  Full 

DPR 
(Committee 

Chairman 
jointly with 

chief officer) 

If not within 
Budget: 
Relevant 
Thematic 

Committee 
Report; or 
Policy and 
Resources 
Committee 

Report 

If within 
Budget -
Relevant 
Thematic 

Committee 

 

Standstill 
Notification 

letter 
released 
following 
statutory 

officer 
report 
review 

Publication 
of report 

post 
standstill 

period 

Signed and 
sealed 

contract 

144



RE Members’ Licensing Code 
March 2018

MEMBERS’ LICENSING CODE 
 

1 PURPOSE OF THIS CODE

1.1 This Licensing Code has been prepared to guide Members and Officers in the 
discharge of the Council’s statutory licensing functions. This Code will also 
inform potential applicants and the public generally of the high standards of 
ethical conduct expected of the Council in the exercise of its licensing powers.

1.2 Members should abide by both this Licensing Code and also the Code of 
Conduct for Members. 

1.3 The provisions of this Licensing Code are designed to ensure that licensing 
decisions are taken on proper licensing grounds and in a consistent and open 
manner. The Licensing Code is also designed to assist Members and Officers 
in dealing with approaches from applicants and residents.

1.4 If Members have any doubts about the application of this Licencing Code they 
should seek early advice preferably well before any meeting takes place from 
the Monitoring Officer.

2 CONTEXT

2.1 Licensing decisions are often based on balancing competing interests and 
making an informed judgement having taken account of all the evidence 
presented. Decision makers need to make fair and open decisions that are in 
the wider public interest on what can be controversial proposals regardless of 
personal or political allegiances.

2.2 Licensing decisions can be controversial.  Any application is likely to have 
significant impact on the neighbourhoods where people live and therefore 
they are subject to close public scrutiny.  

2.3 Licensing decisions can be appealed to the Magistrates Court, they can be 
challenged in the High Court and they can be the subject of a complaint to the 
Local Government Ombudsman. Members are required to act in a quasi-
judicial role, without reference to their political considerations and taking into 
account the issues which the law says are relevant to the decision.

2.4 One of the key aims of the licensing system is to balance private interests 
against the wider public interest.  Opposing views are often strongly held by 
those involved. Whilst Councillors who sit on licensing committees must take 
account of these views, they should not favour any person, company, group 
or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they may appear to be 
doing so.  

2.5 The aim of this Code is therefore to ensure that the Council’s processes are 
sound and that decisions are lawful, consistent and procedurally correct. 

145



RE Members’ Licensing Code 
March 2018

General roles of Councillors and officers 

2.6 Members and officers have different but complementary roles. Both serve the 
public. Officers are responsible to the Council as a whole through the Chief 
Executive, whilst Members are responsible to the electorate. In licensing 
matters, unlike planning, officers present only the facts and do not form a view 
as this is for Members of the committee alone to determine.

2.7 Members must not put pressure on officers to deal with a licensing matter in a 
particular way. This does not prevent a Councillor from asking questions or 
submitting views to an officer. These views, when received in written form, will 
be placed on the licensing file and considered together with other material 
licensing considerations. 

2.9 When Members are making Licensing decisions, they must be open-minded: 
a Member must not make up his/her mind until s/he has heard all the relevant 
evidence, which will not happen until the meeting itself. 

3 MEMBER INTERESTS

3.1 It is always best to identify a potential interest early on. If a Councillor thinks 
that they may have an interest in a particular matter to be discussed at a 
Licensing Committee he or she should raise this with the Monitoring Officer as 
soon as possible.

3.2 The following general advice should be considered by all Members likely to 
become involved in the Licensing process in any way:

 An application relating to premises in the vicinity of where a Member lives 
or has a legal interest in property is likely to involve a pecuniary interest as 
it may affect the Member’s wellbeing. 

 A Member being a frequent visitor to the premises in a personal capacity is 
likely to involve a pecuniary interest as the decision may affect the 
Member’s wellbeing. 

 A Member belonging to a lobby or campaign group that may be directly 
impacted by the outcome of an application is likely to have a pecuniary 
interest. 

3.3 Where a Member has a pecuniary interest relating to an application s/he may 
not sit on the committee (including sub-committee) hearing that application. 
Any Member, whether or not a Member of the committee, with a pecuniary 
interest is precluded from making representations orally to the committee 
either as a Member or in a private capacity and precluded from making 
representations on behalf of a party to the hearing.  

3.4 A Member with a pecuniary interest can still present their views to the 
committee through other means:

 make written representations to officers; the existence and nature of the 
interest should be disclosed in such representations and the Councillor 
should not seek preferential consideration for their representations;

146



RE Members’ Licensing Code 
March 2018

 arrange for another Member to represent the views of the Councillor’s 
constituents.

4 PREDISPOSITION, PREDETERMINATION AND BIAS
 

4.1 Licensing Committee Members need to avoid any appearance of bias or of 
having predetermined their views before taking a decision on a planning 
application, on planning policies or on other planning matters, such as 
enforcement. Avoidance of bias or predetermination or the appearance of bias 
or predetermination is a legal requirement that the decision maker must 
respect.

4.2 A distinction needs to be made between situations which involve 
predetermination or bias on the one hand and predisposition on the other. The 
former is indicative of a “closed mind” approach and likely to leave the 
committee’s decision susceptible to legal challenge by Judicial Review. 

4.3 Clearly expressing an intention to vote in a particular way before a meeting 
(predetermination) is different from where a Member makes it clear they are 
willing to listen to all the material considerations presented at the committee 
and keep an open mind before deciding on how to exercise their vote 
(predisposition). The latter is acceptable, the former is not and may result in a 
Court quashing such planning decisions. 

4.4 The law provides that a Member should not be regarded as having a closed 
mind simply because they previously did or said something that, directly or 
indirectly, indicated what view they might take in relation to any particular 
matter. This reflects the common law position that a Councillor may be 
predisposed on a matter before it comes to Committee, provided they remain 
open to listening to all the arguments and changing their mind in the light of all 
the information presented at the meeting. Nevertheless, a Councillor in this 
position will always be judged against an objective test of whether the 
reasonable onlooker, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would consider 
that the Member was biased. 

4.5 For example, a Member who states “Windfarms are blots on the landscape 
and I will oppose each and every windfarm application that comes before the 
committee” will be perceived very differently from a Councillor who states: 
“Many people find windfarms ugly and noisy and I will need a lot of 
persuading that any more windfarms should be allowed in our area”. The 
former has a closed mind and is predetermined, whereas the latter is 
predisposed but still has an open mind.

4.6 A Licensing Committee Member who has been lobbied and wishes to support 
their constituents or is a Ward Councillor and wishes to campaign for or 
against a proposal will not be able to sit on the committee hearing the 
proposal as this would amount to predetermination. 

147



RE Members’ Licensing Code 
March 2018

4.7 Participation as a Member in a Licensing Committee where a Member is or 
may be perceived to be biased, in addition to the risk of a complaint against 
the individual Member, also places the decision of the Committee at risk from 
legal challenge. As such, if a Licensing Committee Member considers that 
they are or have given the impression that they are biased or predetermined 
they must carefully consider whether it is appropriate for them to participate in 
the matter. 

4.8 A Member should stand down from any agenda item where they have a 
relevant and current or recent private business or personal relationship and 
association with any applicant or applicant’s representative. If in doubt about 
this Members should speak with the Monitoring Officer or his/her 
representative before any decision is made.

5 APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED BY THE COUNCIL, COUNCILLORS 
(MEMBERS) OR OFFICERS 

5.1 Licence applications by the council for its own use could give rise to 
suspicions of impropriety. It is perfectly legitimate for such proposals to be 
submitted to and determined by the Council. Proposals for licences 
associated with the council’s own use will be treated no differently from any 
other application.

5.2 Certain Members may through their other roles outside of a Licensing 
Committee, have been heavily committed to or involved in a Council’s own 
development proposal. In such circumstances, when an item comes to be 
considered at Committee the Member concerned, if they sit on the 
Committee, must consider whether they have an interest or degree of 
involvement with the proposals that could give the impression of bias. If in 
doubt, they are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer. 
Applications submitted by Members or officers.

5.3 It is perfectly legitimate for licensing applications to be submitted by 
Councillors and officers. However, it is vital to ensure that they are handled in 
a way that gives no grounds for accusations of bias or pre-determination. 

5.4 If a Member or an officer submits their own proposal to the Council which they 
serve, they should take no part in its processing and/or determination. A 
Member who acts as an agent or representative for someone pursuing a 
licensing matter with the authority should also take no part in its processing 
and/or its determination.

5.5 Where decisions relate to applications made by Members of staff or an 
elected Member these should be reported to Committee where they relate to 
the following:

 Members of the Council
 Senior officers of the Council (Service Head and above)
 Officers of the Local Licensing Authority.

5.6 The term “Officers of the Local Licensing Authority” means officers within the 
Council who are closely involved in the day-to-day work of the Council’s 

148



RE Members’ Licensing Code 
March 2018

licensing function and include all external persons such as lawyers, 
contractors and advisors who work for the Local Licensing Authority.

6 LOBBYING  

6.1 Lobbying is not a permitted part of the licensing process. Those who may be 
affected by a licensing decision, whether through an application, a site 
allocation in a development plan or an emerging policy, will often seek to 
influence it through an approach to their Ward Councillor or to a Member of 
the Licensing Committee.
 

6.2 A Licensing Committee Member should explain to those lobbying or 
attempting to lobby them that the law does not allow them to discuss the 
matter before the hearing. Licensing Committee Members should therefore:

 suggest to lobbyists that they write to the Licensing Service in order that 
their views can be included in the officer reports prepared for 
determination under delegated powers or by Committee; 

 pass on any lobbying correspondence received (including plans, data, 
correspondence in respect of an application) to the Licensing Service as 
soon as practicably possible so that, if appropriate, it can be taken into 
account and included in the report on the application; 

 remember that their overriding duty is to the whole community not just to 
the residents and businesses within their ward and that they have a duty to 
make decisions impartially and should not improperly favour, or appear to 
improperly favour, any person, company, group or locality; 

 not accept gifts or hospitality from any person involved in or affected by a 
licensing proposal, but if a degree of hospitality is unavoidable (eg 
refreshments at a meeting), ensure that they comply with the provisions in 
the Members’ Code of Conduct on gifts and hospitality and inform the 
Monitoring Officer where they feel that they have been exposed to undue 
or excessive lobbying. 

7 POST-SUBMISSION DISCUSSIONS
 

7.1 A Licensing Committee Member should not usually be involved in discussions 
with an applicant or agent when a licensing application has been submitted 
and remains to be determined. Potentially, these discussions could be 
interpreted, particularly by objectors to a proposal, as an indicator of 
predetermination or bias. 

7.2 In limited circumstances Licensing Committee Members may legitimately 
engage in post-submission discussions.

7.3 If a Licensing Committee Member is contacted by the applicant, their agent or 
objectors, they should follow the rules on lobbying and consider whether or 
not it would be prudent in the circumstances to make notes when contacted. A 
Licensing Committee Member should report to the chief licensing officers any 
significant contact with the applicant or other parties, explaining the nature 
and purpose of the contacts and their involvement in them, so that it can be 
recorded on the licensing file. 

149



RE Members’ Licensing Code 
March 2018

7.4 Licensing Committee Members should not attend post-submission meetings 
that are not organised through officers. 

7.5 Members should report any substantive discussion with applicants to the chief 
licensing officer.

8 SITE VISITS

8.1 The purpose of a site visit conducted by Members and officers is to gain 
information relating to the land or buildings which are the subject of the 
licensing application and which would not be apparent from the licensing 
application to be considered by a Licensing Committee. A site visit may also 
assist Members in matters relating to the context of the application in relation 
to the characteristics of the surrounding area. Discussions on site visits shall 
be confined to the application as currently submitted.

8.2 The Chairman (or Member chairing the visit) shall explain the purpose of the 
visit and how it will be conducted to all persons present at the site visit.

8.3 Under the Chairman’s guidance the role of the Licensing Officer attending the 
site visit will be to brief Members on the licensing applications(s) the subject of 
the visit.

8.4 Officers shall ensure, where practical, that applicants and Members are 
invited to attend the visit and that they are able to view all key parts within or 
adjoining the site.

8.5  Whilst on site visits, Members of Licensing Committee should not express an 
opinion on the licensing application or its merits, and should avoid making 
comments or acting in a way which makes it clear beyond doubt that they 
have a completely closed mind, as this would amount to predetermination. 

8.6 A site visit should not be on the basis of exposing Members of the Licensing 
Committee (including sub-committees) to local opinion but should be to 
explore the licensing issues in the application.

10. LICENSING APPEALS

10.1 Licensing decisions can be appealed to the Magistrates Court, they can be   
challenged in the High Court and they can be the subject of a complaint to the 
Local Government Ombudsman. Members are required to act in a quasi-
judicial role, without reference to their political considerations and taking into 
account the issues which the law says are relevant to the decision.

10.2 An appeal against the decision of the Licensing Committee is made to the 
Court while a complaint about the way in which that decision was made can 
be made to the Ombudsman

10.3 Where the Licensing Committee refuses an application and there is an appeal 
Members may attend the appeal as observers if they so wish. The decision of 

150



RE Members’ Licensing Code 
March 2018

the Committee will be documented in the minute and set out in the decision 
notice. 

 11. LICENSING ENFORCEMENT

 11.1 Members should bring to the attention of the Licensing Service suspected 
breaches of licensing law so that they may be investigated to see whether any 
action is possible or necessary. They should bring these to the attention of the 
chief licensing officer.

 12. COUNCILLOR TRAINING

 12.1 All new Members, newly appointed Chairmen and returning Members of the 
Council’s Licensing Committees should attend annual induction or refresher 
training at the earliest date possible and ideally before the first committee 
meeting. Other Members are encouraged to attend the training so that they 
can ensure that they keep up-to-date on these matters. 

13 MEETINGS OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE

13.1 No material revision to any licensing application which might lead to a change 
in the officer recommendation shall be considered at any Licencing 
Committee unless it has been submitted at least 14 clear days before the 
relevant Licensing Committee meeting, and has been the subject of a written 
report prepared by the licensing department and any necessary public 
consultation has taken place.

13.2 Where there is any doubt as to the voting or of the actual counting of votes in 
relation to any particular application, clarification should be immediately 
sought by the Chairman prior to dealing with the next agenda item This may 
be by recorded vote. 

13.3   The Chairman should ensure:

 Members' comments at Committee only relate to the licensing merits of the 
application before them;

 reference at Committee to non-licensing issues by Members and those 
giving evidence are discouraged;

 the cross-questioning of speakers should only take place if there is need 
for clarification of what a speaker has already outlined; 

 Residents and applicants understand that the late submission of further 
representations could lead to the deferral of the meeting and the further 
representations may not be permitted without agreement of all parties.

151



This page is intentionally left blank



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

1 
 

 

Members’ Licensing Code  
  

 

1 PURPOSE OF THIS CODE 

 

1.1 This Licensing Code has been prepared to guide Members and Officers in the 
discharge of the Council’s statutory licensing functions. This Code will also 
inform potential applicants and the public generally of the high standards of 
ethical conduct expected of the Council in the exercise of its licensing powers. 
 

1.2 Members should abide by both this Licensing Code and also the Code of 
Conduct for Members.  
 

1.3 The provisions of this Licensing Code are designed to ensure that licensing 
decisions are taken on proper licensing grounds and in a consistent and open 
manner. The Licensing Code is also designed to assist Members and Officers 
in dealing with approaches from applicants and residents. 
 

1.4 If Members have any doubts about the application of this Licencing Code they 
should seek early advice preferably well before any meeting takes place from 
the Monitoring Officer. 
 

 

2 CONTEXT 
 

2.1 Licensing decisions are often based on balancing competing interests and 
making an informed judgement having taken account of all the evidence 
presented. Decision makers need to make fair and open decisions that are in 
the wider public interest on what can be controversial proposals regardless of 
personal or political allegiances. 

2.2 Licensing decisions can be controversial.  Any application is likely to have 
significant impact on the neighbourhoods where people live and therefore 
they are subject to close public scrutiny.   

2.3 Licensing decisions can be appealed to the Magistrates Court, they can be 
challenged in the High Court and they can be the subject of a complaint to the 
Local Government Ombudsman. Members are required to act in a quasi-
judicial role, without reference to their political considerations and taking into 
account the issues which the law says are relevant to the decision. 

2.4 One of the key aims of the licensing system is to balance private interests 
against the wider public interest.  Opposing views are often strongly held by 
those involved. Whilst Councillors who sit on licensing committees must take 
account of these views, they should not favour any person, company, group 
or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they may appear to be 
doing so.   

2.5 The aim of this Code is therefore to ensure that the Council’s processes are 
sound and that decisions are lawful, consistent and procedurally correct.  

153



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

2 
 

 

General roles of Councillors and officers  

 

2.6 Councillors and officers have different but complementary roles. Both serve 
the public. Officers are responsible to the Council as a whole through the 
Chief Executive, whilst Members are responsible to the electorate. In licensing 
matters, unlike planning, officers present only the facts and do not form a view 
as this is for Members of the committee alone to determine. 

2.7 Licensing officers’ views, opinions and recommendations will be presented on 
the basis of their overriding obligation of professional independence, which 
may on occasion be at odds with the views, opinions or decisions of the 
Committee or its Members.(officers are completely neutral)  

2.8 Members must not put pressure on officers to put forward a particular 
recommendation or deal with a licensing matter in a particular way. This does 
not prevent a Councillor from asking questions or submitting views to an 
officer. These views, when received in written form, will be placed on the 
licensing file and considered together with other material licensing 
considerations.  

2.9 When Members are making Licensing decisions, they must be open-minded: 
a Member must not make up his/her mind until s/he has heard all the relevant 
evidence, which will not happen until the meeting itself.  

 

3 MEMBER INTERESTS 
 

3.1 It is always best to identify a potential interest early on. If a Councillor thinks 
that they may have an interest in a particular matter to be discussed at a 
Licensing Committee he or she should raise this with the Monitoring Officer as 
soon as possible. 

3.2 The following general advice should be considered by all Members likely to 
become involved in the Licensing process in any way: 
 

• An application relating to premises in the vicinity of where a Member 
lives or has a legal interest in property is likely to involve a pecuniary 
interest as it may affect the Member’s wellbeing.  

• A Member being a frequent visitor to the premises in a personal 
capacity is likely to involve a pecuniary interest as the decision may 
affect the Member’s wellbeing.  

• A Member belonging to a lobby or campaign group that may be directly 
impacted by the outcome of an application is likely to have a pecuniary 
interest.  

 

154



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

3 
 

3.3 Where a Member has a pecuniary interest relating to an application s/he may 
not sit on the committee (including sub-committee) hearing that application. 
Any Member, whether or not a Member of the committee, with a pecuniary 
interest is precluded from making representations orally to the committee 
either as a Member or in a private capacity and precluded from making 
representations on behalf of a party to the hearing. item under discussion, the 
Councillor may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting 
or participate in any vote on the matter. There is no obligation for that 
Councillor to withdraw from the Chamber although this is advisable so that it 
is transparently clear that the Member concerned has not taken part in the 
determination of this particular item. This also means that a Councillor with a 
pecuniary interest is precluded from making representations orally to the 
committee, either as a Councillor or in a private capacity, and precluded from 
making representations on behalf of a party to the hearing.  

 

3.4 A Councillor with a pecuniary interest can still present their views to the 
committee through other means: 

• make written representations to officers; the existence and nature of the 
interest should be disclosed in such representations and the Councillor 
should not seek preferential consideration for their representations; 
 

• arrange for another Member to represent the views of the Councillor’s 
constituents. 

 

4 PREDISPOSITION, PREDETERMINATION AND BIAS 
  

4.1 Licensing Committee Members need to avoid any appearance of bias or of 
having predetermined their views before taking a decision on a planning 
application, on planning policies or on other planning matters, such as 
enforcement. Avoidance of bias or predetermination or the appearance of bias 
or predetermination is a legal requirement that the decision maker must 
respect. 

4.2 A distinction needs to be made between situations which involve 
predetermination or bias on the one hand and predisposition on the other. The 
former is indicative of a “closed mind” approach and likely to leave the 
committee’s decision susceptible to legal challenge by Judicial Review.  

4.3 Clearly expressing an intention to vote in a particular way before a meeting 
(predetermination) is different from where a Councillor makes it clear they are 
willing to listen to all the material considerations presented at the committee 
and keep an open mind before deciding on how to exercise their vote 
(predisposition). The latter is acceptable, the former is not and may result in a 
Court quashing such planning decisions.  

155



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

4 
 

4.4 The law provides that a Councillor should not be regarded as having a closed 
mind simply because they previously did or said something that, directly or 
indirectly, indicated what view they might take in relation to any particular 
matter. This reflects the common law position that a Councillor may be 
predisposed on a matter before it comes to Committee, provided they remain 
open to listening to all the arguments and changing their mind in the light of all 
the information presented at the meeting. Nevertheless, a Councillor in this 
position will always be judged against an objective test of whether the 
reasonable onlooker, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would consider 
that the Councillor was biased.  

4.5 For example, a Councillor who states “Windfarms are blots on the landscape 
and I will oppose each and every windfarm application that comes before the 
committee” will be perceived very differently from a Councillor who states: 
“Many people find windfarms ugly and noisy and I will need a lot of 
persuading that any more windfarms should be allowed in our area”. The 
former has a closed mind and is predetermined, whereas the latter is 
predisposed but still has an open mind. 

4.6 A Licensing Committee Member who has been lobbied and wishes to support 
their constituents or is a Ward Councillor and wishes to campaign for or 
against a proposal will not be able to sit on the committee hearing the 
proposal as this would amount to predetermination. need to consider whether 
this is likely to be regarded as amounting to bias and going against the fair 
determination of the licensing application. If they have predetermined their 
position or have given that impression, they should avoid being part of the 
decision-making body for that application.  

4.7 Participation as a Member in a Licensing Committee where a Councillor is or 
may be perceived to be biased, in addition to the risk of a complaint against 
the individual Councillor, also places the decision of the Committee at risk 
from legal challenge. As such, if a Licensing Committee Member considers 
that they are or have given the impression that they are biased or 
predetermined they must carefully consider whether it is appropriate for them 
to participate in the matter.  

4.8 A Member should stand down from any agenda item where they have a 
relevant and current or recent private business or personal relationship and 
association with any applicant or applicant’s representative. If in doubt about 
this Members should speak with the Monitoring Officer or his/her 
representative before any decision is made. 

 

5 APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED BY THE COUNCIL, COUNCILLORS OR 
OFFICERS  

5.1 Licence applications by the council for its own use could give rise to 
suspicions of impropriety. It is perfectly legitimate for such proposals to be 
submitted to and determined by the Council. Proposals for licences 
associated with the council’s own use will be treated no differently from any 
other application.  

156



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

5 
 

5.2 Certain Councillors may through their other roles outside of a Licensing 
Committee, have been heavily committed to or involved in a Council’s own 
development proposal. In such circumstances, when an item comes to be 
considered at Committee the Councillor concerned, if they sit on the 
Committee, must consider whether they have an interest or degree of 
involvement with the proposals that could give the impression of bias. If in 
doubt, they are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer. 
Applications submitted by Councillors or officers. 

5.3 It is perfectly legitimate for licensing applications to be submitted by 
Councillors and officers. However, it is vital to ensure that they are handled in 
a way that gives no grounds for accusations of bias or pre-determination.  

5.4 If a Councillor or an officer submits their own proposal to the Council which 
they serve, they should take no part in its processing and/or determination. A 
Councillor who acts as an agent or representative for someone pursuing a 
licensing matter with the authority should also take no part in its processing 
and/or its determination.  

5.5     Where decisions relate to applications made by Members of staff or an elected 
Member these should be reported to Committee where they relate to the 
following: 

• Members of the Council 

• Senior officers of the Council (Service Head and above) 

• Officers of the Local Licensing Authority. 
 
5.6 The term “Officers of the Local Licensing Authority” means officers within the 

Council who are closely involved in the day-to-day work of the Council’s 
licensing function and include all external persons such as lawyers, 
contractors and advisors who work for the Local Licensing Authority. 

 
 
 

6 LOBBYING   
 

6.1 Lobbying is not a permitted a normal part of the licensing process. Those who 
may be affected by a licensing decision, whether through an application, a site 
allocation in a development plan or an emerging policy, will often seek to 
influence it through an approach to their Ward Councillor or to a Member of 
the Licensing Committee.  

6.2 It is essential for the proper operation of the licensing system that local 
concerns are adequately ventilated. The most effective and suitable way that 
this can be done is through the local elected representatives, the councillors 
themselves.  

6.3 Lobbying, however, can lead to the impartiality and integrity of a Councillor 
being called into question, unless care and common sense is exercised by all 
the parties involved.  

157



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

6 
 

6.4 A Licensing Committee Member should explain to those lobbying or 
attempting to lobby them that the law does not allow them to discuss the 
matter before the hearing. , whilst they can listen to what is said, it may 
prejudice their impartiality and ability to participate in the Committee's decision 
making if they are asked to express either an intention to vote one way or 
another or such a firm point of view that it amounts to the same thing. 
Licensing Committee Members should ensure that it is made clear to any 
lobbyists that they will only be in a position to reach a final decision on any 
licensing matter after they have heard all of the relevant arguments and 
looked at the relevant information during the sitting of the determining 
Committee.  

6.56.2 Licensing Committee Members should therefore: 

• suggest to lobbyists that they write to the Licensing Service in order that 
their views can be included in the officer reports prepared for 
determination under delegated powers or by Committee;  
 

• pass on any lobbying correspondence received (including plans, data, 
correspondence in respect of an application) to the Licensing Service as 
soon as practicably possible so that, if appropriate,  it can be taken into 
account and included in the report on the application;  

 

• remember that their overriding duty is to the whole community not just to 
the residents and businesses within their ward and that they have a duty to 
make decisions impartially and should not improperly favour, or appear to 
improperly favour, any person, company, group or locality;  

 

• not accept gifts or hospitality from any person involved in or affected by a 
licensing proposal, but if a degree of hospitality is unavoidable (eg 
refreshments at a meeting), ensure that they comply with the provisions in 
the Members’ Code of Conduct on gifts and hospitality and inform the  
Monitoring Officer where they feel that they have been exposed to undue 
or excessive lobbying.  
 

 

7 POST-SUBMISSION DISCUSSIONS 
  

7.1 A Licensing Committee Member should not usually be involved in discussions 
with an applicant or agent when a licensing application has been submitted 
and remains to be determined. Potentially, these discussions could be 
interpreted, particularly by objectors to a proposal, as an indicator of 
predetermination or bias.  

7.2 In limited circumstances Licensing Committee Members may legitimately 
engage in post-submission discussions. 

158



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

7 
 

7.3 If a Licensing Committee Member is contacted by the applicant, their agent or 
objectors, they should follow the rules on lobbying and consider whether or 
not it would be prudent in the circumstances to make notes when contacted. A 
Licensing Committee Member should report to the chief licensing officers any 
significant contact with the applicant or other parties, explaining the nature 
and purpose of the contacts and their involvement in them, so that it can be 
recorded on the licensing planning file.  

7.4 Licensing Committee Members should not attend post-submission meetings 
that are not organised through officers.  

7.5 Councillors should report any substantive discussion with applicants to the 
chief licensing officer. 

 

8 SITE VISITS 

8.1 The purpose of a site visit conducted by Members and officers is to gain 
information relating to the land or buildings which are the subject of the 
licensing application and which would not be apparent from the licensing 
application to be considered by a Licensing Committee. A site visit may also 
assist Members in matters relating to the context of the application in relation 
to the characteristics of the surrounding area. Discussions on site visits shall 
be confined to the application as currently submitted. 

8.2 The Chairman (or Member chairing the visit) shall explain the purpose of the 
visit and how it will be conducted to all persons present at the site visit. 
 

8.3 Under the Chairman’s guidance the role of the Licensing Officer attending the 
site visit will be to brief Members on the licensing applications(s) the subject 
of the visit. 
 

8.4 Officers shall ensure, where practical, that applicants and Members are invited 
to attend the visit and that they are able to view all key parts within or 
adjoining the site. 
 

8.5  Whilst on site visits, Members of Licensing Committee should not express an 
opinion on the licensing application or its merits, and should avoid making 
comments or acting in a way which makes it clear beyond doubt that they 
have a completely closed mind, as this would amount to predetermination.  

  
8.6 Members of the licensing committee who were not present at a pre-arranged 

site visit should not seek to defer consideration of the licensing application. 
 

8.7 A site visit should not be on the basis of exposing Members of the Licensing 
Committee (including sub-committees) to local opinion but should be to 
explore the licensing issues in the application. 
 

 
10. LICENSING APPEALS 
 
10.1 Licensing decisions can be appealed to the Magistrates Court, they can be   

challenged in the High Court and they can be the subject of a complaint to the 

159



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

8 
 

Local Government Ombudsman. Members are required to act in a quasi-
judicial role, without reference to their political considerations and taking into 
account the issues which the law says are relevant to the decision. 

 
10.2 An appeal against the decision of the Licensing Committee is made to the 

Court while a complaint about the way in which that decision was made can 
be made to the Ombudsman 

 
10.3 Where the Licensing Committee refuses an application and there is an appeal 

one Member of the Committee should attend any appeal on behalf of the 
Council and other Members may attend as observers if they so wish. The 
decision of the Committee will be documented in the minute and set out in the 
decision notice. The licensing officer will present the Council's case on its 
licensing merits, in accordance with the Committee's decision with such 
assistance from the nominated Committee Member as may be required. 

 
 
11. LICENSING ENFORCEMENT 

 11.1 Councillors should bring to the attention of the Licensing Service suspected 
breaches of licensing law so that they may be investigated to see whether any 
action is possible or necessary. They should bring these to the attention of the 
chief licensing officer. 

 

12. COUNCILLOR TRAINING 

 12.1 All new Members, newly appointed Chairmen and returning Members of the 
Council’s Licensing Committees should attend annual induction or refresher 
training at the earliest date possible and ideally before the first committee 
meeting. Other Members are encouraged to attend the training so that they 
can ensure that they keep up-to-date on these matters.  

 

13 MEETINGS OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

13.1  No material revision to any licensing application which might lead to a change 
in the officer recommendation shall be considered at any Licencing Committee 
unless it has been submitted at least 14 clear days before the relevant 
Licensing Committee meeting, and has been the subject of a written report 
prepared by the licensing department and any necessary public consultation 
has taken place. 

 
13.2 Where there is any doubt as to the voting or of the actual counting of votes in 

relation to any particular application, clarification should be immediately 
sought by the Chairman prior to dealing with the next agenda item This may 
be by recorded vote.  

 
13.3   The Chairman should ensure: 
 

• Members' comments at Committee only relate to the licensing merits of the 
application before them; 

160



RE 
Members’ Licensing Code – March 2018 

9 
 

• reference at Committee to non-licensing issues by Members and those giving 
evidence are discouraged; 

• the cross-questioning of speakers should only take place if there is need for 
clarification of what a speaker has already outlined;  

• Residents and applicants understand that the late submission of further 
representations evidence could lead to the deferral of the meeting and the 
further representations may not be permitted without agreement of all 
parties. 

 

161



This page is intentionally left blank



Article 9 - Chief Officers
March 2018

Article 9 – Chief Officers 

9.1 Management Structure 

(a) General. The Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it 
considers necessary to carry out its functions. Apart from those officers referred 
to in (b) immediately below, all officers are appointed by the Chief Executive.

(b) Chief Officers. Members will appoint staff for the following posts, who will be 
designated Chief Officers: 

Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service)
Deputy Chief Executive
Assistant Chief Executive
Strategic Director, Children and Young People
Strategic Director, Adults, Communities and Health
Strategic Director, Environment
Director of Resources (Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer)
Director of Public Health
 
Delegated Authority to Chief Executive and Chief Officers 

(i) Chief Officers (Deputy Chief Executive, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Strategic Directors for Adults, Children and Environment, Director of 
Resources) have the following delegated powers in respect of all matters which 
are not key decisions (as defined in Article 2) and not reserved for decision by 
the Council or by a Committee of the Council:

(a) to make decisions and approve expenditure relating to their 
functions and the functions of their Department, where necessary in 
accordance with (b) and (c) below, and providing (1) that the sum 
expended is within the approved budget for the Department and/or 
relevant portfolio, and (2) the amount in relation to any single matter 
does not exceed £181,302. 

(b) to determine employment matters relating to staff including all 
changes to staffing structures. This power will not include changes to 
terms and conditions of employment or additional payments to any 
individual member of staff above £100K.

(c) to approve tender strategies and award contracts in accordance 
with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules within Part 2 of the 
Constitution.

(d) the Chief Executive has all the above delegated authority and as 
may be necessary, determine which Department discharges any 
particular Council function if this is not clear.

163



Article 9 - Chief Officers
March 2018

 (ii) These powers may be delegated further under a Scheme of Delegation 
and powers are also delegated to all officers in accordance with their job 
description and department budget.

(iii) Officers should ensure that delegated powers are exercised in 
accordance with relevant Council policies and procedures and all decisions 
with a value of £50,000 or more made by officers under delegated powers 
should be listed in writing and a copy of the list for each Department produced 
to the Chief Executive and the Leader on the 30th September and 31st March of 
each year.

(iv) The Chief Executive and Chief Officers may exercise voting rights at 
general meetings of companies of which the Council is a member or by written 
resolution and may take any necessary action to protect, safeguard and 
effectively manage the Council’s interest in such companies. 
 

(c) Statutory Officers 

The Council will designate the following posts as shown: 

Post Statutory Designation 
Chief Executive Head of Paid Service 

Chief Legal Advisor Monitoring Officer 

Director of Resources Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer

Strategic Director, Children 
and Young People 

Director of Children’s Services

Strategic Director, Adults 
Communities and Health 

Director for Adult Social Services

Director of Public Health Director of Public Health

Data Protection Officer Data Protection Officer

9.2 Functions of Head of Paid Service 

(a) Discharge of functions by the Council. The Head of Paid Service will report 
to full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions 
is co-ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of 
functions and the organisation of officers. 

(b) Restriction of functions. The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring 
Officer or the Data Protection Officer, but may hold the post of Chief Finance 
Officer if a qualified accountant. 
 

164



Article 9 - Chief Officers
March 2018

(c) The Head of Paid Service has authority over all other chief officers so far as is 
necessary for efficient management and for carrying out the Council’s 
functions. 

9.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 

(a) Maintaining the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Head of Governance, will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and 
will ensure that it is available for consultation by Members, staff and the public. 

(b) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making. After consulting with 
the Head of Paid Service and the Assistant Chief Executive, the Monitoring 
Officer will report to the full council if s/he considers that any proposal, decision 
or omission which is referred by Harrow and Barnet Public Law or which is 
otherwise notified to him/her, would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision 
or omission so referred would give rise to maladministration. Such a report will 
have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the 
report has been considered. 

(c) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of council operating procedures. After 
consulting with the Head of Governance and the relevant senior line manager 
the Monitoring Officer will report to the Head of Paid Service and the Assistant 
Chief Executive any council process or procedure which s/he considers would 
give rise to unlawfulness or if any such process or procedure would give rise to 
maladministration. 

(d) Managing the relationship with Harrow & Barnet Public Law. As Chief 
Legal Advisor within the council, responsibility to manage the strategic 
relationship with Harrow & Barnet Public Law to ensure the council continues to 
be provided with a legal service which meets its needs and to advise the Head 
of Paid Service and Assistant Chief Executive where any risks are identified.  

(e) Supporting the Constitution, Ethics and Probity Committee. The 
Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high 
standards of conduct through provision of support to the Constitution, Ethics 
and Probity Committee. 

(f) Conducting investigations. The Monitoring Officer will conduct or appoint 
Officers or others to conduct investigations into allegations of breach of the 
Member Code of Conduct. Then s/he or they will make reports and 
recommendations in respect of such allegations in accordance with the 
procedure for handling complaints against Members. 

(g) Providing legal advice. The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the 
scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial 
impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all councillors. 

(h) Register of Members Interests. The Monitoring Officer will keep and maintain 
the Register of Members Interests and ensure its availability to the public. 

(i) Restriction of functions. The Monitoring Officer may not hold the post of Data 
Protection Officer.

165



Article 9 - Chief Officers
March 2018

 

9.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer 

(a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-making. After 
consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief 
Finance Officer will report to the full Council and the council’s external auditor if 
he or she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve 
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency or if the council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

(b) Estimates and resources. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 
to advise on robustness of estimates and level of resources. 

(c) Administration of financial affairs. The Chief Finance Officer will have 
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the council. 

(d) Providing financial advice. The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on 
the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all 
councillors and will support and advise councillors and officers in their 
respective roles. 

(e) Give financial information. The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial 
information to the media, members of the public and the community. 

9.5 Functions of the Director of Children’s Services

(a) The Council as a children’s services authority is required by the Children Act 
2004 to appoint an officer to be known as the Director of Children's Services.  
The Strategic Director, Children and Young People will fulfil the role of the 
Director of Children’s Services.

(b) The Director of Children’s Services is responsible for the delivery of the 
Council’s education and social services functions for children, and any health 
functions for children delegated to the Council by an NHS body and as required 
by the Children Act 2004.

9.6 Functions of the Director of Adult Social Services

(a) The Strategic Director, Adults Communities and Health will fulfil the role of the 
Director for Adult Social Services as required by the Local Authority Health 
Social Services Act 1970, as amended by the Children Act 2004.

(b) The Strategic Director, Adults Communities and Health is responsible for the 
delivery of the Council’s social services functions, other than those for which 
the Council’s Director of Children’s Services is responsible under the Children 
Act 2004.

166



Article 9 - Chief Officers
March 2018

9.7 Functions of the Director of Public Health (DPH)

(a) The DPH is responsible for writing the Annual Report on the health of the local 
population.

(b) The DPH is responsible for all of the local authority’s duties to take steps to 
improve public health.

(c) The DPH is responsible for exercising the local authority’s functions in planning 
for, and responding to, emergencies that present a risk to public health.

(d) The DPH is responsible for exercising the local authority’s role in co-operating 
with the Police, the Probation Service and the Prison Service to assess the 
risks posed by violent or sexual offenders.

(e) The DPH is responsible for the local authority’s public health response as a 
responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003, such as making 
representations about licensing applications.

(f) The DPH is responsible for exercising the local authority’s duties to ensure 
plans are in place to protect their population including through screening and 
immunisation. 

9.8      Functions of the Data Protection Officer (DPO)

(a) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of personal data processing. The Data 
Protection Officer must be independently involved, properly and in a timely 
manner, in all issues which relate to the protection of personal data and seek to 
ensure compliance with all legislative provisions and council policies. 

(b) Ensuring protection of personal data. The Data Protection Officer, after 
consultation with the Head of Paid Service, may report to the supervisory authority 
any matters that the Data Protection Officer considers puts at risk the protection of 
personal data and data subjects’ rights.

(c) Conducting data protection incident investigations. The Data Protection 
Officer will conduct, or appoint officers or others to conduct, investigations into 
suspected or actual breaches of legislation related to the processing of personal 
data. The Data Protection Officer will independently decide whether an incident will 
be reported to the supervisory authority.

(d) Notification to the supervisory authority. The Data Protection Officer will follow 
all requirements set by the supervisory authority in relation to notification or 
registration with the supervisory authority.

(e) Record of Processing Activity. The Data Protection Officer will keep and 
maintain the Record of Processing Activity for the council and provide such to the 
supervisory authority on request.

(f) Support data subjects. The Data Protection Officer shall be available to data 
subjects with regard to all issues related to the processing of their personal data 
and to the exercise of their rights.

167



Article 9 - Chief Officers
March 2018

(g) Acting in an independent manner. The Data Protection Officer shall perform 
their tasks in an independent manner without receiving instruction from the council 
on how to exercise those tasks. The council must ensure that the Data Protection 
Officer does not perform a task or fulfil a duty where such task or duty would result 
in a conflict of interests.

9.9 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance 
Officer and Data Protection Officer

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Data 
Protection Officer with such offices, accommodation and other resources as are in 
their reasonable opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

9.10 Conduct 

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on 
Member/Officer Relations set out in this Constitution. 

9.11 Employment 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Human 
Resources (HR) Regulations. 

168



 

 
Article 9 - Chief Officers 

March 2018 
 

Article 9 – Chief Officers  
 
 
9.1  Management Structure  

 
(a)  General. The Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it 

considers necessary to carry out its functions. Apart from those officers referred 
to in (b) immediately below, all officers are appointed by the Chief Executive. 

 
(b)  Chief Officers. Members will appoint staff for the following posts, who will be 

designated Chief Officers:  
 
Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 
Deputy Chief Executive 
Assistant Chief Executive 
Strategic Director, Children and Young People 
Strategic Director, Adults, Communities and Health 
Strategic Director, Environment 
Director of Resources (Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer) 

  Director of Public Health 
  
Delegated Authority to Chief Executive and Chief Officers  

(i) Chief Officers (Deputy Chief Executive, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Strategic Directors for Adults, Children and Environment, Director of 
Resources) have the following delegated powers in respect of all matters which 
are not key decisions (as defined in Article 2) and not reserved for decision by 
the Council or by a Committee of the Council: 

 

(a) to make decisions and approve expenditure relating to their 

functions and the functions of their Department, where necessary in 

accordance with (b) and (c) below, and providing (1) that the sum 

expended is within the approved budget for the Department and/or 

relevant portfolio, and (2) the amount in relation to any single matter 

does not exceed £181,302.  

 

(b) to determine employment matters relating to staff including all 

changes to staffing structures. This power will not include changes to 

terms and conditions of employment or additional payments to any 

individual member of staff above £100K. 

 

(c) to approve tender strategies and award contracts in accordance 

with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules within Part 2 of the 

Constitution. 

 

(d) the Chief Executive has all the above delegated authority and as 

may be necessary, determine which Department discharges any 

particular Council function if this is not clear. 

 

169



 

 
Article 9 - Chief Officers 

March 2018 
 

  (ii) These powers may be delegated further under a Scheme of Delegation 

and powers are also delegated to all officers in accordance with their job 

description and department budget. 

 

(iii) Officers should ensure that delegated powers are exercised in 

accordance with relevant Council policies and procedures and all  decisions 

with a value of £50,000 or more made by officers under delegated powers 

should be listed in writing and a copy of the list for each Department produced 

to the Chief Executive and the Leader on the 30th September and 31st March of 

each year. 

 

(iv) The Chief Executive and Chief Officers may exercise voting rights at 

general meetings of companies of which the Council is a member or by written 

resolution and may take any necessary action to protect, safeguard and 

effectively manage the Council’s interest in such companies.  

  

(c) Statutory Officers  
 

The Council will designate the following posts as shown:  
 

Post  Statutory Designation  

Chief Executive  
 

Head of Paid Service  

Chief Legal Advisor 
 

Monitoring Officer  

Director of Resources Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer 

Strategic Director, Children 
and Young People  
 

Director of Children’s Services 

Strategic Director, Adults 
Communities and Health  
 

Director for Adult Social Services 

Director of Public Health Director of Public Health 

Data Protection Officer Data Protection Officer 

 
 
9.2  Functions of Head of Paid Service  

 
(a)  Discharge of functions by the Council. The Head of Paid Service will report 

to full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions 
is co-ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of 
functions and the organisation of officers.  

 
(b)  Restriction of functions. The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring 

Officer or the Data Protection Officer, but may hold the post of Chief Finance 
Officer if a qualified accountant.  
  

170



 

 
Article 9 - Chief Officers 

March 2018 
 

(c)  The Head of Paid Service has authority over all other chief officers so far as is 
necessary for efficient management and for carrying out the Council’s 
functions.  

 
9.3  Functions of the Monitoring Officer  

 
(a)  Maintaining the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 

Head of Governance, will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and 
will ensure that it is available for consultation by Members, staff and the public.  

 
(b)  Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making. After consulting with 

the Head of Paid Service and the Assistant Chief Executive, the Monitoring 
Officer will report to the full council if s/he considers that any proposal, decision 
or omission which is referred by Harrow and Barnet Public Law or which is 
otherwise notified to him/her, would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision 
or omission so referred would give rise to maladministration. Such a report will 
have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the 
report has been considered.  

 
(c) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of council operating procedures. After 

consulting with the Head of Governance and the relevant senior line manager 
the Monitoring Officer will report to the Head of Paid Service and the Assistant 
Chief Executive any council process or procedure which s/he considers would 
give rise to unlawfulness or if any such process or procedure would give rise to 
maladministration.  

 
(d) Managing the relationship with Harrow & Barnet Public Law. As Chief 

Legal Advisor within the council, responsibility to manage the strategic 
relationship with Harrow & Barnet Public Law to ensure the council continues to 
be provided with a legal service which meets its needs and to advise the Head 
of Paid Service and Assistant Chief Executive where any risks are identified.   

 
(e)  Supporting the Constitution, Ethics and Probity Committee. The 

Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high 
standards of conduct through provision of support to the Constitution, Ethics 
and Probity Committee.  

 
(f)  Conducting investigations. The Monitoring Officer will conduct or appoint 

Officers or others to conduct investigations into allegations of breach of the 
Member Code of Conduct. Then s/he or they will make reports and 
recommendations in respect of such allegations in accordance with the 
procedure for handling complaints against Members.  

 
(g)  Providing legal advice. The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the 

scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial 
impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all councillors.  

 
(h) Register of Members Interests. The Monitoring Officer will keep and maintain 

the Register of Members Interests and ensure its availability to the public.  
(i) Restriction of functions. The Monitoring Officer may not hold the post of Data 

Protection Officer. 
  

171



 

 
Article 9 - Chief Officers 

March 2018 
 

 
9.4  Functions of the Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer  

 
(a)  Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-making. After 

consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief 
Finance Officer will report to the full Council and the council’s external auditor if 
he or she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve 
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency or if the council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.  

 
(b)  Estimates and resources. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 

to advise on robustness of estimates and level of resources.  
 
(c)  Administration of financial affairs. The Chief Finance Officer will have 

responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the council.  
 
(d)  Providing financial advice. The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on 

the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all 
councillors and will support and advise councillors and officers in their 
respective roles.  

 
(e)  Give financial information. The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial 

information to the media, members of the public and the community.  
 

 
9.5 Functions of the Director of Children’s Services 

 
(a) The Council as a children’s services authority is required by the Children Act 

2004 to appoint an officer to be known as the Director of Children's Services.  
The Strategic Director, Children and Young People will fulfil the role of the 
Director of Children’s Services. 

 
(b) The Director of Children’s Services is responsible for the delivery of the 

Council’s education and social services functions for children, and any health 
functions for children delegated to the Council by an NHS body and as required 
by the Children Act 2004. 

 
 
9.6 Functions of the Director of Adult Social Services 
 

(a)  The Strategic Director, Adults Communities and Health will fulfil the role of the 
Director for Adult Social Services as required by the Local Authority Health 
Social Services Act 1970, as amended by the Children Act 2004. 

 
(b)  The Strategic Director, Adults Communities and Health is responsible for the 

delivery of the Council’s social services functions, other than those for which 
the Council’s Director of Children’s Services is responsible under the Children 
Act 2004. 

 
9.7 Functions of the Director of Public Health (DPH) 

 

172



 

 
Article 9 - Chief Officers 

March 2018 
 

(a) The DPH is responsible for writing the Annual Report on the health of the local 
population. 

 
(b) The DPH is responsible for all of the local authority’s duties to take steps to 

improve public health. 
 
(c) The DPH is responsible for exercising the local authority’s functions in planning 

for, and responding to, emergencies that present a risk to public health. 
 
(d) The DPH is responsible for exercising the local authority’s role in co-operating 

with the Police, the Probation Service and the Prison Service to assess the 
risks posed by violent or sexual offenders. 

(e) The DPH is responsible for the local authority’s public health response as a 
responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003, such as making 
representations about licensing applications. 

 
(f) The DPH is responsible for exercising the local authority’s duties to ensure 

plans are in place to protect their population including through screening and 
immunisation.  

 
9.8 Functions of the Data Protection Officer (DPO) 
 

(a) Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of personal data processing. The Data 
Protection Officer must be independently involved, properly and in a timely manner, in 
all issues which relate to the protection of personal data and seek to ensure 
compliance with all legislative provisions and council policies.  

 
(b) Ensuring protection of personal data. The Data Protection Officer, after 

consultation with the Head of Paid Service, may report to the supervisory authority any 
matters that the Data Protection Officer considers puts at risk the protection of 
personal data and data subjects’ rights. 

 
(c) Conducting data protection incident investigations. The Data Protection Officer 

will conduct, or appoint officers or others to conduct, investigations into suspected or 
actual breaches of legislation related to the processing of personal data. The Data 
Protection Officer will independently decide whether an incident will be reported to the 
supervisory authority. 

 
(d) Notification to the supervisory authority. The Data Protection Officer will follow all 

requirements set by the supervisory authority in relation to notification or registration 
with the supervisory authority. 

 
(a)(e) Record of Processing Activity. The Data Protection Officer will keep and 

maintain the Record of Processing Activity for the council and provide such to the 
supervisory authority on request. 

 
(b)(f) Support data subjects. The Data Protection Officer shall be available to data 

subjects with regard to all issues related to the processing of their personal data and 
to the exercise of their rights. 
 

173



 

 
Article 9 - Chief Officers 

March 2018 
 

(g) Acting in an independent manner. The Data Protection Officer shall perform their 
tasks in an independent manner without receiving instruction from the council on how 
to exercise those tasks. The council must ensure that the Data Protection Officer does 
not perform a task or fulfil a duty where such task or duty would result in a conflict of 
interests. 

 
 
9.9 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer, and Chief 

Finance Officer and Data Protection Officer 
 
The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer, and Chief Finance Officer and Data 
Protection Officer with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are in 
their reasonable opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed.  

 
9.10  Conduct  

 
Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on 
Member/Officer Relations set out in this Constitution.  

 
9.11  Employment  

 
The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Human 
Resources (HR) Regulations.  
 

174


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	7 Report of the Chief Executive - Results of the Local Government Elections on 3 May 2018
	Appendix 1

	8 Appointment of the Leader
	15 Report of Head of Governance - Appointment of Political Assistants
	16 Report of Constitution Ethics and Probity Committee
	Annex 1- Report to Constitution Ethics and Probity Committee
	Annex 1A - CEP Minutes, 22 March 2018
	Appendix A - Contents of the Constitution
	Appendix B - Financial Regulations
	Appendix C - Financial Regulations (Tracked)
	Appendix D - Contract Procedure Rules
	Appendix E - Contract Procedure Rules (Tracked)
	Appendix F - Members Licencing Code
	Appendix G - Members Licencing Code (Tracked)
	Appendix H - Article 9
	Appendix I - Article 9 (Tracked)


